

CHAPTER 172. DEVELOPMENT REVIEW PROCEDURES	172-1
PART 1. APPLICABILITY	172-1
§ 172.001. DEVELOPMENT ORDER REQUIRED.....	172-1
§ 172.002. BUILDING PERMITS REQUIRED.....	172-1
§ 172.003. APPLICATION FOR BUILDING PERMIT.....	172-1
§ 172.004. CERTIFICATE OF OCCUPANCY REQUIRED.	172-2
§ 172.005. EXPIRATION OF BUILDING PERMITS.....	172-2
§ 172.006. CONSTRUCTION AND USE TO BE AS PROVIDED IN APPLICATIONS, PLANS, PERMITS, CERTIFICATES OF OCCUPANCY.....	172-2
§ 172.007. CODE VIOLATIONS AND PROCESSING OF APPLICATIONS.....	172-3
§ 172.008. ENVIRONMENTAL FEES	172-3
§ 172.009. RESERVED	172-3
PART 2. GENERAL PROCEDURES	172-3
§ 172.010. GENERAL PROVISIONS.....	172-3
§ 172.011. SCHEDULE OF FEES AND CHARGES	172-5
§ 172.012. CITIZEN PARTICIPATION PLANS.....	172-6
§ 172.013. PUBLIC HEARINGS.	172-7
§ 172.014. APPEALS	172-8
§ 172.015. RESERVED	172-10
§ 172.016. RESERVED	172-10
§ 172.017. RESERVED	172-10
§ 172.018. RESERVED	172-10
§ 172.019. RESERVED	172-10
PART 3. APPLICATION TYPES	172-10
§ 172.020. ANNEXATIONS	172-10
§ 172.021. COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENTS	172-10
§ 172.022. ZONING MAP AND LDC AMENDMENTS	172-14
§ 172.023. SITE PLANS.	172-17
§ 172.024. CONDITIONAL USES.....	172-18
§ 172.025. VARIANCES.	172-26
§ 172.026. ADMINISTRATIVE VARIANCES.....	172-29
§ 172.027. MASTER SITE PLAN FOR MIXED-USE DISTRICTS [NEW]	172-32
§ 172.028. RESERVED	172-34

§ 172.029. RESERVED	172-34
PART 4. ZONING MAP AMENDMENT TO PUD	172-34
§ 172.030. PROCEDURE FOR APPROVAL OF A PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN (PDP) AND PUD ZONING.	172-34
§ 172.031. PROCEDURE FOR SECURING APPROVAL OF A FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN (FDP).....	172-41
§ 172.032. PHYSICAL REVIEW.....	172-46
§ 172.033. BUILDING PERMIT.....	172-47
§ 172.034. BONDING.....	172-47
§ 172.035. TERMINATION OR EXPIRATION OF A PDP AND PUD ZONING.	172-47
§ 172.036. ENFORCEMENT.....	172-47
§ 172.037. RESERVED	172-47
§ 172.038. RESERVED	172-47
§ 172.039. RESERVED	172-47
PART 5. ZONING MAP AMENDMENT TO RAC PUD.....	172-48
§ 172.040. PROCESS.	172-48
§ 172.041. RAC-PUD REQUIRED EXHIBITS.....	172-48
§ 172.042. RESERVED	172-54
§ 172.043. RESERVED	172-54
§ 172.044. RESERVED	172-54
§ 172.045. RESERVED	172-54
§ 172.046. RESERVED	172-54
§ 172.047. RESERVED	172-54
§ 172.048. RESERVED	172-54
§ 172.049. RESERVED	172-54
PART 6. SUBDIVISION APPLICATION AND APPROVAL PROCESS.....	172-54
§ 172.050. SUBDIVISIONS AND LOT SPLITS	172-54
§ 172.051. CLASSIFICATION OF SUBDIVISIONS.	172-54
§ 172.052. PRELIMINARY PLAT.	172-55
§ 172.053. FINAL PLAT.....	172-58
§ 172.054. CONSTRUCTION OF PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS.....	172-63
§ 172.055. PERFORMANCE AND MAINTENANCE BONDS.	172-65
§ 172.056. DEFERRAL OR WAIVER OF REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS.	172-67
§ 172.057. PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS ACCEPTANCE AND MAINTENANCE	172-67

§ 172.058. ISSUANCE OF BUILDING PERMIT.	172-72
§ 172.059. SIMPLE LOT SPLIT/ LOT RECONFIGURATION.	172-74
§ 172.060. ENFORCEMENT AND PENALTIES.	172-76
§ 172.061. REPLATTING OF LAND.....	172-77
§ 172.062. RESERVED	172-77
§ 172.063. RESERVED	172-77
§ 172.064. RESERVED	172-77
§ 172.065. RESERVED	172-77
§ 172.066. RESERVED	172-77
§ 172.067. RESERVED	172-77
§ 172.068. RESERVED	172-77
§ 172.069. RESERVED	172-77
PART 7. VACATING PLATS AND RIGHTS-OF-WAY	172-77
§ 172.070. VACATING OF PLAT.....	172-77
§ 172.071. VACATING RIGHT-OF-WAY	172-77
§ 172.072. FEES.....	172-80
§ 172.073. RESERVED	172-81
§ 172.074. RESERVED	172-81
§ 172.075. RESERVED	172-81
§ 172.076. RESERVED	172-81
§ 172.077. RESERVED	172-81
§ 172.078. RESERVED	172-81
§ 172.079. RESERVED	172-81
PART 8. CONCURRENCY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM	172-81
§ 172.080. PURPOSE AND INTENT.....	172-81
§ 172.081. EVALUATION CRITERIA.	172-81
§ 172.082. CONCURRENCY EVALUATION FINDINGS.....	172-83
§ 172.083. CUMULATIVE RECORDS OF LEVEL OF SERVICE.....	172-83
§ 172.084. ADMINISTRATION.....	172-83
§ 172.085. RESERVED	172-83
§ 172.086. RESERVED	172-83
§ 172.087. RESERVED	172-84

§ 172.088. RESERVED172-84

§ 172.089. RESERVED172-84

PART 9. DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENTS172-84

§ 172.090. SHORT TITLE, AUTHORITY, APPLICABILITY.172-84

§ 172.091. PURPOSE AND INTENT.....172-84

§ 172.092. APPLICATION PROCESS.....172-84

§ 172.093. DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.....172-84

CHAPTER 172. DEVELOPMENT REVIEW PROCEDURES

~~ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT~~

PART 1. APPLICABILITY~~GENERAL PROVISIONS~~

§ 172.001. DEVELOPMENT ORDER REQUIRED.

The purpose of requiring a development order is to determine compliance with development standards, ensure the availability of adequate services, and calculate impact fees, when applicable, prior to the issuance of a building permit. The development order shall specify the terms and conditions regulating development. It shall be unlawful to change the use of an existing structure; modify an approved site plan; clear land; construct a building or other structure; store building materials or erect temporary field offices; or to commence the moving, alteration, or repair of any structure, including accessory structures, until a development order has been issued for such activity.

§ 172.002. ~~§ 185.181~~ BUILDING PERMITS REQUIRED.

(A) ~~(A)~~—No building or other structure shall be erected, moved, added to, or structurally altered without a permit ~~therefor~~ issued by the Building Official. No building permit shall be issued except in conformity with the provisions of this chapter, except after written order pursuant to the provisions of §172.025 ~~§ 169.009~~.

(B) ~~(B)~~—The issuance of a permit upon plans and specifications shall not prevent the Building Official from thereafter requiring the correction of errors in such plans and specifications or preventing the building operations being carried on thereunder when in violation of this chapter or any other provision of this code of ordinances or any other city ordinance.

('74 Code, § 25-252) (Ord. 89-08, passed 4-27-89; Am. Ord. 95-44, passed 11-2-95; Am. Ord. 2010-76, passed 11-4-10)

§ 172.003. ~~§ 185.182~~ APPLICATION FOR BUILDING PERMIT.

(A) ~~(A)~~—All applications for building permits for any structure and its accessory buildings shall be accompanied by scale drawings at a scale acceptable to the Building Official in the appropriate number showing the following:

(1) ~~(1)~~—The actual dimensions and shape of the lot or lots to be built upon, including the location and actual boundaries of abutting watercourses and water bodies.

(2) ~~(2)~~—The exact sizes and locations on the lot of buildings already existing, if any.

(3) ~~(3)~~—The locations and dimensions of the proposed buildings or alterations.

(4) ~~(4)~~—The location and layout of the proposed sewage disposal system.

(5) ~~(5)~~—When applicable, the required parking spaces, loading and unloading spaces, maneuvering spaces and openings for ingress and egress.

(6) ~~(6)~~—When applicable, grading and drainage plans showing any and all cuts, fills and provisions for adequately carrying off surface water on premises plus provisions for any surface water which would

naturally flow over or through the area. Such plans shall be reviewed and approved by the Land Development Review Engineer.

~~(7) (7)~~—Such other information as lawfully may be required by the Building Official, including existing or proposed building or alteration; existing or proposed uses of the building and land; the number of families, housekeeping units, or rental units the building is designed to accommodate; conditions existing on the lot; and such other matters as may be necessary to determine conformance with, and provide for the enforcement of this chapter.

~~(B) (B)~~—One (1) copy of the plans shall be returned to the applicant by the Building Official after he shall have marked such copy either as approved or disapproved and attested same by his signature on such copy. The original, similarly marked, shall be retained by the Building Official.

('74 Code, § 25-253) (Ord. 89-08, passed 4-27-89; Am. Ord. 2016-17, passed 4-21-16)

§ 172.004. ~~§ 185.183~~ CERTIFICATE OF OCCUPANCY REQUIRED.

No land or building, or part thereof, hereafter erected or altered in its use or structure shall be used until the Building Official shall have issued a certificate of occupancy stating that such land, building, or part thereof, and the proposed use thereof are found to be in conformity with the provisions of this chapter. Within three (3) days after notification that a building or premises, or part thereof, is ready for occupancy or use, it shall be the duty of the Building Official to make a final inspection thereof and to issue a certificate of occupancy if the land, building or part thereof and the proposed use thereof are found to conform with the provisions of this chapter, or, if such certificate is refused, to state such refusal in writing with the cause.

('74 Code, § 25-254) (Ord. 89-08, passed 4-27-89)

§ 172.005. ~~§ 185.184~~ EXPIRATION OF BUILDING PERMITS.

~~(A) (A)~~—Expiration and extension. A permit for work shall be deemed to be abandoned six (6) months from the date the permit was issued, and the permit shall become void unless satisfactory progress is made. Satisfactory progress shall be evidenced by a requested inspection. One (1) or more ninety (90) day extensions of a permit may be allowed provided the extension is requested in writing. If granted, such extensions shall be in writing by the Building Official. An inspection must be requested within the ninety (90) day extension period, or the permit shall expire.

~~(B) (B)~~—Required inspections. If the work described in any permit, issued by the Building Official has begun, all required inspections shall be requested. If the work described in a permit has commenced, but the stage of the work does not require an inspection, an inspection shall nonetheless be required and requested by the party to whom the permit was issued, to determine satisfactory progress or an additional permit extension shall be required at least six (6) months.

('74 Code, § 25-255) (Ord. 89-08, passed 4-27-89; Am. Ord. 97-02, passed 2-20-97)

§ 172.006. ~~§ 185.185~~ CONSTRUCTION AND USE TO BE AS PROVIDED IN APPLICATIONS, PLANS, PERMITS, CERTIFICATES OF OCCUPANCY.

Building permits or certificates of occupancy issued on the basis of plans and applications approved by the Building Official authorize only the use, arrangement and construction. Use, arrangement or construction at variance with the authorized, shall be deemed a violation of this chapter.

('74 Code, § 25-256) (Ord. 89-08, passed 4-27-89)

§ 172.007. ~~§ 169.007~~ CODE VIOLATIONS AND PROCESSING OF APPLICATIONS.

~~(A) No A~~ applications for development approval ~~rezoning, conditional use, comprehensive plan amendments, preliminary subdivisions, final subdivisions, preliminary planned unit developments, final planned unit developments, preliminary planned community redevelopments, and final planned community redevelopments,~~ shall ~~not~~ be processed or scheduled for hearings if properties involved in the applications have outstanding code violations as determined by the Code Compliance Division Enforcement Board.

~~(B) Exceptions to the requirement in division (A) of this section~~ shall be made for applications directly necessary to correct a violation. Such determination shall be made by the Growth Management Director City Manager or designee.

(Ord. 2006-61, passed 6-15-06)

§ 172.008. ENVIRONMENTAL FEES

~~§ 172.01 TITLE.~~

~~This subchapter shall be known and may be cited as "The City of Palm Bay Environmental Fee Ordinance".~~

~~(Ord. 2007-42, passed 5-24-07)~~

~~§ 172.02 ESTABLISHMENT OF FEE.~~

Upon issuance of a city-wide Incidental Take Permit and approval of a city-wide Habitat Conservation Plan by the United States Fish and Wildlife Service, a minimum fee, as established by City Council by resolution will be affixed to each building permit issued by the Palm Bay Building Division for any new structure on previously unimproved land.

(Ord. 2007-42, passed 5-24-06; Am. Ord. 2013-54, passed 10-3-13)

~~§ 172.03 USE OF FUNDS.~~

(A) ~~(A)~~ *Establishment of Environmental Fee Fund account.* There is hereby established the Environmental Fee Fund account for the purpose of insuring that the fees collected pursuant to this chapter are utilized solely and specifically to comply with the Habitat Conservation Plan, Incidental Take Permit issued by the United States Fish and Wildlife Service and related activities adopted by the City of Palm Bay.

(B) ~~(B)~~ *Expenditure of fees.* Monies in the Environmental Fee Fund account may be utilized to fulfill commitments and pay all legal fees and administrative costs related to and set forth in the Habitat Conservation Plan ~~and~~/or any permit issued by the United States Fish and Wildlife Service.

(Ord. 2007-42, passed 5-24-07)

§ 172.009. RESERVED

PART 2. GENERAL PROCEDURES

§ 172.010. GENERAL PROVISIONS

(A) *Level of review required.* [Table 172-1](#) lists the development permits required by this chapter together with the review and approval authority.

Table 172 - 1. Development Order Review Authorities.

<u>Application Type</u>	<u>See Section</u>	<u>Approval Type</u>	<u>Pre-Application Meeting</u>	<u>Growth Management</u>	<u>Planning & Zoning Board</u>	<u>City Council</u>
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN/LDC/ZONING MAP AMENDMENTS:						
Annexation	172.020	Q	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map Amendment	172.021	L	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
LDC text amendments	172.022	L	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Zoning map amendment (City initiated - areawide)	172.022	Q	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Zoning map amendment (site specific, PUD)	Part 4	Q	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
SITE PLANS:						
Site Plan	172.023	A	Yes	Yes	No	No
PUD Preliminary Development Plan (processed in conjunction with PUD rezoning)	172.030	Q	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
PUD Final Development Plan (processed in conjunction with the preliminary plat)	172.031	Q	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
SUBDIVISIONS:						
Preliminary Plat	172.052	Q	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Construction Plans	172.054	A	No	Yes	No	No
Final Plat	172.053	Q	No	Yes	No	Yes
Vacation of Rights-of-way/Plats	Part 7	L	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Site Work Permit	172.054	A	No	Yes	No	No
OTHER APPLICATIONS:						
Conditional Use	172.024	Q	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Development Agreement	Part 9	Q	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Variance	172.025	Q	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Administrative Variance	172.026	A	Yes	Yes	No	No
Floodplain Variance	179.007	Q	Yes	Yes	No	Yes

Legend: A = Administrative; L = Legislative; Q = Quasi-judicial

(B) *Pre-application meeting.* Whenever a pre-application meeting is required per [Table 172-1](#), the applicant shall request such meeting with staff prior to filing an application. The pre-application meeting is an informal meeting to discuss the development review process requirements. During the pre-application meeting, the applicant is required to share preliminary plans and data to show existing conditions of the site and its vicinity and the proposed layout. Comments made by staff at a pre-application meeting are

made solely for preliminary informational purposes and shall not be construed as an approval or denial or agreement to approve or deny any development order. Failure of staff to identify any required permits, procedures or standards at a pre-application conference shall not relieve the applicant of any such requirements nor constitute a waiver of the requirement by the decision-making body. The City Manager or designee may waive a pre-application meeting based on the specific circumstances to a case.

(C) Application submittal.

(1) Application forms and requirements.

- (a) The City shall maintain application forms and submittal requirements for all development applications referenced in this chapter.
- (b) Applicants for projects requiring more than one type of review (e.g., conditional use and site plan) may submit concurrent applications if determined appropriate by the City Manager or designee.
- (c) Application fees are established by Resolution by the City Council.

(2) Completeness review of application. When an application for development approval is submitted, the City Manager or designee shall make a determination as to whether the application is complete.

(D) Staff review.

- (1) After an application is determined to be complete, City staff reviews the application for compliance with the Land Development Code, comprehensive plan, Palm Bay Utilities Department (PBUD) Policies, Procedures & Standards Handbook, and any other regulatory requirements, if applicable.
- (2) City staff shall issue a report listing the requirements that need to be addressed. Staff reserves the right to require additional reviews based on the level of plan changes requested.
- (3) Upon completion of the review, or a request from the applicant to proceed notwithstanding insufficiencies, the City Manager or designee shall prepare a report and recommendation to the appropriate decision-making or recommending body and schedule a hearing, if applicable, or notify the applicant in writing of the approval.

§ 172.011. ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT: PART 3. SCHEDULE OF FEES AND CHARGES

~~— § 185.215 Established.~~

~~— (A) Fees shall be as established by resolution pursuant to § 169.004.~~

~~(A) (B) In the event an applicant causes any cancellation, continuance, delay, postponement, rescheduling, withdrawal or reapplication of any rezoning, conditional use, variance or appeal of administrative decision, additional fees for costs shall be imposed against the applicant as established by resolution pursuant to § 169.004. The City Council may from time to time, by Resolution, establish fees to be applicable to all regulatory activities authorized by this Title.~~

('74 Code, § 25-321) (Ord. 89-08, passed 4-27-89; Am. Ord. 95-46, passed 10-19-95; Am. Ord. 2003-46, passed 11-20-03; Am. Ord. 2006-10, passed 2-2-06)

~~— § 169.004 Fee schedule.~~

~~Fees and other charges for Land Development Code applications, administration, reviews, and other related purposes shall be established by City Council by resolution. Such fees or charges, and their adoption by City Council, shall be considered administrative in nature and shall not be considered a part of the Land Development Code nor a Land Development Regulation.~~

~~(Ord. 2005-68, passed 11-3-05; Am. Ord. 2006-44, passed 5-16-06)~~

~~§ 185.216 Payment; refunds or rebates.~~

(B) No permit certificate shall be issued and no inspection, public notice, or other action relative to zoning, petitions for changes in zoning, or appeals, shall be instituted until after such fees, costs and charges have been paid. When in accordance with the provisions of this section, a fee is paid and application is filed, there shall be no return or rebate of any funds so received, regardless of the city's determination in the matter involved. All fees, costs and charges shall be, upon collection, deposited in the general fund of the city.

('74 Code, § 25-322) (Ord. 89-08, passed 4-27-89)

§ 172.012. ~~§ 169.005~~ **CITIZEN PARTICIPATION PLANS.**

(A) ~~(A)~~ *Purpose.* The purpose of the citizen participation plan is to:

- (1) ~~(1)~~ Ensure that applicants pursue early and effective citizen participation in conjunction with their applications, giving them the opportunity to understand and try to mitigate any real or perceived impacts their application may have on the community.
- (2) ~~(2)~~ Ensure that citizens have an adequate opportunity to learn about applications that may affect them and to work with applicants to resolve concerns at an early stage of the review and decision-making process.
- (3) ~~(3)~~ Facilitate ongoing communication between the applicant, interested citizens, city staff, appointed and elected officials throughout the applicant review process.
- (4) ~~(4)~~ The citizen participation plan is not intended to produce complete consensus on all applications, but to encourage applicants to be good neighbors and to allow for informed decision-making.

(B) ~~(B)~~ *Applicability.*

- (1) ~~(1)~~ Every application for development which requires a public hearing, unless specifically exempted by this subchapter, shall include a citizen participation plan and a citizen participation report that must be implemented prior to an application being deemed sufficient for staff review and scheduling of public hearings.
- (2) ~~(2)~~ When in compliance with all other city ordinances and regulations, the following projects are exempted from the other provisions of this section.
 - (a) ~~(a)~~ Construction of one single-family detached dwelling.
 - (b) ~~(b)~~ Construction of ten (10) or less multi-family dwelling units, regardless of density.
 - (c) ~~(c)~~ Amendments to an approved Planned Unit Development (PUD) ~~that are~~ exempt per §-172.030 185.066(C)(2).

(C) ~~(C)~~ *Meeting notice and plan contents.*

- (1) ~~(1)~~ At a minimum, the applicant shall host at least one citizen participation ~~plan~~ meeting that shall be held within city limits and may be accompanied by a virtual meeting link.
- (2) ~~(2)~~ The citizen participation plan shall include the following information:
 - (a) ~~(a)~~ A copy of the notice containing the date, time and location of the meeting that was mailed to all residents, property owners, interested parties, political jurisdictions and public agencies that may be affected by the application within five hundred (500) feet of the subject property and a copy of the mailing list. These requirements apply in addition to any notice provisions required elsewhere in the Land Development ~~Regulations~~ Code. Citizen participation plan meeting dates may not overlap with any City of Palm Bay Council meetings or Planning and Zoning Board meetings.
 - (b) ~~(b)~~ A brief statement introducing the request, identifying the location of the subject parcel(s), the total acreage, its current use, its current future land use designation, its current zoning designation and identifying whether it is improved or unimproved.
- (3) ~~(3)~~ During the citizen participation plan meeting, the applicant shall provide an overview of the request describing the potential impact the proposed request may have on the surrounding properties.
- (4) ~~(4)~~ ~~e~~ Citizen participation plan meetings must be held within ninety (90) days of official submittal of a complete application to the City of Palm Bay.

(D) ~~(D)~~ *Citizen participation report.*

- (1) ~~(1)~~ When a citizen participation plan is required, the applicant shall provide a written report, on a city prescribed form, documenting the results of the citizen participation plan meeting. This report shall be required as part of the complete application submittal package filed with the ~~Growth Management Department~~ City.
- (2) ~~(2)~~ The citizen participation report shall include a copy of any meeting notice(s) and any attachments or accompanying materials included with the notice.
- (3) ~~(3)~~ The report shall identify the number of attendees, include a copy of the sign-in sheet, any materials distributed or presented at the meeting and summarize the substance of concerns, issues and problems expressed during the meeting.
- (4) ~~(4)~~ The report shall describe how the applicant has addressed, or intends to address the concerns, issues and problems expressed during the process.
- (5) ~~(5)~~ The report shall identify which concerns, issues and problems the applicant is unwilling or unable to address, if any, and shall state the applicant's justification.

(Ord. 2006-45, passed 5-16-06; Am. Ord. 2014-48, passed 10-14-14; Am. Ord. 2016-12, passed 3-17-16; Am. Ord. 2022-84, passed 8-18-22; Am. Ord. 2023-06, passed 2-16-23)

§ 172.013. PUBLIC HEARINGS.

The applicable reviewing authority listed in **Table 172-1** shall conduct the public hearing in accordance with the hearing requirements noted in this section and the city standard operating procedures for public hearings. At the hearing, the authority shall approve, approve with conditions, continue, or deny the application.

(A) Notice of public hearings. All meetings of the City Council and Planning & Zoning Board shall be noticed and advertised in accordance with the Florida Statutes, the city advertising standard operating procedures, and the rules of order of the City Council.

(B) Approval subject to conditions. When approving a development permit application, the approving body may attach such conditions to the approval as deemed necessary to assure compliance with this Code. Such conditions may address matters including, but not limited to limitations on size, bulk, and location; duration of construction period; requirements for landscaping, signage, outdoor lighting and the provision of adequate ingress and egress; duration of the approval; design and appearance; hours of operation; and the mitigation of traffic and environmental impacts.

§ 172.014. APPEALS

~~—§ 169.006 Appeals of Administrative appeals decisions.~~

(A) (A) Administrative review. ~~The City Council shall~~ To hear and decide appeals where it is alleged there is error in any order, requirement, decision, or determination made by the City Manager or designee ~~Growth Management Director~~ in the enforcement of the city's land development regulations.

(1) (B) Hearings; appeals; notice. ~~Appeals to City Council may be taken by any person aggrieved by any decision of the Growth Management Director in the interpretation of any portion of these regulations.~~ Such appeal shall be taken within a reasonable time not to exceed sixty (60) days, by filing with the city a notice of appeal specifying the grounds thereof. The ~~Growth Management Director~~ City Manager or designee shall forthwith transmit to the City Clerk all papers constituting the record upon which the action appealed from was taken. The City Council shall hear the appeal at a regularly scheduled or special City Council meeting within thirty (30) days and give public notice thereof at least fifteen (15) days in advance of public hearing as well as due notice to the parties in interest, and decide the same within a reasonable time. At the hearing any party may appear in person or by agent or attorney.

(2) (C) Stay of proceedings. An appeal stays all proceedings in furtherance of the action appealed from, unless the ~~Growth Management Director~~ City Manager or designee from whom the appeal is taken certifies to the City Council, ~~through the City Manager,~~ after the notice of appeal is filed with the City Clerk, that by reason of facts stated in the certificate, a stay would, in his or her opinion, cause imminent peril to life and property. In such case proceedings shall not be stayed other than by a restraining order which may be granted by a court of competent jurisdiction.

(3) (D) In exercising any of the powers listed in this section, the City Council may, so long as the action is in conformity with the terms of the city's land development regulations, reverse or affirm wholly or partly, or may modify the order, requirement, decision or determination appealed from and may make such order, requirement, decision or determination as should be made and, to that end, shall have all of the powers of the ~~Growth Management Director~~ City Manager of designee whose action is being appealed.

(Ord. 2006-46, passed 5-16-06)

(B) Appeals of Quasi-Judicial Decisions. Any final action, including final order, issued by the approving authority may be appealed pursuant to the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

~~CHAPTER 187: ADMINISTRATIVE MORATORIA~~

~~§ 187.01 Comprehensive Plan amendment moratoria:~~

~~(A) Whenever the Planning and Zoning Board votes to recommend in favor of any proposed amendment to the city's Comprehensive Plan, the City Manager shall issue an administrative order setting forth the proposed amendment and establishing a moratorium during which any city employee, board or department will be prohibited from granting an approval or permit that would be prohibited in the event that the proposed amendment recommended for approval by the Planning and Zoning Board is subsequently enacted by the City Council.~~

~~(B) Any administrative order issued pursuant to division (A) above shall be complied with by all city employees, boards and departments and shall be effective until the proposed amendment is enacted or rejected by the City Council. However, in the event that the City Council fails to:~~

~~(1) Adopt a small scale amendment; or~~

~~(2) Transmit a proposed amendment pursuant to state law; or~~

~~(3) Reject an amendment within ninety (90) days after a favorable recommendation by the Planning and Zoning Board; or~~

~~(4) Enact or reject an amendment within one hundred twenty (120) days after receiving comments on the proposed amendment pursuant to state law; any administrative order shall be deemed expired and shall be without further effect.~~

~~(C) Notwithstanding divisions (A) and (B) above, excepted from any administrative order is any project that has a validly issued building permit, variance approval, or has a completed application meeting all submission requirements submitted for City approval, variance approval, or building permit approval prior to a vote by the Planning and Zoning Board in favor of a proposed amendment.~~

~~(Ord. 2003-49, passed 11-20-03)~~

~~§ 187.02 Land Development Code.~~

~~(A) Whenever the Planning and Zoning Board votes to recommend in favor of any proposed amendment to the city's Land Development Code, the City Manager shall issue an administrative order setting forth the proposed amendment and establishing a moratorium during which any city employee, board, or department will be prohibited from granting a development order or development permit for any development, as defined in Chapter 163.3164, Florida Statutes, that would be prohibited, with or without variances, in the event that the proposed amendment recommended for approval by the Planning and Zoning Board is subsequently enacted by the City Council.~~

~~(B) Any administrative order issued pursuant to division (A) above shall be complied with by all city employees, boards and departments and shall be effective until the proposed amendment is enacted or rejected by the City Council. However, in the event that the City Council fails to enact or reject an amendment within ninety (90) days after a favorable recommendation by the Planning and Zoning Board any administrative order shall be deemed expired and shall be without further effect.~~

~~—(C) Notwithstanding divisions (A) and (B) above, excepted from any administrative order is any project that has a validly issued building permit, variance approval, or has a completed application meeting all submission requirements submitted for city approval, variance approval, or building permit approval prior to a vote by the Planning and Zoning Board in favor of a proposed amendment.~~

~~—(Ord. 2003-49, passed 11-20-03)~~

§ 172.015. RESERVED

§ 172.016. RESERVED

§ 172.017. RESERVED

§ 172.018. RESERVED

§ 172.019. RESERVED

PART 3. APPLICATION TYPES

§ 172.020. ANNEXATIONS

See Ch. 171, F.S., for annexation definition and procedures.

§ 172.021. ~~CHAPTER 183: COMPREHENSIVE PLAN REGULATIONS~~ AMENDMENTS

(A) Purpose. The Comprehensive Plan (Goals, Objectives and Policies, and Map Series) may be amended from time to time in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Florida Statutes and this section.

(B) Review Procedures. Comprehensive plan amendments may be initiated by a property owner or the City. The following procedures shall apply:

(1) Pre-application Meeting. The applicant is required to schedule and attend a pre-application meeting as provided for in §172.010.

(2) Application submittal. Applications shall be filed as prescribed in §172.010.

(3) Planning and Zoning Board Review. The Planning and Zoning Board shall review the proposed application at a public hearing. After consideration of the petition, the Board shall transmit its recommendation to the City Council.

(4) City Council Review. The City Council shall consider the application at one (1) public hearing for small-scale comprehensive plan amendments as required by §163.3187, F.S., or two (2) hearings (transmittal/first reading and adoption) for expedited comprehensive plan amendments per §163.3184(3), F.S.

(C) Review Criteria for Future Land Use Map and Comprehensive Plan Text Amendments. In reviewing proposed changes to the future land use map, the reviewing authorities shall consider the following criteria:

~~—(1) Future Land Use Map Amendment Factors of Analysis:~~

- (1) (a) Whether the proposed amendment will have a favorable or unfavorable effect on the city's budget, or the economy of the city;
- (2) (b) Whether the proposed amendment will adversely affect the level of service of public facilities;
- (3) (c) Whether the proposed amendment will adversely affect the environment or the natural or historical resources of the city or the region as a result of the proposed amendment;
- (4) (d) Whether the amendment will have a favorable or adverse effect on the ability of people to find adequate housing reasonably accessible to their places of employment;
- (5) (e) Whether the proposed amendment will promote or adversely impact the public health, safety, welfare, or aesthetics of the region or the city;
- (6) (f) Whether the requested amendment is consistent with all elements of the Comprehensive Plan and established Levels of Service.
- (7) (g) Whether the request maximizes compatibility (consistent with the definition found in [§ Florida Statutes 163.31649, F.S.](#)) between uses;
- (8) (h) Whether the request provides for a transition between areas of different character, density or intensity;
- (9) (i) Whether the request relocates higher density and intensity uses in areas which already feature adequate vehicular access and access to public facilities; and
- (10) (j) Whether the request considers land use equity in accordance with Policy FLU – 1.12A of the Comprehensive Plan.

GENERAL PROVISIONS

~~§ 183.01 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN.~~

~~(A) Authority. This section is adopted pursuant to Fla. Const. Art. VIII, § 2,; Fla. Stat. Ch. 163 [being the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act] and Fla. Stat. Ch. 166; and Fla. Laws Ch. 63-2001, Special Acts of 1963.~~

~~(B) Purpose and intent. The city declares that the purpose and intent of this section is to provide for the city a plan which will guide future growth and development; encourage the most appropriate use of land, water and other resources consistent with the public interest, preserve, promote and protect the public health, safety, comfort, good order, appearance, convenience, and general welfare; preserve the residential or historical character of neighborhoods, prevent the overcrowding of land, avoid undue concentration of population; provide adequate and energy efficient transportation, water, sewage, drainage, fire protection, law enforcement, schools, parks, recreation facilities, housing and other services, facilities and resources; enhance the aesthetic appeal of the community; promote the residential, business, and industrial needs of the community; and conserve and protect natural resources within the city, while protecting private property rights. By the adoption of this plan, the city will encourage and actively pursue coordination and cooperation between the planning and development activities of the city, other local governments, regional agencies, state government, and private property owners. The adoption of this section reserves the city's right to balance the needs of tide community.~~

~~(C) Adoption.~~

~~(1) The city adopts, by reference, the comprehensive plan and the goals, objectives and policies of each element:~~

~~(a) Future land use element;~~

~~(b) Recreation and open space element;~~

~~(c) Coastal management element;~~

~~(d) Conservation element;~~

~~(e) Housing element;~~

~~(f) Infrastructure element, consisting of sanitary sewer, solid waste, drainage, potable water and natural ground water aquifer recharge sub-elements;~~

~~(g) Intergovernmental coordination element;~~

~~(h) Capital improvements elements;~~

~~(i) Transportation element consisting of traffic circulation and sub-elements; and~~

~~(j) Mass transit;~~

~~(k) Ports, aviation and related facilities, and CIE schedule of capital improvements.~~

~~(2) Copies of the elements set forth in division (1) above are incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit A, which is attached to Ordinance 88-28, as amended by Exhibits A and B of Ordinance 90-20.~~

~~(D) Adoption of future land use map. The city adopts, by reference, the future land use map as part of the comprehensive plan of the city. A copy of the map, as may be amended from time to time, is incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit B, which is attached to Ordinance 88-28 as amended by Exhibit C of Ordinance 90-20.~~

~~(E) Adoption of future traffic circulation map. The city adopts, by reference, the future traffic circulation map as part of the comprehensive plan of the city. A copy of this map is incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit C, which is attached to Ordinance 88-28 as amended by Exhibit D of Ordinance 90-20. The future traffic circulation map shall serve as an official guide for future development within the city.~~

~~(F) Adoption of procedure for monitoring. The city adopts, by reference, the procedure for monitoring and evaluation of the comprehensive plan, which is incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit D and which is attached to Ordinance 88-28.~~

~~(G) Construction. The comprehensive plan and its elements shall be constructed by the city and its officials to accomplish the purpose and intent of this section. In the event various elements of the plan may appear to be in conflict, then in that event, the city and its officials shall resolve such conflict consistent with the purpose of this section. Any decision by the city or its officials construing various elements of the comprehensive plan shall be presumed to be fairly debatable. The city expressly reserves its legislative function to implement this comprehensive plan and to construe its various elements.~~

~~(H) Interpretation of land use boundaries. Where uncertainty exists with respect to the boundaries of any of the land use districts as shown on the future land use map, the following rules shall apply: [\[SEE CHAPTER 173 – COMBINED WITH ZONING BOUNDARY INTERPRETATIONS\]](#)~~

~~(1) Where boundaries approximately follow streets, alleys, or highways. Where district boundaries are indicated as approximately following the centerline or street line of streets, the centerline or alley line of alleys, or the centerline or right-of-way line of highways such lines shall be construed to be such district boundaries.~~

~~(2) Where boundaries parallel street lines, alley lines or highway right-of-way lines. Where district boundaries are so indicated that they are approximately parallel to the centerlines or street lines of streets, the center lines or alley lines of alleys, or the centerlines or right-of-way lines of highways, such district boundaries shall be construed as being parallel thereto and at such distance therefrom as indicated on the zoning map. If no distance is given, such dimension shall be determined by the use of the scale shown on the future land use map.~~

~~(3) Where boundaries approximately follow lot lines. Where district boundaries are indicated as approximately following lot lines, such lot lines shall be construed to be such boundaries.~~

~~(4) Where the boundary follows a railroad line. Where the boundary of a district follows a railroad line, such boundary shall be deemed to be located midway between the main tracks of the railroad lines.~~

~~(5) Where the boundary follows a body of water. Where the boundary of a district follows a stream, lake or other body of water such boundary line shall be construed to be the limit of the jurisdiction of the city, unless otherwise indicated.~~

~~(6) Submerged areas not included in district. All areas within the corporate limits of the city which are under water and are not shown as included within any district shall be subject to all of the regulations of the district which immediately adjoins the water area. If the water area adjoins one (1) or more districts the boundaries of each district shall be construed to extend into the water area in a straight line until they meet the other district.~~

~~(7) Where property has not been included in district. In every case where property has not been specifically included within a district, or where territory has become a part of the city by annexation, the same shall automatically be classed as lying and being in the single-family land use district until such classifications shall have been changed by an amendment to the future land use map as provided by law.~~

~~(8) Vacation of public ways. Whenever any street, alley, or other public way is vacated in the manner authorized by law, the land use district adjoining each side of such street, alley, or public way shall be automatically extended to the center of such vacation and all area included in the vacation shall then henceforth be subject to all regulations of the extended districts.~~

~~(9) Where district boundaries are indicated as following platted lot lines, such lot lines shall be construed to be the district boundaries.~~

~~(10) Where district boundaries are indicated by specific dimensions, such specific dimensions shall control.~~

~~(11) Where district boundaries divide platted lots or cross unsubdivided property, and where no specific dimensions are indicated on the future land use map, the scale of the future land use map shall control.~~

~~(12) Where the street or property layout or other physical features existing on the ground are at variance with the future land use map, or where other uncertainties exist as to interpretation of the future land use map, the Planning Director shall interpret the map to fix the exact location of land use boundaries.~~

~~(1) (1) All development undertaken after the effective date of this section shall be consistent with such plan, elements, and maps except as provided herein.~~

~~(2) The Planning Director shall be the caretaker of and responsible for recording all changes to the district boundaries on the future land use map promptly after any amendment has been approved by the City Council.~~

[J] VESTED RIGHTS MOVED TO CHAPTER 173

~~('74 Code, § 18½-1) (Ord. 88-28, passed 10-6-88; Am. Ord. 90-20, passed 6-28-90)~~

§ 172.022. PART 2. ZONING MAP AND LDC AMENDMENTS

~~§ 185.200 REGULATIONS SUBJECT TO AMENDMENT.~~

(A) Purpose. The regulations, restrictions and zoning district boundaries set forth in this chapter may, from time to time, be amended, supplemented, changed, or repealed, in the manner prescribed by law.

~~('74 Code, § 25-291) (Ord. 89-08, passed 4-27-89)~~

(B) § 185.201 Procedure Application.

~~—The procedure for amendment of this chapter shall be as follows:~~

(1) (A) A zoning district boundary map amendment may be initiated by:

- (a) (1)—The owner or owners of at least seventy-five percent (75%) of the property described in the application;
- (b) (2)—Tenant or tenants, with owner's sworn-to consent;
- (c) (3)—Duly authorized agents evidenced by a written power of attorney;
- (d) (4)—City Council;
- (e) (5)—Planning and Zoning Board;
- (f) (6)—Any department or agency of the city.

(2) (B) Any text amendment to this chapter Land Development Code ~~other than a district boundary change~~ may be proposed by:

- (a) (1)—City Council;
- (b) (2)—Planning and Zoning Board;
- (c) (3)—Any department or agency of the city;
- (d) (4) Any individual, corporation or agency.

(C) Public notice.

(1) (D)—When a change of zoning classification of a single parcel is proposed, or a group of not more than five hundred (500) parcels, of any property within the city, a notice shall be mailed to each property owner whose zoning classification is proposed to be changed, using owner's current address of record,

as maintained by the Tax Assessor, and be postmarked not later than ten (10) days prior to the scheduled hearing. Prior to the effective date of any zoning classification change, the City Council shall cause an affidavit to be filed with the City Clerk certifying its compliance with the provisions of this section. A failure to give notice shall not affect the validity of zoning except as to the property of the complaining owner.

~~(2) (E)~~—When any proposed change of a zoning district boundary lies within five hundred (500) feet of the boundary of an incorporated or unincorporated area, notice shall be forwarded to the Planning Board or governing body of such incorporated or unincorporated areas in order to give such body an opportunity to appear at the hearing and express its opinion on the effect of the district boundary change.

(D) Review Procedures.

(1) Pre-application meeting. The applicant is required to schedule and attend a pre-application meeting as provided for in §172.010.

(2) Application submittal. Applications shall be filed as prescribed in §172.010.

~~(3) (C)—Planning and Zoning Board.~~ All proposed amendments shall be submitted to the Planning and Zoning Board reviews the application at a public hearing and makes a recommendation based on the review criteria stated below, which shall analyze the factors of analysis applicable to the proposed amendment prior to making a recommendation to City Council:

(4) City Council Review. The City Council reviews the application at a public hearing and makes a decision based on the review standards below.

(E) Review Criteria for Zoning Map and LDC Text Amendments. In reviewing proposed changes to the zoning map or LDC, the reviewing authorities shall consider the following factors:

~~(1) (1) Future Land Use Map Amendment Factors of Analysis:~~

~~(1) (a) Whether the proposed amendment will have a favorable or unfavorable effect on the city's budget, or the economy of the city;~~

~~(1) (b) Whether the proposed amendment will adversely affect the level of service of public facilities;~~

~~(1) (c) Whether the proposed amendment will adversely affect the environment or the natural or historical resources of the city or the region as a result of the proposed amendment;~~

~~(1) (d) Whether the amendment will have a favorable or adverse effect on the ability of people to find adequate housing reasonably accessible to their places of employment;~~

~~(1) (e) Whether the proposed amendment will promote or adversely impact the public health, safety, welfare, or aesthetics of the region or the city;~~

~~(1) (f) Whether the requested amendment is consistent with all elements of the Comprehensive Plan and established Levels of Service;~~

~~(1) (g) Whether the request maximizes compatibility (consistent with the definition found in Florida Statutes 163.31649) between uses;~~

~~(1) (h) Whether the request provides for a transition between areas of different character, density or intensity;~~

~~(1) (i) Whether the request relocates higher density and intensity uses in areas which already feature adequate vehicular access and access to public facilities; and~~

~~(1) (j) Whether the request considers land use equity in accordance with Policy FLU 1.12A of the Comprehensive Plan.~~

~~(1) (2)~~ Zoning Map Amendment Factors of Analysis:

~~(a) (a)~~ The applicant's need and justification for the change and whether it aligns with the community's current or future needs;

~~(b) (b)~~ The effect of the change, if any, on a particular property and surrounding properties;

~~(c) (c)~~ The amount of existing undeveloped land in the general area of the city having the same classification as that requested;

~~(d) (d)~~ Whether the proposed amendment furthers the purpose of the city's Comprehensive Plan, or other strategic plans applicable to the proposed development and the provisions in the Land Development Code;

~~(e) (e)~~ Whether the requested district is substantially different from that of the surrounding area; and

~~(f) (f)~~ Whether the request provides for a transition between areas of different character, density or intensity.

(2) When considering rezones to higher density districts, the following criteria shall also be considered:

(a) Existing or planned alternative transportation infrastructure such as bike lanes, trails, transit, and sidewalks in the neighboring area to the site; and

(b) The availability of nonresidential uses which can help meet the daily needs of residents for goods, services, and employment.

(3) When considering applications to rezone sites to commercial districts, the City should consider directing commercial activities to develop at nodes, rather than along roadway corridors.

(4) Applications to rezone to Neighborhood Commercial (NC) should consider the lack of neighborhood scale services available to the surrounding community, especially grocery stores offering fresh foods;

(5) Applications to rezone property to non-industrial districts should not encroach into areas designated for industrial use on the Future Land Use Map;

(6) Location within a prime water recharge area and the potential impact of the allowable uses in the district.

~~(F) The Planning and Zoning Board shall submit the request for change or amendment to the City Council with written reasons for its recommendation.~~

~~(G) The City Council shall hold public hearings on the recommendation of the Planning and Zoning Board, giving public notice as required by the state statutes and by posting notice in city hall.~~

~~('74 Code, § 25-292) (Ord. 89-08, passed 4-27-89; Am. Ord. 95-45, passed 10-19-95; Am. Ord. 2016-17, passed 4-21-16)~~

~~§ 185.203 MODIFICATION OF DISTRICT BOUNDARY CHANGES.~~

If a request for a district boundary change is for a district more liberal than the existing district, and the Planning and Zoning Board or the City Council determines that the request should be denied, the Planning and Zoning Board may recommend, ~~and~~/or the City Council may change the district classification for the property to any district classification that is less restrictive than the requested zoning classification consistent with the Future Land Use Map.

~~('74 Code, § 25-295) (Ord. 89-08, passed 4-27-89; Am. Ord. 2016-88, passed 12-15-16; Am. Ord. 2017-09, passed 1-19-17)~~

~~§ 185.204 RECONSIDERATION OF DISTRICT BOUNDARY CHANGES.~~

(F) Rehearing and Administrative Res Judicata. When a proposed change in district boundaries has been acted upon by the City Council and disapproved or failed to pass, such proposed change, in the same or substantially similar form, shall not be reconsidered by the City Council, for a period of six (6) months. Such restriction shall not apply to the owner if the original request was initiated by the City Council, Planning and Zoning Board, or any department or agency of the city.

~~('74 Code, § 25-296) (Ord. 89-08, passed 4-27-89; Am. Ord. 2017-09, passed 1-19-17)~~

§ 172.023. ~~§ 185.018~~ **SITE PLANS.**

A site plan shall be required for the construction or expansion of any building, structure, infrastructure, or complex of buildings or structures, unless exempted by this section. Prior to making application for a site plan, the applicant shall request a pre-application meeting with the City to determine whether the proposed project meets the criteria established for a site plan, minor site plan, site plan modification, or is exempt from the site plan process. A building permit shall not be issued unless the construction plans are accompanied by a City approved site plan. A site plan shall be submitted to the ~~Growth Management Department~~City for administrative review. The submittal requirements shall follow the Guidelines for Site and Building Permitting Procedures Manual.

(A) ~~(A)~~ *Site Plan:* A site plan shall be submitted for all the following development proposals:

- (1) ~~(1)~~ New site development proposals for unimproved real property.
- (2) ~~(2)~~ Any developed site proposing an addition of 50 percent (50%) or greater of the original floor area or seating capacity of the existing structure.
- (3) ~~(3)~~ Any addition of impervious area, or modification of an existing onsite wetland, surface water, or stormwater management system.
- (4) ~~(4)~~ Proposals where existing onsite "natural areas" of any size will be impacted.

(B) ~~(B)~~ *Minor Site Plan.* A minor site plan shall be submitted for the following site development proposals:

- (1) ~~(1)~~ Changes to existing development which does not exceed 50 percent (50%) of the original floor area or seating capacity of the existing structure.

(2) ~~(2)~~ Additions or alterations to site infrastructure, stormwater, impervious areas of less than ~~five-hundred~~ five hundred (500) square feet; or an addition of up to twenty percent (20%) of parking areas on developed sites, or on sites with no existing permit.

(C) ~~(C)~~ *Site Plan Modification*. Site plan modifications shall meet the following criteria:

(1) ~~(1)~~ All infrastructure required to service the site shall exist on the subject site.

(2) ~~(2)~~ Parking meets all code requirements, or any approved parking determination, parking rate adjustments or variance requests, in accordance with the Land Development Code.

(3) ~~(3)~~ The proposed modification does not substantially alter the traffic circulation system or substantially change the use of property, as determined by the ~~Growth Management Director~~ City Manager or designee.

(D) ~~(D)~~ *Applicability*.

(1) All site plans are subject to compliance with the Zoning Code.

(2) ~~(1)~~ Only the specific work area identified in a site plan, minor site plan, or site plan modification shall be subject to compliance with current code requirements, unless the alteration or modification adversely impacts safety, existing infrastructure, or another code requirement that stipulates the area outside of the work area must comply with the current standards.

(E) ~~(E)~~ *Exemptions*. The following are exempt from the site plan review; however, shall comply with all other development regulations and building code requirements.

(1) ~~(1)~~ Detached single-family or duplex/~~two-family~~ residence on a fee simple lot.

(2) ~~(2)~~ Accessory structures to an established principal use meeting the following criteria:

(a) ~~(a)~~ The structure does not necessitate the expansion of the existing infrastructure such as parking spaces, stormwater system, etc., or

(b) ~~(b)~~ Does not impact the adequacy of the existing infrastructure (e.g., utilize necessary parking spaces, remove/reduce stormwater, etc.), and

(c) ~~(c)~~ The scope of work does not require modifying the existing site engineering and can be regulated through the building permit review process.

(F) ~~(F)~~ *Revisions to Approved Plans (RTAP)*. Revisions to approved plans under construction which do not increase the gross square footage of a building or adversely impact compliance with the approved site plan and would not alter the required infrastructure and improvements necessary to serve the site, may be approved in writing provided such additions ~~and/or~~ modifications fully conform to all existing city regulations. Prior to final acceptance of the site, as-built drawings shall be submitted indicating such revisions, ~~and/or~~ modifications prior to site acceptance.

(Ord. 2016-17, passed 4-21-16)

§ 172.024. CONDITIONAL USES

~~—§ 185.085 Intent.~~

(A) Certain land uses, due to their unique functional characteristics and the potentiality for their incompatibility with adjoining land uses, require special consideration on an individual basis of their suitability for location and development within particular zoning districts. Such uses have been designated as conditional uses within appropriate zoning district classifications set forth in [Chapter 173](#) ~~§§ 185.030 et seq. and §§ 185.060 et seq.~~ It is the intent of this subchapter that such uses may be permitted in the zoning district classifications only after affirmative findings that they can be developed at particular locations in a compatible manner.

('74 Code, § 25-161) (Ord. 89-08, passed 4-27-89; Am. Ord. 95-44, passed 11-2-95)

— ~~§ 185.086~~ *Application for conditional uses; fees.*

(B) Written application for conditional use shall be complete and made to the Land Development Division using the application form provided by the city. Application must be filed not later than the first day of the month preceding the scheduled hearing month. The applicant shall be required to pay any fee as may be established to defray processing and advertising costs related to review and hearing of the application. An application shall be accepted only for a conditional use specifically listed within the zoning district classification applying to the subject property or as specifically provided for elsewhere in this chapter.

('74 Code, § 25-162) (Ord. 89-08, passed 4-27-89; Am. Ord. 95-44, passed 11-2-95; Am. Ord. 2016-17, passed 4-21-16)

(C) Submittal requirements.

(1) Boundary survey.

(2) The applicant may submit a full site plan meeting the requirements of the Guidelines for Site and Building Permitting Procedures Manual, or an abbreviated site plan depicting the following.

(a) Location of site and surrounding uses;

(b) Location of existing and proposed structures;

(c) Major access points into the site and internal circulation;

(d) Parking and service areas; and

(e) Landscape and irrigation plans depicting compliance with tree protection and landscaping regulations.

(3) Description of the use and performance standards proposed to mitigate potential impacts, including restrictions of the use of property; plans for the provisions of utilities, including water, sewer and drainage facilities; plans for protection of abutting properties; plans for cross access or shared parking areas; hours of operation; and such other plans, tabulations and other data to support the request.

(D) Public notice.

(1) (3)—Public notice shall be given as required by state statutes. Notice of such hearing shall be posted on the property for which conditional use is sought.

~~(2) (4)~~—A courtesy notice shall be mailed, at the applicant's expense, to the property owners of record within a radius of five hundred (500) feet, provided, however, that failure to mail or receive such courtesy notice shall not affect any action or proceedings taken hereunder.

~~(5) Any party may appear in person, or be represented by a duly authorized representative.~~

~~(E) § 185.202 Conditional uses review; Conditions Governing Application; Procedures.~~

~~(1) (A) The City Council shall hear and decide conditional uses after review of the Planning and Zoning Board.~~ All applications for conditional uses shall be submitted to the Planning and Zoning Board for study and written, advisory recommendations to the City Council.

~~(2)~~ The City Council shall review the application and may either grant conditional uses with such conditions ~~and safeguards~~ as are appropriate under this chapter or other applicable code or ordinance provisions, or deny conditional uses when not in harmony with the purpose and intent of this chapter. ~~A conditional use shall not be granted by the City Council unless and until:~~

~~(3) (B) In granting any conditional use, the City Council may prescribe appropriate conditions and safeguards in conformity with this chapter. Violation of such conditions and safeguards, when made a part of the terms under which the conditional use is granted, shall be deemed a violation of this chapter.~~

~~(1) A written application for a conditional use is submitted indicating the section of this chapter under which the conditional use is sought and stating the grounds on which it is requested.~~

~~(2) Proposed conditional uses for planned development shall also be submitted to the Planning and Zoning Board for study, and the written recommendation of the Planning and Zoning Board shall be considered as part of the official record when hearing an application for a planned development.~~ **[PUBLIC/CURTSEY NOTICE PROVISIONS MOVED UP]**

~~(B) In granting any conditional use, the City Council may prescribe appropriate conditions and safeguards in conformity with this chapter. Violation of such conditions and safeguards, when made a part of the terms under which the conditional use is granted, shall be deemed a violation of this chapter and punishable as provided by this chapter. The City Council shall prescribe a time limit within which the action for which the conditional use is required shall be begun or completed, or both. Failure to begin or complete, or both, such action within the time limit set shall void the conditional use. The conditional use shall commence within two (2) years of the date that the conditional use is granted, as evidence by the issuance of a certificate of occupancy, certificate of completion and/or business tax receipt, as applicable. One (1) administrative extension of one (1) year may be approved by the City Manager, or designee, following a written request by the applicant within 60 days prior to the date of expiration.~~

('74 Code, § 25-293) (Ord. 89-08, passed 4-27-89; Am. Ord. 95-45, passed 10-19-95; Am. Ord. 2016-17, passed 4-21-16)

~~§ 185.087 General requirements and conditions~~ Review criteria.

~~(F) Standards for approval.~~ In its deliberations concerning the granting of a conditional use, the City Council shall carefully consider the following ~~guidelines and standards~~ criteria:

- ~~(1) (A)~~—Adequate ingress and egress may be obtained to and from the property, with particular reference to automotive and pedestrian safety and convenience, traffic flow and control, and access in case of fire or other emergency.
- ~~(2) (B)~~—Adequate off-street parking and loading areas may be provided, without creating undue noise, glare, odor or other detrimental effects upon adjoining properties.
- ~~(3) (C)~~—Adequate and properly located utilities are available or may be reasonably provided to serve the proposed development.
- ~~(4) (D)~~—Adequate screening ~~and/or~~ buffering will be provided to protect and provide compatibility with adjoining properties.
- ~~(5) (E)~~—Signs, if any, and proposed exterior lighting will be designed and arranged so as to promote traffic safety and to eliminate or minimize any undue glare, incompatibility, or disharmony with adjoining properties.
- ~~(6) (F)~~—Yards and open spaces will be adequate to properly serve the proposed development and to ensure compatibility with adjoining properties.
- ~~(7) (G)~~—The proposed use will not constitute a nuisance or hazard because of the number of persons who will attend or use the facility, or because of vehicular movement, noise, fume generation or type, of physical activity. The use as proposed for development will be compatible with the existing or permitted uses of adjacent properties.
- ~~(8) (H)~~—Development and operation of the proposed use will be in full compliance with any additional conditions ~~and safeguards~~ which the City Council may prescribe, including, but not limited to, reasonable time limit within which the action for which special approval is requested shall be begin or be completed, or both.

~~(G) Effect of conditional use approval. The conditional use shall commence within two (2) years of the date that the conditional use is granted, as evidenced by the issuance of a certificate of occupancy, certificate of completion or business tax receipt, as applicable. One administrative extension of one year may be approved by the City Manager, or designee, following a written request by the applicant within sixty (60) days prior to the date of expiration.~~

('74 Code, § 25-163) (Ord. 89-08, passed 4-27-89; Am. Ord. 95-44, passed 11-2-95; Am. Ord. 2015-27, passed 6-4-15; Am. Ord. 2016-17, passed 4-21-16)

~~§ 185.088 SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS. [SPECIFICS MOVED TO CHAPTER 174] [MOVED FROM 185.088]~~

~~For those conditional uses listed below, the following special requirements shall apply in addition to those of § 185.087:~~

~~(A) Churches. A conditional use may be granted under the following conditions:~~

- ~~(1) The site has direct access to a collector or arterial roadway.~~
- ~~(2) Minimum setbacks shall be twenty (20) feet from all property lines or the minimum setback of the district, whichever are greater.~~

~~(3) Proposed sites not having direct access to a collector or arterial roadway must prepare a traffic impact study, approved by the City Engineer, to support the compatibility of the church use with surrounding uses. In addition, day care centers and schools are not permitted as accessory uses on these sites.~~

~~(4) Minimum size: one (1) acre.~~

~~(B) Clubs, lodges and similar activities. A conditional use may be granted under the following conditions:~~

~~(1) The site has direct access to a collector or arterial roadway.~~

~~(2) Minimum setbacks shall be twenty (20) feet from all property lines or the minimum setbacks of the district, whichever are greater.~~

~~(3) Minimum size: one (1) acre.~~

~~(C) Commercial dog kennels. A conditional may be granted under the following conditions:~~

~~(1) No structures, pens, or runs shall be located within fifty (50) feet of any property line.~~

~~(2) Open kennels must be visually screened from off-site view.~~

~~(3) The site is a minimum of one (1) acre in size.~~

~~(D) Planned industrial development. Development of industrial use or group of industrial uses of five (5) or more acres intended to be developed according to a carefully drawn plan, may be permitted by the City Council as a conditional use, after review by the Planning and Zoning Board, in the LI and HI zoning districts. This provision is intended to encourage better organization and controlled development for land reserved primarily for industrial uses, to create a compatible environment for a variety of industrial activities, to protect the integrity of surrounding residential and commercial uses, to allow and encourage proper placement and design for those commercial and residential uses which augment the principal uses, and to discourage commercial and residential encroachment upon areas which should be reserved for industrial activities. In order to qualify for such conditional use, the following conditions must be met: **RECOMMEND DELETING THIS SECTION. DOESN'T REQUIRE ANYTHING ("MAY"). WHY CAN'T THEY DEVELOP BASED ON ZONING REGS OR AS PUD?**~~

~~(1) Ownership. The site proposed shall be in one (1) ownership, or, if in several ownerships, the request for conditional use shall be filed by all owners of the properties included in the plan.~~

~~(2) Zoning provisions. All other portions of the respective zoning district regulations and all other applicable portions of this chapter.~~

~~(3) Street frontage. The site proposed shall have a minimum width of two hundred (200) feet along a major street frontage.~~

~~(4) Access limitations. The minimum distance between access points shall be at least one hundred and fifty (150) feet, and the minimum distance between any one (1) location and an intersection of two (2) or more street rights of way shall be one hundred (100) feet.~~

~~(5) Site plan.~~

~~(a) Concurrent with the request, a site plan, shall be submitted on which structures shall be located in relation to:~~

~~1. Each other and to major entrances into and off the site;~~

~~2. Internal circulation ways;~~

~~3. Parking and service areas; and~~

~~4. Landscaped areas.~~

~~(b) The site plan and supporting data shall also show proposed standards for development, including restrictions of the use of property; plans for the provisions of utilities, including water, sewer and drainage facilities; plans for protection of abutting properties; plans for cross access and/or shared parking areas; and such other plans, tabulations and other data that the City Council may require.~~

~~(6) Tree regulations. Full compliance with the city tree regulations set forth in this chapter, in Chapter 180 and in any other applicable ordinance of the city must be assured.~~

~~(7) Office/business parks. All office/business park proposals must provide a list of prohibited and permitted uses in the proposed business park. The applicant should also address how the development will be designed and regulated to ensure the compatibility of uses within the office/business park.~~

~~(E) Public and private schools. A conditional use may be granted under the following conditions:~~

~~(1) The proposed site is located on a collector or arterial roadway;~~

~~(2) Minimum setbacks shall be twenty (20) feet from all property lines or the minimum setbacks of the district, whichever are greater;~~

~~(3) Minimum size, one (1) acre.~~

~~(F) Self storage facilities may be granted with the following conditions:~~

~~(1) Design Standards. The following minimum design standards shall apply to the construction of new self-storage facilities or, to the maximum extent feasible, the expansion or redevelopment of existing self-storage facilities.~~

~~(a) No door openings for any storage unit with the exception of emergency egress doors shall be constructed facing any residentially zoned property.~~

~~(b) The submitted conditional use site plan shall include a landscape plan.~~

~~(c) Interior traffic lanes shall be a minimum of thirty five (35) feet wide for two-way traffic and a minimum of twenty five (25) feet for one-way traffic, in order to accommodate loading and unloading as well as through and/or emergency traffic.~~

~~(d) The maximum storage unit size is limited to 300 square feet.~~

~~(e) There shall be no outside storage at the site.~~

~~f) No roll up door openings for any storage unit shall be constructed facing any right-of-way.~~

~~g) Properties with the principal use as self-storage may locate along major collector or higher classified roads. For locations on lower classified roads, ground floor retail is required, or the building shall be setback from the roadway.~~

~~h) Exterior surface materials of the primary/ street façade shall be select high quality, human-scale building materials to reduce building massing and create visual interest.~~

~~i) The base of a building (the first two to five feet above the sidewalks) shall be differentiated from the rest of the facade with treatments such as change in material and/ or color.~~

~~j) The primary/ street facade of buildings shall incorporate no less than two (2) building materials including, but not limited to, tile, brick, stucco, cast stone, stone, formed concrete or other high-quality, long-lasting masonry material over a minimum seventy-five (75) percent of the surface area excluding windows, doors and curtain walls.) The remainder of the wall area may incorporate other materials.~~

~~k) Self-storage facilities resembling long, traditional warehouse buildings are prohibited. Self-storage facilities must be designed to emulate multi-family or office buildings compatible and in harmony with the surrounding area.~~

~~2) Operational requirements. The following minimum operational standards shall apply to self-service storage facilities and tenants of individual storage units:~~

~~a) Individual storage units shall not be used for activities such as residences, offices, workshops, studios, or hobby or rehearsal areas. Further, storage units shall not be used for manufacturing, fabrication or processing of goods, services or repair of vehicles, engines, appliances or other equipment, or any other industrial activity whatsoever. In addition, storage units shall not be used for commercial activity or places of business of any kind including, but not limited to, retail sales, garage or estate sales, or auctions, unless done so by the property management company.~~

~~b) Storage of flammable, explosive, perishable or hazardous materials within individual storage units and on site is prohibited.~~

~~c) Rental agreements shall provide tenants with written notice of the minimum operational standards set forth in this section and any other conditions imposed by the city.~~

~~(G) Communication towers and facilities. A conditional use may be granted under the following conditions:~~

~~(1) A map showing the closest existing communication towers shall be provided.~~

~~(2) The applicant has supplied a written affidavit that co-location of antennas or other communication facilities is not possible in any other zoning district where these facilities are permissible.~~

~~(3) If camouflaging is required, then tower or facilities must be camouflaged as required by City Council. An elevation view of this structure shall be provided.~~

~~(4) The applicant has obtained written confirmation that the communication facility meets FCC and FAA radio-frequency emission and lighting standards.~~

~~(5) The submittal conditional use site plan includes a landscape plan that shows the landscape buffer and its irrigation as per Section 186.07(E) of the Palm Bay Code of Ordinances.~~

~~(6) No fence gates, equipment structure doors, or driveways shall be constructed facing any residentially zoned property, or the gates may be offset or otherwise buffered as to not be directly viewed from the residential property. This alternative must be approved by the City Planner.~~

~~(H) Eating and drinking establishments that allow patrons to dance to music. A conditional use may be granted under the following conditions:~~

- ~~(1) The applicant shall provide information and documentation that noise from the establishment will be abated so that the business will be in full compliance with Title IX: General Regulations, Chapter 92, Noise, Palm Bay Code of Ordinances.~~
- ~~(2) Methods of crowd control in both interior and exterior portions of the establishment shall be provided in the application.~~

~~(I) Security dwelling unit. A conditional use may be granted under the following conditions:~~

- ~~(1) The unit will only be permitted in conjunction with a site that has wholesale trade, warehousing, storage, contractor offices with storage, assembly, machine shops, commercial flex space and/or similar uses.~~
- ~~(2) No one under the age of eighteen (18) may reside within the unit, and at no time may the unit be occupied by more than two (2) persons.~~
- ~~(3) The unit resident must be the owner of the property or an employee of the property owner. If the resident is not the owner, a signed and notarized contract between the property owner and the employee shall be provided to staff that addresses provisions for security.~~
- ~~(4) The unit may contain no more than one thousand (1,000) square feet of gross floor area and may not be located in a free-standing structure.~~
- ~~(5) There may be only one (1) security dwelling unit per property.~~
- ~~(6) There shall be at least one (1) parking space designated on-site for the resident of the unit.~~
- ~~(7) Applicants must demonstrate that approval of an onsite security dwelling minimizes the need for other security measures including but not limited to chain link fencing, strands of barbed wire atop fencing or walls and excessive security lighting thereby promoting a more aesthetically acceptable site development pattern.~~

~~(J) Wedding venues.~~

- ~~(1) The minimum size of a property for a wedding venue shall be five (5) acres.~~
- ~~(2) The subject property shall have direct access to a collector roadway or higher classification roadway.~~
- ~~(3) The structure used for wedding venues and the associated parking areas shall meet the setbacks established for principal structures of the RR District.~~
- ~~(4) The hours of operation shall be from sunrise to 11:00 P.M., not including venue setup and breakdown.~~
- ~~(5) Parking surfaces shall utilize stabilized materials and shall meet the provisions established in § 185.140(B)(1).~~
- ~~(6) A two-way driveway must be a minimum of twenty-four (24) feet in width at the right-of-way line and shall be paved from the right-of-way line to the edge of the roadway that the driveway connects to.~~
- ~~(7) A one-way driveway must be a minimum of fifteen (15) feet in width at the right-of-way line and shall be paved from the right-of-way line to the edge of the roadway that the driveway connects to.~~

~~(8) If a wedding venue chooses to have a sign, one detached sign shall be permitted for the venue site not to exceed six (6) feet in height, with a maximum sign area of sixteen (16) square feet, and setback a minimum of ten (10) feet from any property line.~~

~~(9) All site lighting is subject to the provisions established in § 185.143.~~

~~(10) All site noise is subject to the provisions established in Chapter 92.~~

~~(K) Event halls.~~

~~(1) The minimum size of a property for an event hall shall be five (5) acres.~~

~~(2) The subject property shall have direct access to a collector roadway or higher classification roadway.~~

~~(3) The structure used for event hall and the associated parking areas shall meet the setbacks established for the GC District.~~

~~(4) The hours of operation shall be from sunrise to 12:00 A.M. not including venue setup and breakdown.~~

~~(5) Parking surfaces shall utilize stabilized materials and shall meet the provisions established in § 185.140(C)(1).~~

~~(6) A two-way driveway must be a minimum of twenty-four (24) feet in width at the right-of-way line and shall be paved from the right-of-way line to the edge of pavement of the roadway that the driveway connects to.~~

~~(7) A one-way driveway must be a minimum of fifteen (15) feet in width at the right-of-way line and shall be paved from the right-of-way line to the edge of pavement of the roadway that the driveway connects to.~~

~~(8) All site lighting is subject to the provisions established in § 185.143.~~

~~(9) All site noise is subject to the provisions established in Chapter 92.~~

('74 Code, § 25-164) (Ord. 89- 08, passed 4-27-89; Am. Ord. 94- 36, passed 7-7-94; Am. Ord. 95- 44, passed 11-2-95; Am. Ord. 96- 06, passed 2-15-96; Am. Ord. 98- 07, passed 4-16-98; Am. Ord. 98- 20, passed 7-16-98; Am. Ord. 2004-02, passed 1-22-04; Am. Ord. 2005-15, passed 4-21-05; Am. Ord. 2008-42, passed 6-5-08; Am. Ord. 2009-29, passed 7-16-09; Am. Ord. 2010-76, passed 11-4-10; Am. Ord. 2011-26, passed 4-7-11; Am. Ord. 2011-39, passed 7-7-11; Am. Ord. 2011-40, passed 7-7-11; Am. Ord. 2016-17, passed 4-21-16; Am. Ord. 2017-82, passed 11-16-17; Am. Ord. 2019-16, passed 3-21-19)

§ 172.025. ~~§ 169.009~~ VARIANCES.

(A) ~~(A)~~ Purpose. The City Council shall hear petitions for variances from the terms of the Land Development Code ~~delineated in §§ 170.114, 170.142, and Chapters 178 and 185~~, as will not be contrary to the public interest where, owing to special conditions, the enforcement of the provisions of the City's land development regulations would result in unnecessary hardship. A hardship generally occurs when the physical characteristics of a property are such that it cannot be used for any purpose permitted by the Land Development Code. A hardship may be created by the surroundings, shape, or topographical conditions particular to that specific property. However, the hardship cannot be self-imposed, or the result of the property owner's own action. The establishment or expansion of a use otherwise prohibited shall not be allowed by variance, nor shall a variance be granted because of the presence of nonconformities in

the zoning district or uses in an adjoining zoning district. **[COMBINED EXISTING LANGUAGE WITH LANGUAGE FROM VARIANCE DEFINITION]**

(B) Variance submittal requirements. The application for variance approval shall be accompanied by the following:

(1) Boundary survey;

(2) A site plan depicting existing and proposed development and highlighting the requested variance.

(a) An application, on a form provided by the City, completed and signed by the applicant and the owner or owner's agent, or contract purchaser with the owner's written consent.

(b) A disclosure statement by the parties with at least five percent interest in the subject property/project signed by the applicant and notarized. The applicant, owner or owner's agent, or contract purchaser with the owner's written consent, shall keep all information current during the processing of the application.

(c) The particular provision of the LDRs which prevents the proposed construction on the property.

(d) The existing zoning of the property, including any previously approved conditions or modifications.

(e) The special circumstances, conditions, or characteristics of the land, building or structure that prevent the use of the land in compliance with the terms of this ordinance.

(f) The particular hardship which would result if the specified provisions of the ordinance were to be applied to the subject property.

(g) The extent to which it would be necessary to vary the provisions of this ordinance to permit the proposed construction on, or use of, the property.

(h) A written response to the variance review criteria.

(C) ~~(B)~~ Procedures.

(1) Application. An application for variance shall be made by the fee owner of the property on a form prescribed by the City and shall be submitted with a processing fee which shall be set and may be amended from time to time by City Council in accordance with §**172.011**.

(2) Staff Review. The City Manager or designee shall review the application in light of the applicant's response to the variance review criteria contained below and forward a recommendation to the Planning and Zoning Board.

(3) Planning and Zoning Board Review. Upon receipt of a recommendation concerning disposition of a requested variance, the Planning and Zoning Board shall hold a public hearing and may grant, deny or grant with conditions any variance request upon finding that the request meets the review criteria.

(4) City Council. Upon receipt from the Planning and Zoning Board of a recommendation concerning disposition of a requested variance, the City Council shall hold a public hearing and may grant, deny or grant with conditions any variance request upon finding that the request meets the review following criteria:.

(5) *Conditions.* (1) ~~Conditions and safeguards.~~ In granting any variance, appropriate conditions and safeguards may be prescribed to ensure compliance with the requirements of the Land Development Code and the code in general. Such conditions may include time limits for the initiation of the variance, specific minimum or maximum limits to regular code requirements, or any other conditions reasonably related to the requirements and criteria of this chapter.

—Review criteria:

(D) ~~The above following~~ criteria shall be used to determine the justification for granting of relief from requirements of the development code. All variance requests shall demonstrate the application of each criterion to the specific case.

- (1) ~~(1)~~—Special conditions and circumstances exist which are peculiar to the land, structure or building involved, and which are not applicable to other lands, structures or buildings in the same land use category, zoning district or situation.
- (2) ~~(2)~~—The special conditions and circumstances identified in paragraph (1) above are not the result of actions of the applicant.
- (3) ~~(3)~~—Literal interpretation and enforcement of the Land Development Code regulations would deprive the applicant of rights commonly enjoyed by other properties in the same land use category, zoning district or situation, and would result in unnecessary and undue hardship on the applicant.
- (4) ~~(4)~~—The variance, if granted, is the minimum variance necessary to make possible the reasonable use of the land, building or structure.
- (5) ~~(5)~~—Granting of the variance request will not confer on the applicant any special privilege that is denied by the development code to other lands, buildings or structures in the same land use category, zoning district or situation.
- (6) ~~(6)~~—The granting of the variance will be in harmony with the general intent and purpose of this code and will not be injurious to the surrounding properties or detrimental to the public welfare.
- (7) ~~(7)~~—The variance represents a reasonable disposition of a claim brought under the Bert J. Harris Private Property Rights Protection Act, chapter 95-181, Laws of Florida, that a development order of the city has unreasonably burdened the applicant’s property, based upon the recommendations of the special master appointed in accordance with the act, or the order of a court as described in the act.

~~The above criteria shall be used to determine the justification for granting of relief from requirements of the development code. All variance requests shall demonstrate the application of each criterion to the specific case.~~

~~(C)~~—Financial disadvantages or inconvenience to the applicant shall not ~~of themselves~~ constitute conclusive evidence of unnecessary and undue hardship ~~and nor~~ be grounds to justify granting of a variance.

~~(D)~~—Notwithstanding the foregoing criteria, variances may be granted under the authority of the Americans with Disabilities Act as reasonable accommodations based on the disabilities of any applicant or a member of the applicant’s household. For purposes herein, “reasonable

accommodation” and “disabilities” shall have the meanings provided under the Americans with Disabilities Act.

~~(E) Conditions of approval.~~

~~(A) (1) Conditions and safeguards. In granting any variance, appropriate conditions and safeguards may be prescribed to ensure compliance with the requirements of the Land Development Code and the code in general. Such conditions may include time limits for the initiation of the variance, specific minimum or maximum limits to regular code requirements, or any other conditions reasonably related to the requirements and criteria of this chapter.~~

~~(2) Transfer of Variances. Variances run with the property and the use of a variance may be transferred to another party for use on the same property.~~

~~(F) Violation of variance terms or conditions. It is a violation of this code for any person to violate or to refuse to comply with any term or condition of a variance. Violations may be enforced or prosecuted as provided for in the Palm Bay Code of Ordinances.~~

§ 172.026. (G) ADMINISTRATIVE VARIANCES.

(A) Purpose. An administrative variance ~~involves matters such as~~ allows for a variation in setbacks, floor area ratios, frontage requirements, subdivision regulations, height limitations, lot coverage/size restrictions, yard requirements, parking, and similar dimensional standards ~~other variances which have no relation to change of use of the property in question.~~ Administrative variance limitations and exclusions are as follows: Administrative variances will not be granted within easements. The maximum amount of the waiver is up to, but not greater than, twenty percent (20%) of the requirement.

(1) Administrative variances in conjunction with new construction are limited to ten (10) percent of the dimensional requirement.

(2) Administrative variances for existing principal or accessory structures are limited to twenty percent (20%) of the applicable code section.

(3) Administrative variances shall not be used to change the use of the property in question.

(4) Approval of administrative variances shall not allow encroachments into easements.

(B) Procedures.

(1) Application. An application for an administrative variance shall be made by the fee owner of the property on a form prescribed by the City Growth Management Department and shall be submitted to the Department with a processing fee which shall be set and may be amended from time to time by City Council in accordance with § 169.004 of the Palm Bay Code of Ordinances. The application shall include a recent survey of the property, a site plan showing the existing structures on the subject property, the general location and use of existing structures on the adjacent properties from which the administrative variance is being requested and a letter of intent explaining the reason and justification for the variance.

(2) Administrative Review. The City Manager or designee shall review the request and render a decision either approving, approving with modifications, or denying the request. In granting any administrative

variance, the City Manager or designee may prescribe any appropriate conditions necessary to protect and further the interest of the area and abutting properties, including but not limited to:

- (a) Landscape materials, walls and fences as required buffering.
- (b) Modification of the orientation or deletion of any openings.
- (c) Modification of site arrangements.
- (d) Modification of plans.

~~An administrative variance may be granted by the City Manager, or designee, as authorized by the procedure set forth and shall be used for a variance from the provisions of this Code limited to improvements existing at the time of application as opposed to planned construction. Administrative variances will not be granted within easements. The maximum amount of the waiver is up to, but not greater than, twenty percent (20%) of the requirement. An application for an administrative variance shall be made by the fee owner of the property on a form prescribed by the Growth Management Department and shall be submitted to the Department with a processing fee which shall be set and may be amended from time to time by City Council in accordance with § 169.004 of the Palm Bay Code of Ordinances. The application shall include a recent survey of the property, a site plan showing the existing structures on the subject property, the general location and use of existing structures on the adjacent properties from which the administrative variance is being requested and a letter of intent explaining the reason and justification for the variance.~~

~~(1) Upon receipt of the completed application, to include all supporting documentation as may be required, the Department, prior to making their decision, shall inspect the subject property and its surrounding properties to determine what impact, if any, the proposed request will have on the area.~~

~~(2) The Department shall prepare a staff report and render a decision either approving, approving with modifications, or denying the request. In granting any administrative variance, the Department may prescribe any appropriate conditions and safeguards necessary to protect and further the interest of the area and abutting properties.~~

~~(3) The City Manager shall review the staff report and recommendation of the Department and approve, approve with additional conditions, or deny the request.~~

(C) Review criteria. Administrative variance requests shall be reviewed based on the following standards and criteria:

(1) The request meets all the following provisions:

- (a) No more than two sides of the encroaching construction shall be considered for a setback variance (all prior setback variances, administrative variances and alternative site development options shall count toward this limitation);
- (b) No prior setback, lot coverage or building spacing variance(s), administrative variance(s) or alternative site development option(s) shall be further changed by administrative variance;
- (c) The architectural design, scale, mass and building materials of any proposed structure or addition shall be aesthetically harmonious with that of other existing or proposed structures or buildings on the property;

- (d) The plan shall clearly illustrate water runoff solution(s) for the encroaching construction area;
- (e) The property owner shall certify in writing that any and all easement areas as shown on the recorded plat remain unencumbered by the encroaching construction, unless a release of interest by the easement holder(s) is obtained and submitted;
- (f) The applicant provides written certification from a registered architect or engineer that the existing encroaching construction complies, or can be made to comply with all applicable construction codes, including but not limited to the Florida Building Code, and the applicable Fire Prevention Code;
- (g) Any reduction in the spacing requirement between a principal building and an accessory building or structure on the same lot shall not result in a situation that causes maintenance difficulty or an unsightly appearance;
- (h) The proposed accessory building or structure is a normal and customary accessory residential use; and
- (i) The property owner certifies in writing that the type and placement of any proposed outdoor lighting fixtures shall comply with the City Code and the Florida Building Code.

(2) Notwithstanding the foregoing, no proposed administrative variance shall be approved where the City Manager or designee determines that the proposed construction or addition:

- (a) Will not be in harmony with the general appearance and character of the subject block face or the block face across the street from the subject property or will result in a significant diminution of value of the adjacent property; or
- (b) Will be detrimental to the public welfare in that it will have substantial negative impact on public safety due to unsafe traffic movements, heightened pedestrian/vehicular conflicts, or heightened risk of fire; or
- (c) Creates materially greater adverse privacy impacts on adjacent residences than that permitted by the underlying district regulations.

(D) ~~(4)~~—Public notice. The Department shall mail a courtesy notice containing the City Manager's decision to all property owners whose property abuts the applicant's property, and their tenants ~~and~~/or agents as noted on the application.

(E) Appeals. See § 172.014.

~~(5) Any aggrieved property owner may appeal the decision of the City Manager within thirty (30) days from the date of the letter. All appeals shall be in the written form prescribed by the Department. A building permit, if required, shall not be issued until the appeal period has expired.~~

~~(6) An applicant may appeal the decision of the City Manager in accordance with § 169.006, Palm Bay Code of Ordinances.~~

~~(7) Approval may be given for variances to any proposed principal, accessory, or other structure up to twelve (12) inches administratively. Approval may be given for variances to any existing principal, accessory, or other structure up to twenty percent (20%) of the applicable code section, administratively. Such requests will be~~

~~made by the property owner in writing and supported by a current survey to the Growth Management Director for review and approval. A fee shall be assessed to the request as adopted in the latest fee resolution. All variances approved by the Growth Management Director shall be counter signed by the Chief Building Official prior to City Manager's consideration. Approval of administrative variances shall be submitted to the City Clerk for recording in the official records of Brevard County at the sole expense of the property owner.~~

VOLUNTARY INCLUSIONARY HOUSING MOVED TO ZONING CHAPTER. NOT REALLY RELATED TO VARIANCES

(Ord. 2010-72, passed 11-4-10; Am. Ord. 2015-58, passed 12-1-15; Am. Ord. 2020-11, passed 2-20-20; Am. Ord. 2022-73, passed 7-21-22)

§ 172.027. MASTER SITE PLAN FOR MIXED-USE DISTRICTS [NEW]

(A) Purpose/Applicability: Master Site Plan approval is required in conjunction with rezonings of one hundred (100) acres of more to the CMU and UMU zoning districts. The review of the master plan is intended to ensure coordinated design of mixed-use or phased developments. The master plan is intended to be a conceptual plan but must demonstrate compliance with the requirements of the MU district stated in Chapter 173.

(B) Submittal requirements. the following items shall be submitted:

(1) Project description (narrative) addressing the following:

- (a) Project description identifying the effect on surrounding land uses and verifying consistency of the proposed development with the city's comprehensive plan and land development code.
- (b) A description of the applicable concurrency requirements relative to transportation, water, sewer, schools, recreation, open space, stormwater; solid waste, and public safety.
- (c) Proposed development schedule and phasing plan, specifying the number of dwelling units, or the amount of nonresidential square feet to be provided during the various phases of the development.
- (d) The ability of the subject property or surrounding areas to accommodate any contemplated future expansion of the master site plan, if appropriate.

(2) Master Site Plan, including, but not limited to, the following:

- (a) The location, description, and acreage of all proposed land uses, including the following:
 - 1. Vehicular rights-of-way and dimensions;
 - 2. Pedestrian/bicycle circulation;
 - 3. Common uses;
 - 4. Common open space;
 - 5. Schools;
 - 6. Government/civic;
 - 7. Landscaping and buffers;
 - 8. Stormwater; and

9. Conservation

(b) Projected type, location, number, and density of all residential dwelling units to be constructed in the development.

(c) Proposed development schedule and phasing plan, showing the number and type of dwelling units, or the amount of nonresidential square feet to be provided during the various phases of the development.

(3) Other items which the City Manager or designee may determine to be pertinent to the review of the application.

(C) Process: The review of the Master Site Plan includes the following steps:

(1) Pre-application meeting: The applicant must attend a pre-application meeting per §172.010.

(2) Staff Review: City staff shall review the Master Site Plan for conformance with the Comprehensive Plan and this Land Development Code and must submit a recommendation for approval, approval subject to modifications necessary to meet code, or denial.

(3) Planning & Zoning Board: The Board considers the staff recommendations and the review criteria contained in this section and issues a recommendation to the City Council.

(4) City Council. The City Council shall, upon receipt of the Planning and Zoning Board and staff recommendations, review the application and approve or deny the final Master Site Plan. This approval allows the applicant to sell or start designing the various components of the development.

(D) Phasing. All phases within the development must stand alone and meet code independently from future phases. To ensure adequate distribution of residential uses throughout the development, specific conditions may be placed upon the Master Site Plan to ensure the delivery of such mixes occurs.

(E) Review criteria. The reviewing authorities shall consider the following factors when reviewing a Master Site Plan:

(1) Compatibility within the development and relationship with surrounding neighborhoods.

(2) The nature, intent, and compatibility of common open space, including the proposed method for the maintenance and conservation of the common open space.

(3) The availability and adequacy of internal and external streets and thoroughfares to support traffic to be generated by the proposed development.

(4) The availability and adequacy of water and sewer service to support the proposed development.

(5) The availability of on- or off-site public education and recreation facilities, drainage, flood control and soil conservation as shown in the Master Site Plan.

(6) The benefits within the proposed development and to the general public.

(7) The conformity of the development with the city's Comprehensive Plan and Land Development regulations, particularly with the purpose and intent of the districts.

(F) Effect of approval. Approval of the Master Site Plan authorizes the applicant to submit site plans or subdivision plats for the various components of the development, which must be consistent with the

approved Master Site Plan. Subsequent development plans shall ensure compliance with the approved Master Site Plan.

(G) Expiration. The applicant shall have three (3) years from the approval of the Master Site Plan in which to file a site plan or subdivision plat application. At the request of the applicant, and for good cause shown, the City Council may extend the period required for the filing of the application for a time certain not to exceed one (1) year.

§ 172.028. RESERVED

§ 172.029. RESERVED

PART 4. ZONING MAP AMENDMENT TO PUD

PUDs require preliminary and final development plan applications for review by the Planning and Zoning Board and City Council. A Planned Unit Development zoning classification is established when the final application is approved by City Council by Ordinance. See Part 5 of this chapter for rezoning to Regional Activity Center (RAC)-PUD.

§ 172.030. ~~§ 185.066~~ PROCEDURE FOR APPROVAL OF A PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN (PDP) AND TENTATIVE PUD ZONING.

The following procedures, applications, and exhibits shall be required when applying for ~~tentative zoning~~ approval of a preliminary development plan:

(A) Pre-application meeting. Prior to submitting a formal application for PUD zoning, the petitioner is required to confer with the city and other county, state or regional agencies having jurisdiction or permitting responsibilities impacting the proposed development. The petitioner is also required to submit a tentative land use sketch plan for review at the meeting, and to obtain information on any projected plans, programs or other matters that may affect the proposed planned community. This pre-application meeting should address, but not be limited to, such matters as:

- (1) The proposed relationship between the anticipated project and surrounding uses, and the consistency of the proposed development with the City of Palm Bay Comprehensive Plan Goals, Objectives, and Policies as well as other stated planning and development objectives of the city. Prior to receiving any PUD zoning district classification, the applicant may apply for a planned unit development comprehensive plan future land use map amendment for the subject property.
- (2) The adequacy of existing and proposed streets, utilities, and other public facilities to serve the development. The applicant shall be required to submit narrative and graphic information that addresses concurrency management issues pursuant to Part 8 of this chapter (Concurrency Management).
- (3) The nature, design, and appropriateness of the proposed land use arrangement for the size and configuration of property involved.

(B) ~~(A) Preliminary development plan-PDP application.~~ The application for the PUD designation shall include a PDP and Development Agreement, and comply with the following standards:

(C) (1) Preliminary application. A preliminary application shall be submitted to the Land Development Division by the developer/applicant/property owner(s) requesting approval of the site as a planned unit development zone. The preliminary application shall contain the name of the property owner(s), developer, surveyor and engineer who prepared the development plan and topographic data map, and the name of the proposed planned unit development.

(D) (2) Required PDP Exhibits. The following exhibits shall be attached to the preliminary application (see Part 5, below, for PUDs within the RAC future land use category):

(1) (a) Preliminary Development Plan. The Preliminary Development Plan shall serve as an instrument providing PUD-specific development standards, maximum densities, intensities, and permitted uses for all lands contained within the Plan. ~~The D~~ development plan ~~that~~ shall contain, but not be limited to, the following information:

(a) 1. Proposed name or title of project.

(b) 1. The name of the engineer, architect, surveyor, and developer.

(c) 2. North arrow, scale (one (1) inch equals two hundred (200) feet ~~or larger~~), date, and legal description of the proposed site.

(d) 3. Existing conditions and vicinity map. Aerial map showing B boundaries of tract ~~shown with bearings, distances, closures, and bulkhead lines.~~ A all existing easements, section lines and all existing rights-of-way ~~streets~~ and physical features in and adjoining the project, ~~and the~~

(e) 1. Existing land use and zoning map.

(f) 4. Tracts, including Proposed parks, school sites or other public or private open space, stormwater, open space and landscape.

(g) 5. Off-street parking, loading areas, driveways, and access points; public and private right of ways.

(h) Topographic map (2-foot contours) consistent with the requirements of Chapter 5J-17, F.A.C.

(i) 6. Site data including tabulation of the total number of gross acres in the project, the acreage to be devoted to each of the several types of primary-residential and secondary-nonresidential uses, ~~and~~ the total number of dwelling units, the maximum height of all structures, the minimum setbacks of all structures (and parking areas) and the total area of pervious and impervious surfaces.

(j) 7. Delineation of phased development, if applicable.

1. The order of construction of the proposed stages delineated in the development plan.

2. The proposed date for the beginning of construction of such stages.

3. The proposed date for the completion of construction on such stages.

4. The proposed schedule for the construction and improvement of common recreation and open space and any related amenities.

(k) Zoning analysis.

- (l) Natural Resource Assessment. The preliminary development application shall include an assessment of the property identifying major environmental features of the site and endangered wildlife and vegetation.
- (m) Tree survey showing the location of tree groupings and exceptional specimen trees.
- (n) ~~8.—Conceptual stormwater master plan, drainage and outfall~~ Proposed means of drainage for the site.
- (o) Boundary and topographic survey, include the location, size and type of all trees in accordance with Chapter 175 of the Land Development Code.
- (p) Traffic Study. A traffic study meeting generally accepted engineering practices and in accordance with the City of Palm Bay Standardized Traffic Impact Study Guidance Manual examining the impact of the proposed development on the surrounding roadway network.
- (q) ~~(b)—~~ Schematic drawing of the elevation and architectural construction of the proposed primary and secondary residential and nonresidential structures as part of a design workbook.
- (r) Other studies and documents as required namely: Pre-Application meeting, Citizen Participation Plan, Natural Resource Assessment, and Zoning Analysis.
- (s) Development Agreement. A Development Agreement, in accordance with Part 9 of this chapter, shall be required for the establishment of a PUD and shall be concurrent with the PDP. All conditions provided for in the Development Agreement shall be related in both type and amount to the anticipated impacts of the proposed development on the public and surrounding lands.

(E) ~~(3)—~~Submittal.

- (1) ~~(a)—~~ The PUD zoning application and preliminary development plan (PDP) application shall be submitted to the Land Development Division. Plans will not be distributed for city staff review until all items are submitted and sufficient for review. The PUD PDP application must be complete and accompanied by two (2) copies of the preliminary development plan and all exhibits, as described in these regulations, an approved electronic copy, a filing fee, and a list of all owners of adjacent property and/or property directly opposite of the proposed subdivision. Such property owner information shall be obtained from the most recent County Tax Appraiser’s rolls.
 - (a) ~~1.—~~ City staff will review the PDP-application package for completeness and notify the applicant in writing whether the application submitted is sufficient or otherwise specify any deficiencies in the application. The City shall provide this notification in accordance with the timelines set forth in §Section-166.033, Florida Statutes F.S.
 - (b) ~~2.—~~ Once the preliminary development plan application package is determined sufficient, the development coordinator will distribute the package to city staff. Pursuant to §Section-166.033(2), Florida Statutes F.S., the city will not request additional information from the applicant more than three (3) times, without requesting a meeting with the applicant to discuss outstanding issues, unless the applicant waives this limitation in writing. If not waived, the city will proceed to process the application for approval or denial.

~~(2) (b)~~—Once the application is deemed complete, the Land Development Division shall process and coordinate the review ~~of the preliminary development plan~~ by the appropriate city departments. The appropriate city departments, to include police and fire departments, shall review and comment on the submitted information. Written comments from the city departments shall be returned to the Land Development Division to be incorporated into a staff report and prepared for a regularly scheduled meeting of the Planning and Zoning Board in accordance with the timelines set forth in ~~§ Section~~ 166.033, ~~Florida Statutes F.S.~~

~~(3) (c)~~—Courtesy notice letters of the meeting shall be sent ~~to the owners of abutting and opposite properties of the proposed subdivision~~ in accordance with § 51.07, Public Hearing Notices. Failure by owners to receive such courtesy notice shall not affect any action or proceedings taken, however. Notice of such a meeting shall also be posted on the property for which subdivision is sought.

~~(4) (d)~~—~~Preliminary development plans~~ PUD PDP applications must be approved by ~~€City €Council~~. Once plans are ready for the ~~€City €Council~~, the applicant shall be notified.

~~(F) (4)~~—*Application review.*

~~(1) (a)~~—The PUD PDP preliminary development plan application shall be reviewed formally by the Planning and Zoning Board to determine its conformity with the official plans and policies of the city and the requirements of this subchapter.

~~(2) (b)~~—Upon completion of its review, the Planning and Zoning Board shall recommend to the City Council, the approval, approval subject to conditions, or disapproval of the ~~preliminary development plan application~~ PUD zoning and preliminary development plan based on the sufficiency and accurateness of the required exhibits and the requirements and purposes of this subchapter and any other applicable provision of this code of ordinances and any other regulation of the city.

~~(3) (7) Review by City Council.~~ The City Council shall review the ~~Upon receiving the,~~ recommendations of the Planning and Zoning Board, ~~the City Council shall,~~ at a regularly ~~scheduled~~ public hearing of the City Council, ~~review the recommendation and preliminary development plan and either and shall~~ approve, approve subject to conditions, or ~~disapprove deny~~ the PUD PDP preliminary development plan application. The approval shall constitute a PUD zoning enacted by Ordinance and the preliminary development plan and Development Agreement shall be binding upon the lands contained within the plan. Any proposed modifications to the preliminary development plan or Development Agreement shall be submitted to the Growth Management Director for determination of the review criteria stated departure from the approved plan. If determined to be a substantial deviation from the approved development plan, the applicant must receive a new preliminary development plan or Development Agreement approval from City Council for such deviation. ~~The decision of the Council shall be based upon a consideration of the facts specified as review criteria for the zoning board in § 185.064.~~

~~(G) (8)~~—*Recordation of preliminary application PUD, PDP, and Development Agreement.* The Ordinance approving the PUD zoning request and the accompanying preliminary development plan and Development Agreement ~~in the event the primary development plan application is~~ approved by the City Council, ~~a copy of such application and required exhibits~~ shall be certified and approved by the City Clerk as a permanent record and recorded in the Public Records of Brevard County, Florida. ~~A notice of such approval and filing,~~

~~containing a legal description of the site, shall be recorded in the official records of the county, in the form of a resolution.~~

(H) ~~(5)~~ *Review criteria.* The decision of the Planning and Zoning Board on the ~~preliminary development plan~~ PUD PDP application shall include the findings of fact that serve as a basis for its recommendation. In making its recommendation, the Planning and Zoning Board shall consider the following facts:

- ~~(1) (a)~~ Degree of departure of proposed planned unit development from surrounding areas in terms of character and density.
- ~~(2) (b)~~ Compatibility within the planned unit development and relationship with surrounding neighborhoods.
- ~~(3) (c)~~ Prevention of erosion and degrading of surrounding area.
- ~~(4) (d)~~ Provision for future public education and recreation facilities, transportation, water supply, sewage disposal, surface drainage, flood control and soil conservation as shown in the preliminary development plan.
- ~~(5) (e)~~ The nature, intent and compatibility of common recreation and open space, including the proposed method for the maintenance and conservation of the common open space.
- ~~(6) (f)~~ The feasibility and compatibility of the development plan to function as an independent development, providing for connectivity and walkability between residential and nonresidential uses within the development.
- ~~(7) (g)~~ The availability and adequacy of primary streets and thoroughfares to support traffic to be generated within the proposed planned unit development.
- ~~(8) (h)~~ The availability and adequacy of water and sewer service to support the proposed planned unit development.
- ~~(9) (i)~~ The availability and adequacy of existing police and fire services to support the proposed planned unit development.
- ~~(10) (j)~~ The benefits within the proposed development and to the general public to justify the requested departure from standard land use requirements inherent in a planned unit development classification.
- ~~(11) (k)~~ The conformity and compatibility of the planned unit development within any adopted ~~development~~ plan of the city.
- ~~(12) (l)~~ The conformity and compatibility of the proposed common recreation and open space, residential and nonresidential uses within the proposed planned unit development.
- ~~(13) (6)~~ Consistency of the preliminary development plan with Comprehensive Plan goals, objectives, and policies. ~~A PDP application may only be approved if it is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan.~~
 - ~~(a) Conformance to PDP purpose. A PDP application may only be approved if it is in conformance with the purpose of PDPs as articulated in section 30-3.15.~~
 - ~~(a) (b)~~ Internal compatibility. All uses proposed within a ~~PDP~~ preliminary development plan shall be compatible with other proposed uses; that is, no use may have any undue adverse impact on any

neighboring use, based on the streetscape, treatment of pedestrian ways and circulation, motor vehicle circulation, and the separation and buffering of parking areas and sections of parking areas; the existence or absence of, and the location of, focal points and vistas, open spaces, plazas, recreational areas and common areas, and use of existing and proposed landscaping; use of the topography, physical environment and other natural features; use and variety of building setback or build-to lines, separations and buffering; use and variety of building groupings, building sizes, architectural styles, and materials; variety and design of dwelling types; particular land uses proposed, and conditions and limitations thereon; and any other factor deemed relevant to the privacy, safety, preservation, protection or welfare of any proposed use within the [PDP preliminary development plan](#).

- (b) ~~(c)~~—External compatibility. All uses proposed within a [preliminary development plan PDP](#) shall be compatible with existing and planned uses of properties [for which it surrounds](#)ing the PDP; that is, no internal use may have any avoidable or undue adverse impact on any existing or planned surrounding use, nor shall any internal use be subject to undue adverse impact from existing or planned surrounding uses. An evaluation of the external compatibility of a [PDP preliminary development plan](#) should be based on the following factors: adjacent existing and proposed uses, design of the development, traffic circulation, and density and intensity.
- (c) ~~(d)~~—Intensity of development. The residential density and intensity of use of a [preliminary development plan PDP](#) shall be compatible with and shall have no undue adverse impact upon the physical and environmental characteristics of the site and surrounding lands, and shall comply with the policies and density limitations set forth in the Comprehensive Plan. Within the maximum limitation of the Comprehensive Plan, the permitted residential density and intensity of use in a [preliminary development plan PDP](#) may be adjusted upward or downward in consideration of the following factors: the availability and location of public and utility services and facilities; the trip capture rate of development; and the degree of internal and external connectedness of streets.
- (d) ~~(e)~~—Usable open spaces, plazas and recreation areas. Usable open spaces, plazas and recreation areas provided within a [preliminary development plan PDP](#) shall be evaluated based on conformance with the policies of the Comprehensive Plan and the sufficiency of such areas to provide appropriate recreational opportunities, protect sensitive environmental areas, conserve areas of unique beauty or historical significance, enhance neighborhood design, and encourage compatible and cooperative relationships between adjoining land uses.
- (e) ~~(f)~~—Environmental constraints. The site of the [preliminary development plan PDP](#) shall be suitable for use in the manner proposed without hazards to persons either on or offsite from the likelihood of increased flooding, erosion or other dangers, annoyances or inconveniences. Condition of soil, groundwater level, drainage and topography shall all be appropriate to the type, pattern and intensity of development intended. The conditions and requirements of the protection of resources article shall be met.
- (f) ~~(g)~~—External transportation access. A [preliminary development plan PDP](#) shall [ensure access is](#)be located on, and provides access to, a major street (arterial or collector) unless, due to the size of the [preliminary development plan PDP](#) and the type of uses proposed, it will not adversely affect the type or amount of traffic on adjoining local streets. Access shall meet the standards set in [Chapter](#)

176.23 and chapter 30, article VI of the Land Development Code. Connection to existing or planned adjacent streets is encouraged. The trip generation report shall be signed by a professional engineer registered in the state when there is a difference between the traffic report provided by the petitioner and the concurrency test.

(g) ~~(h)~~ Internal transportation access. Every dwelling unit or other use permitted in a preliminary development plan PDP shall have access to a public street directly or by way of a private road, pedestrian way, court or other area that is either dedicated to public use or is a common area guaranteeing access. Permitted uses are not required to front on a dedicated public road. Private roads and other accessways shall be required to be constructed so as to ensure that they are safe and maintainable.

(h) ~~(i)~~ Provision for the range of transportation choices. Sufficient off-street and on-street parking for bicycles and other vehicles, as well as cars, shall be provided. Parking areas shall be constructed in accordance with such standards as are approved by the city commission to ensure that they are safe and maintainable and that they allow for sufficient privacy for adjoining uses. When there is discretion as to the location of parking in the project, it is strongly encouraged that all motor vehicle parking be located at the rear or interior side of buildings, or both. The design of a PDP should, whenever feasible, incorporate appropriate pedestrian and bicycle accessways so as to provide for a variety of mobility opportunities. Connection to all sidewalks, greenways, trails, bikeways, and transit stops along the perimeter of the PDP is required. Where existing perimeter sidewalks do not exist, sidewalks shall be provided by the development.

~~(B) Applications in excess of one thousand (1,000) acres.~~

~~(1) In the event any PUD application is in excess of one thousand (1,000) acres, the City Council may approve planned unit development zoning based on the requirements in this section on a revised or general basis. Specifically, the exact requirements of divisions (A)(2) above may be revised in terms of map scale and detail required.~~

~~(2) Following this, the developer shall have six (6) months to present a preliminary development plan for any minimum stage of ten (10) acres. At the request of the developer, and for good cause shown, the City Council may extend the period required for the filing of the plan for a time certain not to exceed six (6) months. The plan shall be reviewed by the Planning and Zoning Board and the procedure of divisions (A) above would specifically then apply to any stage or the total development. Provided, however, approval of a preliminary development plan shall be a condition precedent to the filing of an application for the approval of a final development plan under § 185.067.~~

~~(C) Amendments to the preliminary development plan.~~

(l) ~~(1)~~ Except as otherwise provided in this section, an amendment to an approved preliminary development plan PDP (except for an extension of a time limit) shall be accomplished only by a new preliminary development plan PDP rezoning application. Any proposed modifications to the preliminary development plan shall be submitted to the City Manager or designee for determination of departure in accordance with § 172.026, Administrative Variances. If determined to be a substantial deviation from the approved preliminary development plan, the applicant must receive a preliminary development plan approval from City Council for such deviation.

~~(2)~~—The following types of amendments to the requirements of an approved ~~PUD-PDP~~ may be authorized by the appropriate reviewing board during final development plan review, provided such amendments meet the criteria set forth in this subchapter for the development review process.

~~(1)~~ ~~(3)~~—Minor adjustments or shifts in the location and siting of buildings, structures, parking bays, and parking spaces.

~~(2)~~ ~~(4)~~—Changes in the location of utility tie-ins and solid waste, recycling, and yard trash containers.

~~(3)~~ ~~(5)~~—Reductions in the overall density or intensity of structural ground coverage of the development.

~~(4)~~ ~~(6)~~—Changes in the location and types of landscape materials, excluding changes in location of buffers.

~~(5)~~ ~~(7)~~—Minor changes in the walkway and bikeway systems.

~~(6)~~ ~~(8)~~—The addition of accessory structures or utility buildings of less than one thousand (1,000) square feet where there are no major changes to the perimeter features of the development.

~~(7)~~ ~~(9)~~—The addition of up to ten new parking spaces.

~~(8)~~ ~~(10)~~—Any expansion of gross floor area or enlargement of the building envelope that does not require the addition of required parking spaces or alter standards of the PUD ordinance.

~~(9)~~ ~~(11)~~—Modifications that do not entail amendments to specific language included within the ~~PDP~~ ordinance.

('74 Code, § 25-132(g)) (Ord. 89- 08, passed 4-27-89; Am. Ord. 2006-10, passed 2-2-06; Am. Ord. 2016-02, passed 1-19-16; Am. Ord. 2016-75, passed 11-17-16; Am. Ord. 2017-16, passed 2-16-17; Am. Ord. 2022-94, passed 9-15-22)

§ 172.031. ~~§ 185.067~~ PROCEDURE FOR SECURING APPROVAL OF A FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN (FDP).

The granting of a rezoning to a planned unit development (PUD) and the approval of its accompanying preliminary development plan by the city council shall constitute authority for the applicant to submit a final development plan (FDP). The final development plan shall be filed, processed and reviewed pursuant to this section. The FDP may include a development plan and a preliminary plat in accordance with § 172.052. The ~~developer~~ applicant shall have ~~one~~ ~~three~~ (13) years from the approval of the preliminary development plan (PDP) for a planned unit development ~~zone~~ in which to file a final development plan application. At the request of the ~~developer~~ applicant, and for good cause shown, the City Council may extend the period required for the filing of the application for a time certain not to exceed one (1) year. The final development plan application may request approval for the entire planned unit development plan or any ~~stage~~ phase. If approval is not requested for the entire planned unit development, the ~~developer~~ applicant shall have one (1) year from approval of the final development plan application to file another final development plan application for approval of any or all of the remaining ~~stages~~ phases specified in the preliminary development plan. At the request of the ~~developer~~ applicant, and for good cause shown, the City Council may extend for a time certain not to exceed one (1) year, the period for the filing of the application.

(A) ~~(A)~~—Required exhibits for final development plan. In addition to ~~the~~ exhibits identified in §172.030(B) in addition to § 185.066(B)(2)(a) the following documents shall be attached to the final development plan application.

(1) ~~(1)~~ *Topographic map.* ~~In addition to the requirements of (A) above, a~~ boundary and topographic map shall be submitted, ~~and shall include~~

(2) *Tree survey.* A survey depicting the location, size and type of all trees (per the standards identified in Chapter ~~180~~175).

(3) ~~(2)~~ *Development schedule.* The development schedule shall contain the following information:

(a) ~~(a)~~ The order of construction of the proposed stages delineated in the development plan.

(b) ~~(b)~~ The proposed date for the beginning of construction of such stages.

(c) ~~(c)~~ The proposed date for the completion of construction on such stages.

(d) ~~(d)~~ The proposed schedule for the construction and improvement of common open space within such stages, including any complementary buildings.

(4) ~~(3)~~ *Deed restrictions.* Deed restriction proposals to preserve the character of the required common open space as set forth in §173.070-185.064. The deed restrictions shall include a prohibition against partition by any residential property owner.

(5) ~~(4)~~ *Legal instruments.* Instruments dedicating all rights-of-way, easements and other public lands shown on the final development plan from all persons having any interest in the land.

(6) ~~(5)~~ Title opinion. A title opinion from an attorney showing the status of the title to the site encompassed by the final development plan and all liens, encumbrances and defects, if any.

(7) *Performance Bond, Impact Fee Credit Agreements, or Proportionate Fair Share agreements, if applicable.*

(8) *Development Agreement.* A development agreement will be required to address impacts to public facilities, such as roads, stormwater, utilities, parks, and public safety infrastructure, for which the applicant will be required to improve as a result. Development agreements may also be required to memorialize development standards that do not get specified on the final development plan.

(B) *Required form and content for final development plan and preliminary plat.* A final development plan shall be submitted along with all of the material included in the approved preliminary development plan. No permit for construction of subdivision improvements shall be issued until the preliminary plat and development plan have been duly approved. The final development plan shall include the preliminary plan together with the following:

(1) *Written material.*

(a) *Development schedule.* A development schedule indicating the approximate date when construction of the PUD or stages of the PUD can be expected to begin and be completed.

(b) *Quantitative data.*

1. *Total number of dwelling units by type.*

2. *Total parcel size.*

3. *Proposed lot or building site coverage by building and structure.*

4. Proposed lot or building coverage by impervious surfaces, other than buildings and structures.
5. Gross and net residential density.
6. Proposed amount of open space.
7. Proposed acreage of public lands including all dedicated rights-of-way, easements, and other lands dedicated for public facilities and services.
8. Internal circulation plan depicting all proposed streets, alleys and ingress/egress locations.

(c) Updated public facility impact statement, including a concurrency management plan. A statement identifying any additional data or information that may have been gathered or calculated since the approval of the preliminary development plan, concerning impacts of the development on public facilities including strategy for meeting Part 8 of this Chapter, Concurrency Management System, requirements for each of the following:

1. Method and design for accommodating anticipated wastewater to be generated by the development;
2. Planned recreation and open space improvements;
3. Method and design improvements required to supply anticipated potable water needs;
4. System design for stormwater management projected improvements;
5. Traffic generation and traffic assignments together with proposed improvements to accommodate projected trips while maintaining adopted level of service standards;
6. Planned methods for accommodating projected solid waste generation;
7. Estimated number of school age children expected within the development and plans for accommodating their educational needs;
8. Estimated property tax or sales tax revenue generated by the project by phase; and
9. Any other positive or negative public facility impact.

(2) Graphic element of development plan.

(a) Plat. If the project involves the subdivision of land, then a preliminary plat prepared by a Florida registered surveyor or engineer shall be submitted in accordance with the provisions of §172.052.

(b) Site plan. If the project requires site plan approval, a site plan shall be submitted. The site plan shall be submitted in accordance with the provisions of §172.023. The stormwater water management plan meeting criteria of Chapter 177, Part 2, as well as other infrastructure components, including roadway improvements, water and wastewater facilities, and other scheduled infrastructure improvements shall be prepared by a Florida registered engineer. The site plan shall include maps, data and written statements necessary.

(c) General appearance. Graphic presentation of the general features of proposed structures, excluding single-family detached dwellings, including:

1. Floor plans and square footage of all multifamily and nonresidential buildings or structures; and

2. Elevations, sections and/or perspectives as necessary to indicate the basic architectural intent, the height of buildings and structures, and the general window and door arrangements.

(d) Dedication or reservations of land for public use. The location and size, in acres or square feet, of all areas to be conveyed, dedicated or reserved as open spaces, public parks, recreational areas, school sites, and similar public uses. The narrative shall demonstrate compliance with concurrency management requirements of **Part 8** of this chapter.

(e) Vehicular, pedestrian and bicycle circulation and parking. The existing and proposed circulation system of arterial, collector, and local streets including off-street parking areas, service areas, loading areas, and major points of access to public rights-of-way (including major points of ingress and egress to the development). Notations of proposed ownership — public or private — shall be included where appropriate. The existing and proposed pedestrian and bicycle circulation system, including its interrelationship with the vehicular circulation system indicating proposed treatments of points of conflict.

(f) Open space and landscape plan. A general landscape and grading plan indicating the proposed modifications in the topography and ground cover together with a plan for design of open space systems and landscaping. The landscape plan shall comply with open space, landscape and tree preservation requirements of this article and other applicable provisions of this code, especially article XIV.

(g) Information concerning adjacent lands. Information on adjacent areas sufficient to indicate the relations between the proposed development and the adjoining areas, including:

1. Land ownership within 300 feet of the exterior boundary of the property.
2. Existing land use and designation on the comprehensive plan future land use map.
3. Zoning classification.
4. Circulation system.
5. Density.
6. Public facilities.
7. Unique natural features.

(h) Additional information. Any additional graphic information required by the planning and zoning commission that is necessary to evaluate the character and impact of the proposed PUD.

(C) ~~(B)~~ Procedure.

(1) ~~(1)~~—A fee, as established by Resolution, ~~resolution pursuant to § 169.004~~ shall accompany the final development plan application ~~for the purpose of administration, additionally, engineering, plat filing, necessary copies and travel fees will be incurred.~~

(2) ~~(2)~~—The Planning and Zoning Board shall recommend the approval, approval subject to conditions, or disapproval of the final development plan based on ~~with the preliminary development plan~~, the sufficiency and accurateness of the required exhibits, and the requirements and purposes of this subchapter and any other applicable provision of this code of ordinances and any other regulation of

the city. The Planning and Zoning Board shall recommend the approval, approval subject to change, or denial of the final development plan.

~~(3) (3)~~—The City Council shall review the recommendations of the Planning and Zoning Board at a regular public hearing of the City Council and shall approve, approve subject to conditions, or deny the final development plan application. ~~The final development plan approval shall constitute a PUD rezoning enacted by Ordinance.~~ The final development plan shall be binding upon the land contained within the plan. Any proposed modifications to the final development plan shall be submitted to the ~~Growth Management Director~~ City Manager or designee for determination of departure. If determined to be a substantial deviation from the approved final development plan, the applicant must receive Final PUD approval from City Council for such deviation.

~~—(C) Recording of final development plan.~~

~~—(1) After approval by the City Council of the final development plan application, the City Clerk shall see that all requirements of Fla. Stat. Ch. 177 have been complied with before the final development plan is recorded in the public records of the county.~~

~~—(2) The transfer of, sale of, agreement to sell, or negotiation to sell land by reference to or exhibition of, or other use of a final development plan of a planned unit development, or portion thereof, that has not been given final approval by the City Council and recorded in the official records of the county is prohibited. The description by metes and bounds in the instrument of transfer or other documents shall not exempt the transaction from such prohibition.~~

~~(74 Code, § 25 132(h)) (Ord. 89 08, passed 4 27 89; Am. Ord. 2006 10, passed 2 2 06; Am. Ord. 2016 02, passed 1 19 16; Am. Ord. 2016 17, passed 4 21 16; Am. Ord. 2016 75, passed 11 17 16; Am. Ord. 2017 16, passed 2 16 17)~~

(D) Criteria for review: The burden of proof shall reside with the applicant/developer to demonstrate compliance.

(1) Compliance with subdivision regulations.

(2) Compliance with zoning regulations.

(3) Compliance with the comprehensive plan.

(4) Substantial conformity with preliminary development plan required. The final development plan shall be in substantial conformity with the approved preliminary development plan. In achieving substantial conformity, no change authorized by this subsection may cause any of the following:

(a) A change in the use or character of the planned unit development;

(b) An increase in overall coverage of structures;

(c) An increase in the intensity of use, or the density;

(d) An increase in the problems of traffic circulation and public utilities;

(e) A reduction in approved open space;

(f) A reduction in required pavement widths; or

(g) A violation of a specific requirement or condition of the land development code.

(5) Changes in final development plan. If a final PUD plan is submitted which includes changes from the approved preliminary development plan, the planning and growth management director shall review the plan to determine the effect of the PUD and consistency with applicable ordinances and make a recommendation to the planning and zoning commission. The City Manager or designee may approve minor site plan modifications as provided for in 172.030(I). The planning and growth management director may request that the planning and zoning commission determine whether any changes are of such significance that the preliminary development plan should be re-submitted to the planning and zoning commission for review and approval by the city council. In any case of doubt, the revised preliminary development plan shall be re-submitted for a recommendation by the planning and zoning commission and approval of the city council.

(6) Conditions. In approving a final development plan, the City Council may establish such conditions and may require such modifications as shall assure compliance with the planned unit development standards and regulations.

(7) Amendments of final development plans. Once a final development plan has been approved, and there is cause for amendment of the same, or any portion thereof, such amendment shall be processed in a like manner as the original submission. However, there shall be no requirement to file an amended preliminary development plan, unless the proposed amendment would so dictate.

(E) ~~(H)~~ Subdivision construction approval. Upon approval of the final development plan for a subdivision, the developer may apply to the city engineer for approval of the construction drawings of the proposed subdivision. The procedures shall be the same as outlined in §172.054, Construction of public improvements. ~~Final construction plans are not required to, but may, be submitted as part of the final development plan application. The applicant shall, however, provide sufficient detail in plans and proposals to permit the Council to ascertain the feasibility of future construction including infrastructure demand and supply issues.~~

§ 172.032. ~~§ 185.068~~ PHYSICAL REVIEW.

The city shall have the right to evaluate the physical layout, architectural characteristics and amenities of the planned unit development and to suggest changes or modifications designed to create compatibility and conformity in the variety of uses within the development to insure, protect and promote the health, safety and general welfare of the property owners of the planned unit development and the residents of the city. Failure to comply with the requirements of the approved PUD, any conditions imposed in its approval, including time conditions, shall constitute a violation of this article. Upon finding by the city council that the developer has failed to comply with the conditions of any phasing plans or prescribed time limits, the approval of the PUD shall be automatically terminated. Prior to continuing with the planned unit development, the developer shall reapply to the city council for approval to continue. The city council may authorize the petitioner to continue under the terms of the PUD and site plan approval or may require the developer to re-submit the application in conformance with any step outlined in the procedure for PUD approval. No subsequent plan or re-approval shall effect an increase in the overall project density, intensity or change in use as established in the site plan.

('74 Code, § 25-132(i)) (Ord. 89-08, passed 4-27-89)

§ 172.033. ~~§ 185.069~~ BUILDING PERMIT.

No building permit shall be issued by the city until the final development plan has been approved and duly recorded as provided in this subchapter. Prior to the use or occupancy of any portion of the planned unit development project, the developer must satisfy all the provisions of the final development plan stipulated herein and obtain all necessary permits and a certificate of occupancy.

('74 Code, § 25-132(j)) (Ord. 89-08, passed 4-27-89)

§ 172.034. ~~§ 185.070~~ BONDING.

The PUD shall follow the bonding procedures listed in §172.055 ~~§ 184.11 of the Code of Ordinances.~~

('74 Code, § 25-132(k)) (Ord. 89-08, passed 4-27-89; Am. Ord. 2016-02, passed 1-19-16; Am. Ord. 2017-16, passed 2-16-17)

§ 172.035. ~~§ 185.071~~ TERMINATION OR EXPIRATION OF A PDP AND PUD ZONING.

(A) (A)—Any owners of all or a portion of land that has been designated a planned unit development under the provisions of this subchapter can apply to the city for the termination of that portion of a stage within an approved ~~final~~ development plan within which his property is located if construction has not been commenced pursuant to such ~~final~~ development plan. The procedure for the termination shall be processed as that applicable to a zoning district change under this chapter ~~and any other applicable zoning ordinance.~~

(B) (B)—Failure of the developer to obtain building permits and substantially begin construction of the development contained within the approved preliminary development plan within five (5) years from the approval of the preliminary development plan shall cause the plan to expire. At the request of the applicant, and for good cause shown, the City Council may extend the period of approval of a preliminary development plan for a time certain not to exceed one (1) year. The preliminary development plan extension request may include approval for the entire planned unit development plan or any stage ~~file a final development plan application within the time periods specified in § 185.067 shall automatically revoke approval of § 185.066(B)(7), and, Upon expiration,~~ the site shall revert to the zoning classifications for which the property was zoned prior to the approval of the preliminary development plan. A notice of the revocation or expiration, containing a legal description of the site, shall be recorded in the official records of the county.

('74 Code, § 25-132(l)) (Ord. 89-08, passed 4-27-89; Am. Ord. 2016-02, passed 1-19-16)

§ 172.036. ~~§ 185.072~~ ENFORCEMENT.

In addition to any other method of enforcement, the city shall have the power to enforce the provisions of this subchapter by appropriate suit in equity.

('74 Code, § 25-132(m)) (Ord. 89-08, passed 4-27-89)

§ 172.037. RESERVED

§ 172.038. RESERVED

§ 172.039. RESERVED

PART 5. ZONING MAP AMENDMENT TO RAC PUD

§ 172.040. PROCESS.

Applications to rezone a property to Regional Activity Center (RAC) PUD shall follow the same process as rezoning to PUD (see Part 4 of this chapter) except for the following.

§ 172.041. RAC-PUD REQUIRED EXHIBITS

Processing a Preliminary Development Plan and a Final Development Plan for a RAC PUD shall require the same submittals as a PUD, in addition to the following.

(A) ~~(3)~~—Required Exhibits for RAC-PUDs Preliminary Development Plan. Application for planned unit developments on sites classified as Regional Activity Center (RAC) on the future land use map shall include the following content and submittal requirements.

(1) ~~(a)~~—RAC ~~c~~Concept plan. A RAC concept plan is a generalized plan that establishes the allowable land uses and the allowable development density or intensity ranges ~~as well as any corresponding development and design standards for all lands within the RAC zoning district.~~ The concept plan shall include:

~~The RAC concept plan shall consist of the graphic and/or textual information itemized in subsections 1. through 4. below.~~

(a) ~~1.~~—A general plan for the use of all lands within the proposed RAC. Such plans shall indicate ~~t~~the general location of residential areas (including maximum density and unit types), open space, parks, passive or scenic areas, and nonresidential areas (including maximum building square footage or other intensity maximums).

(b) ~~2.~~—A plan of vehicular and pedestrian circulation showing the general locations and right-of-way widths of roads, sidewalks, the capacity of the system and major access points to the external and internal thoroughfare network.

(c) ~~3.~~—A summary of allowable development, including. ~~The summary shall provide:~~

1. ~~a.~~—The total acreage of the RAC district and each phase, as may be proposed;

2. ~~b.~~—The acreage of areas proposed for specific land uses proposed to be allowed within the RAC district and phases proposed ~~in the concept plan~~, as may be applicable;

3. ~~c.~~—The acreage of open space or conservation areas within the RAC district and phases proposed ~~in the concept plan~~;

4. ~~d.~~—The minimum and maximum allowable residential density to be allowed within the RAC district and each phase proposed ~~in the concept plan, measured in residential dwelling units per acre~~; and

5. ~~e.~~—The minimum and maximum allowable nonresidential development intensity to be allowed within the RAC district and each phase, ~~measured in gross building square footage or other appropriate intensity measure.~~

~~(1) e. The RAC concept plan shall include a written analysis identifying consistency with the adopted comprehensive plan and how the proposed development is consistent with the intent of the RAC/PUD zoning category identified in Section (A).~~

(2) ~~4.~~ *Generalized regulations and development standards.* The application shall contain standards for development within for the RAC district and each phase, including the following: Development features not specifically addressed in the design standards must comply with the LDC. In the event of a conflict, the most stringent requirement shall apply.

(a) Principles of the development plan;

(b) ~~a.~~ An itemized list of uses proposed to be allowed in the RAC district by phase;

(c) ~~b.~~ Development and design standards governing the development of the RAC district and each phase which shall, at a minimum, address: g General lot dimensions and size;

(d) Transit development and mobility standards for streets, bicycle lanes, trails, and sidewalks, including proposed dimensions of internal streets, sidewalks, and other transportation facilities (such standards may be conveyed through annotated diagrams);

(e) Resource and activity-based open space provisions;

(f) Infrastructure and engineering development standards;

(g) Lighting standards;

(h) Signage standards; and

(i) ~~p.~~ Perimeter buffering, and landscaping standards.

~~e.~~ The RAC concept plan may establish additional development and design standards for other development and design characteristics and elements so long as these standards are consistent with the comprehensive plan.

(3) ~~d.~~ The RAC concept plan shall also include additional items identified at the pre-application conference by city staff that, by their nature, are unique to the specific location of the project or development proposal.

~~(1) e. The RAC concept plan shall include a written analysis identifying consistency with the adopted comprehensive plan and how the proposed development is consistent with the intent of the RAC zoning category identified in Section (A).~~

(4) ~~(b)~~ Site condition map(s) and data that include:

(a) ~~1.~~ A legal description of the properties included in the application with an associated boundary survey signed and sealed by a registered Florida land surveyor.

(b) ~~2.~~ Name of the RAC PD; the owners of all properties included in the RAC district; the agent for the RAC application, and address and phone number of the agent; and, date of drawing and of any subsequent revision.

(c) ~~3.~~ Scale, north arrow, and general location map showing relationship of the site to external uses, structures, and features.

~~(5) (e)–~~Natural Resource Assessment. The preliminary development application shall include an ~~An~~ environmental assessment of the property identifying major environmental features of the site and endangered wildlife and vegetation.

~~(6) (d)–~~Traffic Study. A traffic study meeting generally accepted engineering practices and in accordance with the City of Palm Bay Standardized Traffic Impact Study Guidance Manual examining the impact of the proposed development on the surrounding roadway network.

~~(B) (2)–~~Required exhibits for RAC PUD Final Development Plan. ~~Application content and submittal requirements.~~ In addition to the exhibits identified in §172.031(A), the following documents shall be attached to the final development plan application. The final development plan may pertain to an entire RAC-PUD district or one or more phases of the project. The final development plan shall include:

~~(1) (a)–~~RAC fFinal development plan. A ~~RAC final development plan is a~~ detailed plan that establishes the specific locations and boundaries for all lots to be developed, rights-of-ways, public easements and provides detailed development standards for all properties within the phase being reviewed.

~~The RAC final development plan shall consist of the graphic and/or textual information itemized in subsections 1. through 4. below.~~

~~(a) 1.–~~ A specific plan for the use of all lands within the proposed RAC PUD or phase. Such plans shall indicate the specific location and layout of residential areas (including maximum density and unit types), open space, parks, passive or scenic areas, and nonresidential areas (including maximum building square footage or other intensity maximums).

~~(b) 2.–~~ A plan of vehicular and pedestrian circulation showing the specific locations and right-of-way widths of roads, sidewalks, the capacity of the system and major access points to the external and internal thoroughfare network.

~~(c) 3.–~~ A summary of allowable development. The summary shall provide:

~~1. a.–~~ The total acreage of the ~~RAC~~ district and the specific phase for which final development plan approval is being sought;

~~2. b.–~~ The acreage of areas proposed for specific land uses proposed in the final development plan, as may be applicable;

~~3. c.–~~ The acreage of open space or conservation areas within the specific phase proposed in the final development plan;

~~4. d.–~~ The minimum and maximum allowable residential density to be allowed within the phase proposed, ~~measured in residential dwelling units per acre;~~ and

~~5. e.–~~ The minimum and maximum allowable nonresidential development intensity to be allowed within the phase, ~~measured in gross building square footage or other appropriate intensity measure.~~

~~(2) 4.–~~ Specific regulations and development standards applicable to the phase, including:

~~(a) Principles of the development plan;~~

~~(b) a.–~~ An itemized list of uses proposed to be allowed in the phase.

~~(c) b.~~ ~~Development and design standards governing the development of the phase which shall, at a minimum, address:~~ Lot dimensions and size;

~~(d) d~~ Dimensions of internal streets, sidewalks, and other transportation facilities (such standards may be conveyed through annotated diagrams);

~~(e) e~~ Resource and activity-based open space provisions,

~~(f) f~~ Perimeter buffering, and landscaping standards.

~~(g) g~~ Lighting standards;

~~(h) h~~ Signage standards; and

~~(i) i~~ Specific architectural design standards shall be provided.

~~e.~~ The ~~RAC~~ final development plan may establish additional development and design standards for other development and design characteristics and elements so long as these standards are consistent with the comprehensive plan.

~~(3) (b)~~ Site condition map(s) and data that include:

~~(a) 1.~~ A legal description of the properties included in the application with an associated boundary survey signed and sealed by a registered Florida land surveyor.

~~(b) 2.~~ Name of the RAC ~~PD~~; the owners of all properties included in the ~~RAC~~ district; the agent for the ~~RAC~~ application, and address and phone number of the agent; and, date of drawing and of any subsequent revision.

~~(c) 3.~~ Scale, north arrow, and general location map showing relationship of the site to external uses, structures, and features.

~~(4) (c)~~ Conservation Area Management Plan (CAMP). The preliminary development application shall include a CAMP which shall: An environmental assessment of the property identifying major environmental features of the site and endangered wildlife and vegetation and description of permitting in process or completed.

1. Identify all jurisdictionally defined wetlands and environmentally sensitive areas;

2. Provide for wildlife corridors;

3. Designate the property to be placed in conservation easements;

4. Promote interconnected linkage between existing conservation or jurisdictional areas, activity- or resource-based open space, and the land within the RAC; and

5. Provide a minimum buffer of 25 feet adjacent to all jurisdictional wetlands.

~~(5) (d)~~ Traffic Study. A traffic study meeting generally accepted engineering practices and in accordance with the City of Palm Bay Standardized Traffic Impact Study Guidance Manual examining the impact of the proposed development on the surrounding roadway network and the proposed improvements necessary to support the phase of development proposed in the final development plan.

~~(6) (e)~~ Services. Specific plans and designs for the provision of potable water and sanitary sewer, electric power, gas and other public utilities and services, as applicable.

~~(7) (f)~~ Maintenance. Identification of planned maintenance responsibility for all aspects of the development. Specifically identify all facilities proposed for maintenance by the city or other governmental entities.

~~(8) (g)~~ Exceptions. Identification of all exceptions to city construction and design standards proposed for the development. Exceptions include, but are not limited to, modification of required street or roadway right-of-way and pavement requirements, signage, location of utilities, design of utilities and drainage facilities, easement widths and locations and modifications proposed to any public improvement.

~~(9) (h)~~ Schedule. Proposed schedule for construction of all infrastructure and estimates of the buildout for the development phase proposed.

(C) Joint Approvals.

(1) Final construction plans are not required to, but may, be submitted concurrently as part of the final development plan application. The applicant shall, however, provide sufficient detail in plans and proposals to permit the Council to ascertain the feasibility of future construction including infrastructure demand and supply issues. [ADDED BY STAFF]

~~(2) (D)~~ Joint RAC concept and final development plan application. At the option of the applicant, a RAC PUD concept plan may be reviewed simultaneously with a RAC PUD final development plan. In addition, modifications to an approved ~~RAC~~ concept plan may be made as part of the approval process for a ~~RAC~~ final development plan. All applicable requirements for both the concept plan and the final development plan submittal applications must be addressed.

~~(D) (E)~~ Administrative process following final development plan approval. Physical development of the property must be consistent with the approved Concept plan and final development plan for the RAC. Administrative review and approval processes for subdivisions, site plans, building permits and other land development regulations shall ensure such consistency. Substantial changes, as determined by the ~~Growth Management Director~~ City Manager or designee, shall require re-submittal for final development plan approval. Minor changes not deemed to be substantial may be approved administratively.

~~(B) Establishment of a new RAC district and adoption of an associated concept plan.~~

~~(1) Eligibility for application. Applications for establishment of a new RAC zoning district shall demonstrate compliance with the following minimum eligibility criteria:~~

~~(a) Minimum area for a RAC zoning district. The minimum area required for an application to a RAC district shall be five (5) acres, except where the proposed use is required to be approved as a planned development or regional activity center use by the comprehensive plan wherein, there shall be no minimum area required.~~

~~(b) Configuration of the RAC zoning district. The RAC zoning district shall consist of a discrete area of land of sufficient width and depth to accommodate the proposed uses. Multiple parcels may be combined for purposes of establishing the RAC boundaries provided they are contiguous and under common ownership by the applicant(s). Separation by roadways, canals or similar dividers shall be considered contiguous for purposes of this section.~~

~~(c) Unified control/ownership. All properties included for the purpose of application to amend the official zoning map to create a RAC district shall be under the ownership or control of the applicant(s).~~

~~(2) Review process. The approval of a RAC zoning map amendment and associated concept plan application rests with the City Council. An application for a RAC zoning district shall include a concept plan; a RAC zoning district shall not be established unless and until an associated implementing RAC concept plan is approved by the City Council. Review of an application for a RAC zoning map amendment and associated concept plan shall be processed as follows:~~

~~(a) Pre-application conference. An application for a pre-application conference shall be submitted in accordance with established administrative policies and procedures.~~

~~(b) RAC concept plan application. A RAC concept plan application shall be submitted in accordance with the submittal requirements set forth in subsection (3).~~

~~(c) Planning and Zoning Board public hearing and recommendation. The Planning and Zoning Board shall conduct a public hearing on the RAC zoning map amendment and concept plan application and formulate findings supporting a recommendation to the City Council to approve, approve with conditions, or deny the application. The Board's recommendation shall be forwarded to the City Council for final action.~~

~~(d) City Council public hearing and disposition. The City Council shall conduct a public hearing on the RAC zoning map amendment and concept plan application. The Council's final action to approve, approve with conditions, or deny the application shall be based upon the recommendations of the Planning and Zoning Board, city staff, public testimony, and findings made at the public hearing. The decision of the City Council shall be final.~~

~~(e) Adoption of implementing ordinance. Council approval or approval with conditions for a RAC zoning map amendment and concept plan application shall be adopted into an implementing ordinance. The ordinance shall be adopted pursuant to state statutes and shall include a legal description of the property, a copy of the concept plan and any conditions placed on the approval by City Council.~~

~~(C) RAC final development plan. The RAC final development plan is a site and development plan consistent with and intended to implement a RAC concept plan. The final plan may pertain to an entire RAC district or one or more phases of the project. Final subdivision approval may be combined as part of the RAC final development plan.~~

~~(1) Review process. The approval of a RAC final development plan rests with the City Council. An application for a RAC final development plan shall be processed as follows:~~

~~(a) RAC final development plan application. A RAC final development plan application shall be submitted in accordance with the submittal requirements set forth in subsection (3).~~

~~(b) Planning and Zoning Board public hearing and recommendation. The Planning and Zoning Board shall conduct a public hearing on the RAC final development plan application and formulate findings supporting a recommendation to the City Council to approve, approve with conditions, or deny the application. The Board's recommendation shall be forwarded to the City Council for final action.~~

~~(c) City Council public hearing and disposition. The City Council shall conduct a public hearing on the RAC final development plan application. The Council's final action to approve, approve with conditions, or deny the application shall be based upon the recommendations of the Planning and Zoning Board, city staff, public testimony, and findings made at the public hearing. The decision of the City Council shall be final.~~

~~(d) Adoption of implementing resolution. Council approval or approval with conditions for a RAC final development plan application shall be adopted into an implementing resolution. The resolution shall be adopted pursuant to state statutes and shall include a legal description of the property, a copy of the final development plan and any conditions placed on the approval by City Council.~~

§ 172.042. RESERVED

§ 172.043. RESERVED

§ 172.044. RESERVED

§ 172.045. RESERVED

§ 172.046. RESERVED

§ 172.047. RESERVED

§ 172.048. RESERVED

§ 172.049. RESERVED

PART 6. § 184.05 SUBDIVISION APPLICATION AND APPROVAL PROCESS.

§ 172.050. SUBDIVISIONS AND LOT SPLITS

All future subdivisions of land within the corporate limits of the City shall be classified as either a "lot split" or a "subdivision," as defined herein, and shall be subject to the regulations of this code as they apply.

(A) Lot split. Any division of a lot or tract in a platted subdivision into two parcels that abut an accepted street right-of-way and does not require any off-site improvements to any roads, drainage system, or utilities and conforms to the improvements, design, and construction standards of this Land Development Code. Any tract of land that is divided as a lot split can only be further divided as a subdivision. [STAFF, DELETED REFERENCE TO CHAPTER III, PERFORMANCE CRITERIA]

(B) Subdivision. Any division not classified as a lot split.

§ 172.051. (A) CLASSIFICATION OF SUBDIVISIONS.

~~(1) Whenever any subdivision of land is proposed, before any contract is made for the sale of any part thereof, and before any permit for the erection of a structure in such proposed subdivision shall be granted, the subdividing owner, and or his/her their authorized agent, shall apply for and secure approval of such subdivision in accordance with the following procedure set forth herein.~~

(A) (a) Pre-application concept plan.

(B) (b) Preliminary plat.

(C) (c) Final subdivision plat.

~~(2) In instances where the subdivision of land involves no public improvements, the preliminary plat and final plat application may be combined.~~

~~(B) Submission dates; preliminary and final plat. Applications must be submitted to the Land Development office prior to 5:00 p.m. on the first day of the month to be processed for consideration by the Planning and Zoning Board the following month. If the first of the month happens to fall on a weekend or holiday the applications must be submitted prior to 5:00 p.m. on the previous working day.~~

~~(Ord. 96-05, passed 2-15-96; Am. Ord. 2016-32, passed 5-19-16)~~

~~§ 184.06 Preapplication conference/concept plan. ALREADY ADDRESSED IN SECTION 172.010~~

~~(A) Before submitting an application for preliminary subdivision approval, an applicant shall meet with city staff to discuss the conceptual plans and designs of the proposed subdivision. This preapplication meeting shall be coordinated through the Land Development Division and shall be held as soon as practicable. City staff representatives may include members from the following city agencies: land development; engineering; utilities (water and sewer); and fire. Concept plans provided by the applicant should include a general sketch of plans for development, including lot sizes, lot locations, street layout, utilities, amenities, surrounding property conditions, design themes, etc.~~

~~(B) The purpose of the preapplication conference is to provide an informal review and input in the formative stages of the subdivision design which should help to expedite applications and thus reduce plan design and development costs for the applicant.~~

~~(Ord. 96-05, passed 2-15-96; Am. Ord. 2016-32, passed 5-19-16)~~

~~§ 184.26 SPECIFICATIONS FOR DOCUMENTS; PREAPPLICATION CONCEPT PLAN.~~

~~Concept plans shall show in sketch form such information as is necessary to provide an informal discussion and review of the proposed subdivision. This information may include the proposed street pattern, typical lot sizes, stormwater management facilities in relation to existing natural conditions of the site and its surroundings, typical building sizes, proposed utilities, etc. Other general information such as existing site conditions, soil conditions, flood plan data, topography, vegetation and surrounding property conditions should also be noted. THIS COMES FROM THE NON-RES SUBDIVISION SECTION – REPEATS REQUIREMENTS ALREADY ADDRESSED IN OLD §184.07~~

~~(Ord. 96-05, passed 2-15-96)~~

~~§ 172.052. § 184.07 PRELIMINARY PLAT.~~

~~(A) (A) Application procedure. After a preapplication conference has been held, an applicant can submit an application for preliminary plat approval. Such an application must be made on forms available from prescribed by the City's ~~Land Development office~~. The application must be complete and accompanied by two (2) copies of the preliminary plat as city described in these regulations, a CD or other approved and electronic copy of the preliminary plat, a filing fee, and a list of all owners of adjacent property and/or owners within 500 feet of the subject property ~~directly opposite of the proposed subdivision. Such property owner information shall be obtained from~~ based on the most recent information as provided by the Bravard County Tax Property Appraiser's rolls.~~

~~(B) § 184.27 PRELIMINARY PLAN Submittal requirements. The preliminary plat shall be at a minimum scale of one inch to 200 feet, with a preferred scale of one inch to 100 feet and shall be designed in conformity~~

with the design standards established in **Chapter 172** of the Palm Bay Code of Ordinances. The preliminary plat shall contain the following information:

- ~~(A) Submission. Three (3) copies of the preliminary plat, a CD or other approved electronic copy of the plat and the required supplementary material shall be submitted to the Land Development office along with a completed written application. The preliminary plat shall be at a scale of two hundred (200) feet to one (1) inch or larger, with a preferred scale of one hundred (100) feet to one (1) inch.~~
- ~~(B) Design and required information. The preliminary plat shall be designed in conformity with the design standards established herein and shall contain the following information:~~
 - (1) (1) The title and certifications, the present tract designation according to official records in the office of the appropriate recorder, the title under which the proposed subdivision is to be recorded, which shall not duplicate or closely approximate the name of any other subdivision in the incorporated area of the city. Also ~~with~~ the names and addresses of the owners, and a notation stating the approximate acreage and the scale and north arrow;
 - (2) (2) All streets, including their names and right-of-way widths;
 - (3) (3) Other rights-of-way and easements, including their locations, widths and purposes;
 - (4) (4) The location of utilities, if not shown on other exhibits;
 - (5) (5) The lot lines, lot numbers and block numbers;
 - (6) (6) The sites, if any, to be reserved or dedicated for parks, playgrounds or other public uses;
 - (7) (7) The site, if any, for multi-family dwellings, non-residential uses, shopping centers, churches, industries or other nonpublic uses, exclusive of single-family dwellings.
 - (8) (8) Site data, including but not limited to, the number of ~~residential~~ lots, typical lot sizes and the approximate number of acres in parks, open space and landscape tracts;
 - (9) A Boundary Survey done less than 12 months from date of application shall be required when submitting the Preliminary Plat.
 - (10) (9) The protective covenants whereby the subdivider proposes to regulate land use in the subdivision and otherwise protect the proposed development, to include responsible parties for maintenance of landscaping, drainage and stormwater facilities, and rights-of-way.
 - (11) (10) Existing conditions such as boundary lines, adjacent easements showing their locations, widths and purposes, streets on or adjacent to the subdivision showing their right-of-way widths and locations, adjacent utilities including the location, ~~size and invert elevation of sanitary sewer, the location and size of water mains, and the location of fire hydrants, electric poles, telephone poles and street lights.~~ If ~~water mains and sewers are not on or adjacent to the tract,~~ the directions and distance to and size of the nearest ~~ones~~ utilities shall be shown, ~~indicating the invert elevation of the sewers.~~
 - (12) (11) The approximate direction and gradient of the ground slope on adjacent land shall be shown including any embankments or retaining walls. Adjacent platted land shall be referred to by book and page number and subdivision title.

(13) A vicinity sketch at a scale no smaller than one inch equals 2,000 feet, showing the location of the boundary lines and distance of the land proposed for subdivision in reference to other areas of the city. The section, township, and range of the site and the legal description of the site shall also be included.

(14) Additional guarantees. Guarantees in the amount equal to 125% of the sum of engineering and construction costs based on the applicant's engineer's estimate or contract bid prices. The guarantee shall be in one of the following forms:

(a) Cash deposit.

(b) Personal bond with irrevocable letter of credit.

(c) Surety bond (having a Best's rating of AAA).

(Ord. 96-05, passed 2-15-96; Am. Ord. 2016-32, passed 5-19-16)

(C) ~~(B)~~—Application ~~processing~~ review. The City Manager or designee ~~Land Development Division~~ shall process and coordinate the review of the preliminary plat application by the appropriate city departments in accordance with §Section-166.033, Florida Statutes ~~F.S.~~ The appropriate city departments are to review and comment on the submitted information. Written comments from the city departments are to be returned to the ~~Land Development Division~~ City Manager or designee to be incorporated into a staff report ~~generated by the Land Development Division~~.

(D) ~~(C)~~—Public meetings. Once the application is determined to be sufficiently complete and meets all the regulations required by the City, a preliminary plat application shall be heard by the Planning and Zoning at the next available regular meeting. Courtesy notice letters of the meeting ~~are to~~ shall be sent to the property owners within 500 feet of ~~abutting and opposite the subject~~ property ~~ies of the proposed subdivision~~. Failure to mail or receive such courtesy notice shall not affect any action or proceedings taken ~~however~~. Notice of such a meeting shall also be posted on the property for which subdivision is sought in accordance with §51.07.

(E) ~~(D)~~—Preliminary plat approval.

(1) ~~(1)~~—After ~~the Planning and Zoning Board has~~ reviewed of the preliminary plat, the city staff report with its recommendations, ~~and~~ testimony, and exhibits submitted at ~~the~~ its public meeting, the Planning and Zoning Board shall recommend approval, approval with conditions, or disapproval of the preliminary plat to the City Council in accordance with the timelines set forth in §Section-166.033, Florida Statutes ~~F.S.~~

(2) ~~(2)~~—The City Council shall then approve, approve with conditions, or ~~disapprove~~ deny the preliminary plat based on the Planning and Zoning Board recommendations, the City staff report, and the testimony and exhibits submitted at its next available public hearings.

(F) ~~(E)~~—Effective period of preliminary plat approval. The approval of a preliminary plat shall be effective for a period of ~~one year~~ 36 months at the end of which time final plat approval on the subdivision must ~~have been~~ be obtained from the City Council, ~~although the plat need not yet be signed and filed with the County Clerk of Records~~. Any preliminary plat not receiving final plat approval within the period of time set forth herein shall be null and void, and the applicant ~~developer~~ shall be required to resubmit a new preliminary plat ~~for preliminary~~ approval subject to all new zoning and subdivision regulations. At a minimum, the first

final plat phase of a multiple phase final engineering plan and preliminary plat shall be recorded within 36 months of the approval date of the final engineering and preliminary plat. Each subsequent phase that is not recorded within the initial 36 months shall be recorded in intervals not greater than 12 months from the previous phase's recording date. Failure to record any subsequent phase within said 12-month timeframe shall null and void the final engineering and preliminary plat, construction permit, and final plat of the remaining unrecorded phase(s) of the final engineering plan and preliminary plat.

(G) Extension. One (1) administrative extension of one year may be approved by the City Manager or designee following a written request by the applicant within 60 days of the date of expiration.

(H) ~~(F)~~ Zoning regulations. Every plat shall conform to existing zoning regulations and subdivision regulations applicable at the time of proposed final approval, except that any plat which has received preliminary approval shall be exempt from any subsequent amendments to the zoning ordinance rendering the plat nonconforming as to bulk or use, provided that the final ~~approval plat~~ is obtained recorded within the ~~one-year effective~~ period of the preliminary plat.

(I) ~~(G)~~ Effect of approval of preliminary plat. Approval of the preliminary plat shall not constitute approval to file ~~of~~ the final plat with the County Clerk of Courts. Additionally, approval of the preliminary plat shall not be construed as authorizing the transfer of ownership of lots in reference thereto but ~~it~~ shall only be deemed an expression of approval of the layout submitted on the preliminary plat as a guide for the preparation of the final plat and the administrative review and approval of construction plans. Preliminary plats shall not be recorded with the County Clerk of Courts. [WE MADE CHANGES BASED ON MICHAEL'S COMMENTS]

(J) Relationship of deeds, covenants, and other private restrictions to the regulations for the subdivision of land. It is not intended by the provisions of these regulations to repeal, abrogate, annul, or in any way, impair, or interfere with private restrictions placed upon property by deed, covenant, or private agreement, except that where this chapter imposes higher standards than imposed by such deeds, covenants, or private agreements, then the provisions of this chapter shall apply. The city shall not be responsible for enforcement of such deeds, covenants, or agreements.

(K) Construction of public improvements. Upon approval of preliminary plat by City Council, the applicant may submit an application for a Construction / Site Work Permit or post a performance bond to the City in accordance with the procedures established herein.

(Ord. 96-05, passed 2-15-96; Am. Ord. 2016-32, passed 5-19-16)

§ 172.053. § 184.08-FINAL SUBDIVISION-PLAT.

(A) ~~(A)~~ Application procedure. Following the approval of the preliminary plat, the applicant ~~if he/she wishes to proceed with the subdivision, shall~~ may submit an application for final plat approval ~~to the Land Development office.~~ Such an application must be made on forms provided by ~~available from~~ the City's ~~Community Planning and Economic Development office.~~ The application must be complete and accompanied by ~~two (2) copies of the final plat and construction plans as described in these regulations, a CD or other approved~~ an electronic copy of the preliminary and final plat, construction plans, construction schedule, a filing fee, and a list of all property owners ~~of adjacent property and/or property directly opposite of the proposed subdivision~~ within 500 feet of the subject property. ~~Such property owner~~

~~information shall be obtained from~~, based on the most recent [information as provided by the Brevard County Tax-Property Appraiser's rolls](#).

~~(B) (B)~~—Final plat to conform to preliminary plat. The final plat shall conform substantially to the preliminary plat as approved, and if desired by the subdivider, it may constitute only that portion of the approved preliminary plat which ~~he/she~~[they](#) proposes to record and develop at the time, if such portion conforms to the requirements of this chapter. [Substantive changes to the preliminary plat shall only be done with the written consent of the applicant.](#)

~~§ 184.28 Submittal requirements~~ **FINAL SUBDIVISION PLAT AND CONSTRUCTION PLANS.**

~~(A) Submission. Three (3) copies of the final plat, a CD or other approved electronic copy of the plat and construction plans shall be submitted with a completed application to the Land Development office. The final plat shall be drawn in ink on tracing cloth on sheets twenty-four (24) inches wide by thirty (30) inches long and shall be at a scale of two hundred (200) feet to one (1) inch or larger with a preferred scale of one hundred (100) feet to one (1) inch. Where necessary, the plat may be on several sheets accompanied by an index sheet.~~

~~(C) (B) Design and contents of the final plat.~~ The final plat and construction plans for the subdivision shall be designed and in conformity with the design standards established ~~herein~~ [in Chapter 177 of the Palm Bay Code of Ordinances](#) and must show the following information:

~~(1)~~ [The plat shall be at a minimum scale of one inch to 200 feet, with a preferred scale of one inch to 100 feet, including certified as-built construction drawings, and the legal instruments demonstrating specific performance guarantees. Where necessary, the plat may be on several sheets accompanied by an index sheet.](#)

~~(2) (1)~~—The final plat shall be prepared [by a licensed Professional Surveyor and Mapper](#) in conformance with the requirements of the applicable ~~Florida Statute~~ [Chapter 177, Part 1, F.S., as may be amended from time to time](#);

~~(3) (2)~~—The Primary Control Points [\(PCP\)](#), approved by the City ~~Engineer~~ [Surveyor](#), or descriptions and “ties” to such control points to which all dimensions, angles, bearings and similar data on the plat shall be referred;

~~(4) (3)~~—The tract boundary lines, right-of-way lines of streets, easements and other rights-of-way, and property lines of residential lots and other sites, with accurate dimensions, bearing or deflection angles, and radii, arcs and central angles of all curves;

~~(5) (4)~~—The name and right-of-way width of each street or other right-of-way;

~~(6) (5)~~—The location, dimensions and purpose of any easement;

~~(7) (6)~~—Numbers or letters to identify each lot or site. [To ensure legibility, all lettering upon the plat shall be at minimum 0.10-inch text height \(0.10 × scale of the plat\). excluding the following plat features;](#)

[\(a\) Vicinity map.](#)

[\(b\) Index map.](#)

~~(8) (7)~~—The purpose for which sites, other than residential lots, are dedicated or reserved;

- (9) ~~(8)~~—The location of [Permanent Reference Monuments \(PRM\)](#). State plane coordinates shall be shown on a minimum of two successive permanent reference monuments and any section corners shown. The coordinates shall be based on the North American Datum 1983, latest adjustment, [International Footmonuments](#);
- (10) ~~(9)~~—Reference to any recorded subdivision plat of adjoining platted land by plat book, page and number;
- (11) [A Title Opinion or Property Information Report showing that the applicant is the landowner. Documentation showing signing authority of the managing member \(s\) and Documentation that paid taxes are current.](#)
- (12) ~~(10)~~—A certification of a surveyor as to the accuracy of the [Chapter 177, Part 1, F.S., required Boundary](#) survey and plat;
- (13) [All Right of Way tracts are dedicated to the Homeowners’ Association and all maintenance responsibilities shall not be the City of Palm Bay’s.](#)
- (14) [Declaration of covenants dedicating streets, rights-of-way and any sites for public uses in accordance with the acceptance and maintenance of such established in this chapter.](#)
- (15) [Copies of all other applicable permits granted by external agencies, which shall remain valid during the period of construction and until the Certificate of Completion is issued by the City.](#)
- (16) [Acceptance and dedication of public improvements for new right of way items are to be requested by the applicant or applicant in accordance with the process established in this chapter.](#)
- ~~—(11) A certification of title showing that the applicant is the landowner;~~
- ~~—(12) Statements by the owner dedicating streets, rights-of-way and any sites for public uses.~~
- (17) ~~(B) Self-imposed restrictions.~~—If the subdivider places restrictions on any of the land contained in the subdivision greater than those required by the zoning ordinance or these regulations, such restrictions or reference thereto may be required to be indicated on the subdivision plat, or the City Council may require that deed restrictions be recorded with the [Clerk of the Circuit Court](#)~~County Clerk of Records~~ and a copy filed with the city, including any subsequent amendments to the restrictions.
- ~~—(C) Design and contents of the construction plans. The construction plans shall show the following information:~~
- ~~—(1) The title, scale, north arrow and datum;~~
- ~~—(2) The plans of streets and drainage showing grades approved by the City Engineer and any other public improvements; such plans shall be drawn to city standard scales and elevations and shall be based on datum plane approved by the City Engineer and shall be in conformance with the design specifications of the Public Works Manual of the city.~~
- ~~—(3) Two copies of stormwater calculations.~~
- ~~—(4) A tree survey meeting the requirements of Chapter 180, trees and shrubbery.~~

~~(18) (C)~~ Application ~~processing~~ review. The ~~processing~~ review of the final plat application will be substantially the same as the processing of the preliminary plat application described previously in ~~§172.052~~ §184.07. The application shall include digital copies of all closure reports including boundary, lots, tracts, etc. along with three print sets.

~~(D) (D)~~ Public meetings. The final plat application shall be heard by the ~~Planning and Zoning Board~~ City Council at the next available regular meeting. Courtesy notice letters of the meeting are to be sent to the property owners ~~of abutting and opposite properties within 500 feet~~ of the ~~proposed subdivision~~ subject property. Failure to mail or receive such courtesy notice shall not affect any action or proceedings taken ~~however~~. Notice of such a meeting shall also be posted on the property for which subdivision is sought in accordance with §51.07.

~~§ 184.16 DESIGN IMPROVEMENT AND RESERVATION STANDARDS.~~

~~(E) (A)~~ Conformance to applicable rules and regulations.

~~(1) (1)~~ In addition to the requirements established herein, all subdivision plats shall comply with the following laws, rules and regulations:

~~(a) (a)~~ All applicable statutory provisions.

~~(b) (b)~~ The City Comprehensive Plan.

~~(c) (c)~~ The zoning ordinance of the city.

~~(d) (d)~~ The regulations established in the public works manual.

~~(e) (e)~~ The regulations and rules of any appropriate state or county agency (such as, St. Johns River Water Management District, Florida Department of Transportation, the Environmental Health Services Division, etc.)

~~(2) (2)~~ Plat approval may be withheld if a subdivision is not in conformity with the above guides or policy and purposes of these regulations.

~~(C) Monuments. Concrete monument reference markers shall be placed at all block corners and set by a licensed professional surveyor.~~

~~(D) Subdivision name. The proposed name of the subdivision shall not duplicate, or too closely approximate phonetically, the name of any other subdivision in the greater city area.~~

(Ord. 96-05, passed 2-15-96; Am. Ord. 2016-32, passed 5-19-16)

~~(F) (E)~~ Final approval. ~~After the Planning and Zoning Board has reviewed the final plat and construction plans, the city staff report with its recommendations, and testimony and exhibits submitted at the public meeting, the Planning and Zoning Board shall forward its recommendations for final action to the City Council. Upon receiving the recommendation of the Planning and Zoning Board including the city's staff report, the City Council shall hold a public meeting and shall act to either approve, approve with conditions, or disapprove such application.~~ The City Council shall approve, approve with conditions, or deny the final plat based on the staff report and the testimony and exhibits submitted at the public meeting. The Final Plat shall not be signed nor recorded until all conditions are completed to the satisfaction of and inspection by the City. Upon adoption of a resolution approving the plat, the mayor shall execute the plat

and the plat shall be presented to the clerk of the circuit court by the city clerk for recording. No final plat shall be approved by the city council and no plat shall be recorded until the required improvements have been installed or performance guarantee posted pursuant to the requirements of this article. No such required improvements including streets, drainage and other required facilities shall be accepted and maintained by the city, unless and until the same, including the final plat, have been duly inspected and recommended for approval by the City's Public Works Director or their designee. In addition, the city attorney shall review all performance guarantees and the legal content of all final plats.

(Ord. 96-05, passed 2-15-96; Am. Ord. 2016-32, passed 5-19-16)

(Ord. 96-05, passed 2-15-96; Am. Ord. 2016-32, passed 5-19-16)

~~§ 184.09 SIGNING AND RECORDING OF SUBDIVISION PLAT.~~

(G) ~~(A)~~—Signing of the plat. The final plat shall be signed and recorded following the issuance of a certificate of completion for construction of all public improvements or upon posting of a performance bond.

(1) ~~(1)~~—When installation of public improvements is required, the City shall endorse approval on the final plat after all conditions of approval on the plat have been satisfied and all improvements satisfactorily completed and inspected by the City in accordance with the procedures established herein. There shall be written evidence or certificate of completion that the required public facilities have been installed in manner satisfactory to the City's Public Works Director, or designee, and that the necessary dedication of public lands and improvements has been accomplished in accordance with §172.057 of the Palm Bay Code of Ordinances. When a bond is required, city officials (City Clerk, City Surveyor, and Mayor) shall endorse approval on the plat after the bond has been approved by the City Attorney and City Engineer, and all the conditions of approval pertaining to the plat have been satisfied.

(2) ~~(2)~~—When a bond is required, the City shall endorse approval on the final plat after the performance bond has been approved by the City Attorney and City Engineer, and all the conditions of approval pertaining to the final plat have been satisfied in accordance with the procedures established herein. When installation of improvements is required, city officials (City Clerk and Mayor) shall endorse approval ~~on~~of the plat after all conditions of approval on the plat have been satisfied and all improvements satisfactorily completed. There shall be written evidence or certificate of completion that the required public facilities have been installed in manner satisfactory to the City's Public Works Director ~~and/or his/her~~their designee and that the necessary dedication of public lands and improvements has been accomplished.

(3) Completion of improvements prior to issuance of building permit. When the improvements are to be completed prior to the recording of the plat, it shall be expressly understood that no building permits shall be issued for any structure on a lot wherein the final plat has not been approved and recorded in a manner prescribed in this ordinance. The approval to construct required improvements shall not be construed as authority for the sale of lots in reference thereto.

(4) Surety. When the required improvements are to be completed after recording under guarantees, as provided in this ordinance, the final plat upon submittal shall be accompanied by the following: A certified cost estimate shall be prepared by the applicant's engineer and shall include the cost of all required improvements or shall include contract bid for all work required to complete the required improvements. Such certified costs shall be subject to the approval of the city engineer.

(5) Additional guarantees. Guarantees in the amount equal to 125% of the sum of engineering and construction costs based on the applicant's engineer's estimate or contract bid prices. The guarantee shall be in one of the following forms:

(a) Cash deposit.

(b) Personal bond with irrevocable letter of credit.

(c) Surety bond (having a Best's rating of AAA).

(H) ~~(B)~~—Recording of the subdivision *final* plat. Upon the signing of the reproducible mylar of the plat by the appropriate city officials, the subdivider shall file the mylar of the final plat with the County Clerk of Records within ~~thirty (30)~~ days of the date of the last signature. After filing the plat with the County Clerk of Records, the subdivider shall provide the City Clerk's office with the book and page a reproducible mylar of the recorded plat and three ~~(3)~~ full-size prints of the final plat. ~~The mylars and prints are then to be forwarded to the appropriate city departments for their files.~~

(I) Time restriction on development. The final plat shall be recorded prior to the 36 months expiration date of the final engineering and preliminary plat approval. Unless otherwise stipulated below, failure to record the final plat within this time limitation shall mean the final engineering and preliminary plat, construction permit, and final plat are null and void. At a minimum, the first final plat phase of a multiple phase final engineering plan and preliminary plat shall be recorded within 36 months of the approval date of the final engineering and preliminary plat. Each subsequent phase that is not recorded within the initial 36 months shall be recorded in intervals not greater than 12 months from the previous phase's recording date. Failure to record any subsequent phase within said 12-month timeframe shall null and void the final engineering and preliminary plat, construction permit, and final plat of the remaining unrecorded phase(s) of the final engineering plan and preliminary plat.

Any preliminary plat not receiving final plat approval within the period of time set forth herein shall be null and void, and the applicant shall be required to resubmit a new preliminary plat for approval subject to all new zoning and subdivision regulations. One administrative extension of one year may be approved by the City Manager or designee following a written request by the applicant within 60 days prior to the date of expiration.

(Ord. 96-05, passed 2-15-96; Am. Ord. 2016-32, passed 5-19-16)

§ 172.054. CONSTRUCTION OF PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS.

(A) Application procedure. Concurrently or following the approval of the preliminary plat, the subdivider may submit an application for construction plan review and approval to the City for the purpose of constructing public improvements prior to final plat approval. Such an application must be made on forms provided by the City and shall include construction plans/drawings and a construction schedule.

(B) Construction plans to conform to plat. The construction plans shall conform substantially to the preliminary plat as approved, and if desired by the subdivider, it may constitute only that portion of the approved preliminary plat which public improvements are desired.

- (C) Design and contents of the construction plans. The construction plans shall conform to the technical specifications and design standards contained in Chapter 177 of the Palm Bay Code of Ordinances, where appropriate and applicable.
- (D) Signed and sealed. Construction plans shall be reviewed and accepted by the City Engineer and signed and sealed by the Engineer of Record.
- (E) Approval. Construction plans shall be administratively reviewed and approved following the final approval of the preliminary plat.
- (F) Construction authorization. Following construction plan approval, the subdivider shall submit an application for a site work permit prior to beginning any construction of public improvements. The City Manager or designee will coordinate the review of the site work permit application and the pre-construction / pre-site work meeting prior to the issuance of such permit. The applicant shall be required to submit copies of all outside agency permits, as may be required, with the site work permit application. Commencement of any site work or construction, to include clearing and grading, prior to the issuance of a site work permit is expressly prohibited. All required public improvements shall be made at the applicant's expense, without reimbursement by the city.
- (G) Inspection of public improvements. The City Public Works Department shall provide for the inspection of required public improvements during construction and ensure their satisfactory completion. The applicant shall pay the city an inspection fee as established by resolution pursuant to **§ 169.011**. No certificate of completion, building permits, or certificate of occupancies shall be issued until the inspection of public improvements is complete in accordance with the construction plans and to the satisfaction of the City. If the Public Works Department inspector finds that any of the required improvements have not been constructed in accordance with the construction plans, the applicant shall be responsible for completing the improvements. Whenever the cost of the improvements is covered by a performance bond, the applicant and the bonding company shall be severally and jointly liable for completing the improvements according to specifications.
- (H) Certificate of completion. Following satisfactory inspection of the improvements, the applicant shall be required to submit as-builts for such improvements to the City. The City's issuance of a certificate of completion shall certify that the subdivider has completed the construction of all necessary public improvements in substantial conformance with the plat. The applicant shall be required to post a maintenance bond in accordance with the procedures established herein.
- (I) Acceptance and dedication of public improvements. Following issuance of the certificate of completion, the City shall accept the public improvements in accordance with the procedure and process established in **§172.057**, procedure for acceptance and maintenance of public improvements.

~~§ 184.10 CONSTRUCTION APPROVAL.~~

- ~~(A) Commencement of construction prior to approval of plat. No construction of any kind shall be permitted prior to final subdivision approval by the City Council.~~
- ~~(B) Construction authorization. Prior to beginning any construction of the proposed subdivision, the applicant must have a preconstruction meeting with the Public Works Department. Authorization from the~~

~~City Engineer in the form of a construction permit must also be obtained before any construction may begin.~~

~~(C) Clearing. Prior to commencement of clearing and/or land alteration activities, the applicant must receive the required Site Work Permit from the Land Development Division.~~

~~(Ord. 96-05, passed 2-15-96; Am. Ord. 2016-32, passed 5-19-16)~~

§ 172.055. § 184.11 IMPROVEMENTS AND PERFORMANCE AND MAINTENANCE BONDS.

Approval of the preliminary plat and construction plans shall authorize the subdivider to either complete construction of required improvements or bond the required improvements in accordance with the procedures established herein prior to submitting the final plat for approval by City Council.

(A) (A) Performance bond. As a condition for approval of a final plat by the City Council where public improvements have not been constructed and accepted by the City, the subdivider ~~may~~ shall be required to deposit with the City Clerk a performance bond or other security binding the subdivider to payment to the city to assure completion of all ~~streets, drainage and other~~ public improvements both on site and off site as ~~may be required~~ identified on the final plat.

(1) Where a performance bond is required, the subdivider shall submit to the City a bond agreement for review and acceptance by the City. The subdivider shall submit a non-expiring bond or other security ~~will be~~ in the amount of one hundred twenty-five percent (125%) of the value of all public improvements to be certified by the Engineer of Record and to the satisfaction of the City Engineer and City Attorney.

(2) The City Council shall consider the value of the performance bond and the value of all performance bonds held by the City to determine whether to take on additional liability until such time the public improvements are constructed~~may conditionally approve the final plat to become effective at such time as the required bond or other security shall be deposited with the City Clerk within a time fixed by the City Council.~~ Upon approval by City Council, the final plat shall be conditioned upon posting a performance bond or other security with the City Clerk. The bond shall be executed by the subdivider as principal and may have at least one (1) good and sufficient surety approved by the city. It is the purpose and intent of this section that the subdivider provide such security as the city shall deem to be reasonably necessary to assure completion. The requirement of a surety on the bond shall be at the discretion of the City Council; ~~however, before the City Council accepts a bond or other security, it must first obtain approval from the City Engineer as to the amount and approval from the City Attorney as to the form of the bond or other security.~~ A performance bond not posted with the City Clerk within the effective period of the preliminary plat shall render the approved final plat null and void.

~~(B) Completion of improvements. If a performance bond is not required, all applicants shall be required to complete, in accordance with the City Councils' decision and to the satisfaction of the City Engineer all public improvements and lot improvements of the subdivision as required in these regulations and to dedicate the same to the city free and clear of all liens and encumbrances on the property prior to city officials signing the plat. The City may allow incremental drawdown of the performance bond as improvements are made.~~

~~(B) (G)~~ *Maintenance Bonds.* After completion of improvements and exception of dedication, a two (2) year maintenance bond or other security will be required in the amount of twenty-five percent (25%) of all dedicated Public Improvements. The applicant shall be required to maintain all improvements in the subdivision until acceptance of such improvements by the city in accordance with the procedures established in §172.057 of the Palm Bay Code of Ordinances. The Public Works Department shall be responsible for the processing and release of maintenance bonds under this section.

~~(C) (C)~~ *Temporary improvement.* The applicant shall build and pay for all costs of temporary improvements required by the city and shall maintain the same for the period specified by the city. Prior to construction of any temporary facility or improvement, the applicant developer shall file with the local government a separate suitable bond for temporary facilities, which bond shall ensure that the temporary facilities will be properly constructed, maintained and removed.

~~(D) Costs of improvements.~~ All required improvements shall be made by the applicants at his/her expense, without reimbursement by the city.

~~(E) Failure to complete improvement.~~ For subdivisions for which no performance bond has been posted, if the improvements are not completed within the period specified by the City Council at the time of final plat approval, the approval shall be deemed to have expired. In those cases when a performance bond has been posted and required improvements have not been installed within the terms of such performance bond, the City Council may declare the bond to be in default and require that all the improvements be installed regardless of the extent of the building development at the time the bond is declared to be in default.

~~(F) Acceptance of dedication offers.~~ Acceptance of formal offers of dedication of public improvements (such as streets, public areas, parks, etc.) shall be in accordance with the procedure and process established in Chapter 182, procedure for acceptance and maintenance of public improvements.

(Ord. 96-05, passed 2-15-96; Am. Ord. 2016-32, passed 5-19-16; Am. Ord. 2016-74, passed 11-17-16)

~~§ 184.12 INSPECTION OF IMPROVEMENTS.~~

~~(A) General procedure and fees.~~ The City Public Works Department shall provide for the inspection of required public improvements during construction and ensure their satisfactory completion. The applicant shall pay the city an inspection fee as established by resolution pursuant to § 169.004, and the subdivision plat shall not be signed by city officials unless such fee has been paid at the time of application. No building permits, certificate of occupancies, or certificates of completion shall be issued until all fees are paid. If the Public Works Department inspector finds that any of the required improvements have not been constructed in accordance with the city's construction standards and specifications, the applicant shall be responsible for completing the improvements. Wherever the cost of the improvements is covered by a performance bond, the applicant and the bonding company shall be severally and jointly liable for completing the improvements according to specifications.

~~(D) (B)~~ *Release of performance bond; certificate of completion.* The city will not release nor reduce a performance bond until the City Engineer has submitted a certificate stating that all the required improvements have been satisfactorily completed and until the applicant's engineer or surveyor has certified to the City Engineer and City Surveyor, through the submission of a detailed "as-built" survey of the subdivision, indicating location, dimensions, materials and other information required by the City

Engineer, that the layout of the line and grade of all public improvements is in accordance with construction plans for the subdivision. Upon such approval and recommendation, the city may [issue the certificate of completion, cause the maintenance bond to be posted, and](#) accept the improvements for dedication in accordance with the process and procedures outlined in [§172.057](#) ~~Chapter 182, public improvements~~ [of the Palm Bay Code of Ordinances](#).

(Ord. 96-05, passed 2-15-96; Am. Ord. 2006-09, passed 2-2-06)

~~§ 184.13 MAINTENANCE OF IMPROVEMENTS.~~

~~The applicant shall be required to maintain all improvements in the subdivision until acceptance of such improvements by the city according to the process and procedure outlined in Chapter 182, public improvements.~~

~~(Ord. 96-05, passed 2-15-96)~~

[§ 172.056.](#) ~~§ 184.14~~ DEFERRAL OR WAIVER OF REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS.

The City Council may defer or waive at the time of final approval, subject to appropriate conditions, the provision of any or all such improvements as, in its judgment, are not requisite in the interests of the public health, safety and general welfare, or which are inappropriate because of inadequacy or lack of connecting facilities.

(Ord. 96-05, passed 2-15-96)

[§ 172.057.](#) ~~CHAPTER 182:~~ PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS [ACCEPTANCE AND MAINTENANCE](#)

~~§ 184.13 MAINTENANCE OF IMPROVEMENTS.~~

[The applicant shall be required to maintain all improvements in the subdivision until acceptance of such improvements by the city according to the process and procedure outlined in this section](#) ~~Chapter 182, public improvements~~.

[\(Ord. 96-05, passed 2-15-96\)](#)

~~PROCEDURE FOR ACCEPTANCE AND MAINTENANCE~~

~~§ 182.01 CREATION.~~

~~There is created a subchapter to be entitled "Procedures for Acceptance and Maintenance of Public Improvements."~~

~~('74 Code, § 19½-21) (Ord. 82-24, passed 7-1-82)~~

~~§ 182.02 DEFINITION.~~

~~For the purpose of this subchapter, the following definitions shall apply unless the context clearly indicates or requires a different meaning.~~

~~PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS. Physical changes made to raw land to make the land more usable, including structures placed on or under the land surface, grading, street pavements, sidewalks, curbs, gutters, drainage structures, water mains, sanitary sewer facilities, utility lines, traffic control devices, street signs, landscaping, permanent control points (PCP), permanent reference monuments (PRM) or any other structure or facility proposed to be accepted for maintenance by the public.~~

~~(74 Code, § 19½-22) (Ord. 82-24, passed 7-1-82)~~

~~(A) § 182.03-Request by applicant.~~

~~(1) (A) Contents.~~ Prior to any public improvement(s) being submitted for acceptance for perpetual maintenance by the city, a written request must first be submitted to the city. Such request must describe the type, location and purpose of such improvement(s) to include, as applicable, the legal description of the area to be served by the improvement(s), the detailed operation of the improvement(s), and the public purpose served by the improvements. Any acceptance of public improvements shall meet all requirements contained in this Chapter with the exception of the following public improvement types:

~~(a) (1)~~—Water, wastewater and reclaimed water~~reuse~~ improvements may be accepted administratively by the Utilities Department provided the conditions of acceptance are contained within a written Service Agreement or other contract. The Utilities Department has the right to not accept such improvements administratively and may require that the applicant's request follow the procedures contained in this Chapter.

~~(b) (2)~~—Subdivision improvements, where the City Council has agreed to accept identified public improvements during the Preliminary or Final Subdivision process, may be accepted administratively provided the applicant has constructed all improvements in conformance with approved subdivision construction plans. The reviewing Departments have the right to not accept such improvements administratively and may require that the applicant's request follow the procedures contained in this Chapter.

~~(2) (B) Meeting of City Council.~~ ~~Such~~The request shall be heard at a regularly scheduled meeting of the City Council. The City Council, in its determination of whether to accept such improvements, shall consider the following:

~~(a) (1)~~—The public necessity and purpose of accepting the improvement(s) to promote the health, safety, and welfare of the public;

~~(b) (2)~~—The existing physical condition of the improvement(s);

~~(c) (3)~~—The extent to which the improvement(s) meets city or site construction and design requirements or standards;

~~(d) (4)~~—The city's financial ability and other capabilities to maintain such improvement(s) given its size, location, condition, and design;

~~(e) (5)~~—The characteristics of the existing development to be served by the improvement(s), to include the type of development and density of development.

~~(3) (C) Determination of need to accept improvement(s).~~ Following consideration of the above factors, the City Council shall make a determination of the need to accept the improvement(s), whether the city has the financial ability to maintain the improvement(s), the impact acceptance of the improvement(s) will have upon other municipal services, the public purpose to be served by accepting the improvement(s), the general capability of the city to maintain the improvement(s), whether the health,

safety, and welfare of the general public will be served by acceptance of the improvement(s), and its intent to accept the improvement(s), or to accept the improvement(s) with conditions.

~~(4) (D)~~ *Written request, accompanying documents.* Following a determination of the City Council of its intent to accept the public improvements(s) for maintenance, the applicant shall submit a written request to the City Manager with two (2) copies and one (1) complete set of “as-builts” which shall be reproducible. The request shall specifically request consideration of the following items:

~~(a) (1)~~ Staff recommendations for approval of construction of the public improvement(s);

~~(b) (2)~~ Release of the applicant from the performance bond or surety for construction of the public improvement(s);

~~(c) (3)~~ A review of the project with the city staff on the issue of completion and acceptance of the public improvement(s) for maintenance purposes;

~~(d) (4)~~ A request for the city to accept and maintain public improvement(s);

~~(e) (5)~~ The applicant shall attach the engineer's certificate of completion with the application.

~~(f) (6)~~ A review of a two (2) year maintenance bond as per ~~Chapter 184~~ [§172.055](#).

~~(5) (E)~~ *Applicability of provisions.* The provisions of this section shall apply to all improvements proposed to be accepted by the city for maintenance unless a written request with “as-built” drawings has been submitted to the city prior to the effective date of this section.

('74 Code, § 19½-23) (Ord. 82-24, passed 7-1-82; Am. Ord. 89-16, passed 5-18-89; Am. Ord. 2012-49, passed 1-3-13; Am. Ord. 2016-31, passed 5-19-16)

~~—§ 182.04~~ *Initial consideration.*

~~(B)~~ The city staff shall review, inspect and test the public improvements at the applicant's expense. The type of tests shall be selected by the city, shall be carried out by firms selected by the city and shall be carried out in accordance with the standards, practices and procedures generally utilized by the industry for such tests. Review of the public improvements by the city staff is to be based upon the applicable city, county, state ~~and/or~~ industry construction specifications that set the standards for the public improvement contained in the request. The construction standards that will apply will vary as follows:

~~(1) (A)~~ For public improvements that were constructed, placed, or installed prior to July 1, 1982, the construction, placement or installation shall be in accordance with the approved construction plans and the applicable construction standards in effect at the time of construction. If, however, review, inspection or testing yield results not in keeping with the above, corrective measures shall be made in accordance with the approved construction plans and the applicable construction standards in effect at the time of construction by the ~~applicant~~ [developer](#).

~~(2) (B)~~ For public improvements to be constructed within the subdivided plats that were recorded prior to July 1, 1982, but have not been constructed, and for which construction plans have been prepared and approved, the applicable construction standards will be the standard construction specifications of the city and made a part of this chapter, by reference, including, but not limited to, Divisions 2, 3, 4 and 5 thereof as those specifications exist today or as they may be amended from time to time by the city engineer with the exception of those improvements where construction has begun within two (2) years

from July 1, 1982. In those instances, the construction standards shall be in accordance with the approved construction plans and the applicable construction standards in effect at the date of platting and plan approval. Upon the written request of a ~~applicant~~ ~~developer~~ for good cause, the City Manager may extend, for a maximum period of one (1) year, the initial construction date for the applicable units under this section. GOOD CAUSE, for purposes of this division (B), shall include the inability to obtain or receive approval of necessary permits and approvals from the regulatory agencies that regulate such construction.

~~(3) (C)~~—For public improvements to be constructed within subdivided plats that were recorded prior to the effective date of this ~~sub~~chapter but for which construction plans have not been approved, the applicable construction standards will be the standard construction specifications of the city adopted and made a part of this ~~sub~~chapter, by reference, including but not limited to Divisions 2, 3, 4 and 5 thereof as those specifications exist today or as they may be amended from time to time by the City Engineer.

~~(4) (D)~~—For public improvements to be constructed under other than any of the foregoing conditions, the applicable construction standards will be the standard construction specifications of the city adopted and made a part of this ~~sub~~chapter, by reference, including but not limited to Divisions 2, 3, 4 and 5 thereof as those specifications exist today or as they may be amended from time to time by the City Engineer.

~~(5) (E)~~—In all of the foregoing cases, where modification of the requirements of the city's current standard construction specifications is being accepted, the modification is not intended to exempt compliance with any and all other applicable existing provisions of this code of ordinances and any other ordinance of the city.

~~(6) (F)~~—It is the express intent of the City Council to permit the City Engineer, in his sound discretion, to amend specifications from time to time in accordance with the standards as established by good engineering practices and industry standards that pertain to the particular improvement offered for acceptance by the ~~applicant~~ ~~developer~~.

('74 Code, § 19½-24) (Ord. 82-24, passed 7-1-82; Am. Ord. 83-9, passed 3-7-83)

~~Editor's note: Current construction standards are set forth in Chapter 170 of this code of ordinances and in other applicable provisions of this Title XVII.~~

~~—§ 182.05 Unacceptable improvements.~~

~~(C)~~ If the public improvement is determined to be unacceptable, the City Manager shall have the following options:

~~(1) (A)~~—Recommendation to the City Council that they invoke any posted bond or surety;

~~(2) (B)~~—Direction of the city staff to continue working with the applicant on a correction list system to complete the public improvements ~~and~~/or bring them up to all applicable standards, all at the applicant's expense;

~~(3) (C)~~—Recommendation to the City Council that the public improvement not be accepted.

('74 Code, § 19½-25) (Ord. 82-24, passed 7-1-82)

~~§ 182.06~~ *Report to Council.*

(D) Upon completion of the review, inspection, testing and approval of the public improvement, the City Manager shall report the findings to the City Council. In no event shall the staff review process exceed sixty (60) days unless testing of the public improvement cannot be completed within such time period, in which event the time period shall be extended an additional sixty (60) days.

('74 Code, § 19½-26) (Ord. 82-24, passed 7-1-82)

~~§ 182.07~~ *Acceptable improvements.*

(E) If the public improvement is determined to be acceptable, the City Council may consider a resolution accepting the construction of the public improvements specifically listed in the resolution, releasing the performance bond as to those acceptable public improvements and requiring the applicant to maintain the specified public improvements. Adoption of the resolution shall be contingent upon the applicant posting a maintenance bond or adequate security as determined by the Council, for the maintenance period prescribed by the City Council. For those public improvements that were constructed prior to July 1, 1982, the maintenance period will be for one (1) year; for those public improvements constructed after July 1, 1982, the maintenance period will be for two (2) years. The amount of the maintenance bond must be approved by the City Council and the City Attorney as to the form. Such resolution shall also be contingent upon the applicant complying with the provisions of Subsection (F) below § 182.08. Such bond or security shall be filed with the City Clerk.

('74 Code, § 19½-27) (Ord. 82-24, passed 7-1-82; Am. Ord. 85-31, passed 7-11-85)

(F) ~~§ 182.08~~ *Review for final acceptance for maintenance.*

(1) ~~(A)~~ Not less than ninety (90) days and not more than one hundred and fifty (150) days prior to the expiration of the two (2) year maintenance period, the applicant shall request the city to review, reinspect and retest the public improvement, at the applicant's expense, for purposes of final acceptance of the improvement for maintenance purposes.

(a) ~~(1)~~ Such retesting shall be based upon standards, practices and procedures that are generally utilized in the industry that pertain to the public improvement sought to be accepted.

(b) ~~(2)~~ If the public improvement is determined to be acceptable, the City Council shall consider adoption of a final resolution accepting the maintenance of the improvements specifically listed in the resolution and establish the effective date as the termination of the two (2) year maintenance period.

(c) ~~(3)~~ If the public improvement is determined to be unacceptable, the City Manager shall have the following options:

1. (a) ~~(a)~~ Recommendation to the City Council that they invoke the posted maintenance bond or security;

2. (b) ~~(b)~~ Direction of the city staff to continue working with the applicant on a correction list to complete the improvement at the applicant's expense;

3. (c) ~~(c)~~ Recommendation that the City Council take any other action it may deem appropriate, including the rejection or tabling of the request.

~~(2) (B)~~—In the event an applicant fails to either request review of the applicable improvement or complete the required corrections under this section within the appropriate time, such applicant will be required to post and additional one (1) year maintenance bond or security. If the applicant fails to post such a bond or security within thirty (30) days before expiration of the existing bond or security, the City Council may rescind its prior resolution accepting construction of the improvements, invoke the posted maintenance bond or security, if appropriate, and the applicant shall be required to recommence beginning with the requirements as established in [Subsection \(A\) above](#) ~~§ 182.03~~.

('74 Code, § 19½-28) (Ord. 82-24, passed 7-1-82)

—~~§ 182.09~~ *Necessity of council action to assume maintenance responsibility.*

~~(G)~~ Any resolution that provides for the city to finally assume responsibility to maintain any public improvement shall not become final until the expiration of any maintenance period required hereunder. The maintenance of public improvements shall never become the responsibility of the city unless and until final acceptance by the City Council by appropriate resolution at the end of the two (2) year maintenance period.

('74 Code, § 19½-29) (Ord. 82-24, passed 7-1-82)

—~~§ 182.10~~ *Fees.*

~~(H)~~ The fee charged to the applicant shall be on the basis of actual time spent reviewing the public improvement by the city staff and any actual testing costs. The maximum amount an applicant may be charged for staff review time, not including actual testing costs, is set by adopted City Fee Schedule per request to review a public improvement. The charge per hour of individual staff time is a flat rate of twenty dollars (\$20.00) per hour. The minimum charge for any review is twenty dollars (\$20.00). Fees shall be paid as invoiced by the Finance Department of the city and before the City Council's consideration of the public improvement.

('74 Code, § 19½-30) (Ord. 82-24, passed 7-1-82; Am. Ord. 2016-31, passed 5-19-16)

~~§ 172.058. § 184.15~~ **ISSUANCE OF BUILDING PERMIT.**

~~(A) (A)~~—No building permits shall be issued for any building in the subdivision, except as provided for below, until a certificate of completion has been issued by the City Engineer certifying that the subdivision improvements have been completed and the subdivision has been recorded with the [Clerk of the Circuit Court](#) ~~County Clerk of Records~~. The City Engineer shall notify the City Building Department of when a subdivision has received a certificate of completion and thus is open for building.

~~(B) (B)~~—Model homes, ~~and~~ developer owned, ~~and~~ builder owned homes may be permitted prior to the subdivision improvements receiving a certificate of completion provided the [model homes or model display group are in compliance with §174.021 of this code and the](#) following conditions are adhered to:

~~(1) (1)~~—A stabilized, all weather roadway is provided for fire apparatus to access all structures proposed for permitting;

~~(2) (2)~~—A water source for fire apparatus use shall be provided and approved by the City of Palm Bay Fire Marshal;

~~(3) (3)~~—A waiver of liability shall be provided to the City;

- ~~(4) (4)~~—All homes proposed for permitting under this section shall maintain a minimum of one hundred (100) feet distance from existing structures not within the subdivision;
- ~~(5) (5)~~—A maximum of ~~twenty-five (25)~~ 50 percent of structures will be permitted under this section per approved final subdivision plat;
- ~~(6) (6)~~—The final subdivision plan shall be recorded with 2 and addresses assigned by Brevard County.
- ~~(7) (7)~~—The builder must bond the estimated cost of demolition of the structures should the subdivision improvements not be completed, 2 and the building permit expires or is revoked. Said demolition must occur within one (1) year of notification from the City or the City shall demolish the structures utilizing the bond proceeds.
- (8) Permanent power and sewer shall be 100% functional or an acceptable alternative approved by Building and Fire is provided.
- (9) In no case shall a Certificate of Occupancy be granted for a home until the certificate of completion has been issued.

(Ord. 96-05, passed 2-15-96; Am. Ord. 2005-47, passed 9-15-05; Am. Ord. 2016-32, passed 5-19-16; Am. Ord. 2017-50, passed 7-20-17; Am. Ord. 2020-43, passed 7-16-20; Am. Ord. 2020-77, passed 11-19-20; Am. Ord. 2022-67, passed 6-16-22)

~~§ 184.32 Variances.~~ DELETED PER CAO

~~(A) General. Where the City Council finds that undue hardships or practical difficulties may result from strict compliance with these regulations and/or the purposes of these regulations may be served to a greater extent by an alternative proposal, it may approve variances to these subdivision regulations so that substantial justice may be done and the public interest secured, provided that such variance shall not have the effect of nullifying the intent and purpose of these regulations. The City Council may approve low impact development designed stormwater systems that vary from the design standards above provided the development is certified under the City of Palm Bay's Green Development Incentive Program.~~

~~(B) Procedures. A petition for any such variance shall be submitted in writing by the subdivider at the time when the preliminary plat is filed for the consideration of the City Council. The petition shall state fully the grounds for the application and all of the facts relied upon by the petitioner.~~

~~(Ord. 96-05, passed 2-15-96; Am. Ord. 2010-88, passed 1-6-11)~~

~~§ 184.34 MINOR SUBDIVISIONS.~~

~~(A) Minor subdivisions. Division of such parcels into no more than ten (10) lots, that comply with the following criteria, shall be considered a minor subdivision and shall be administratively reviewed in two (2) stages: 1) preliminary plat review; and 2) construction plan and final plat review. A minor subdivision may be approved for a division of land if the following conditions are met:~~

~~(1) All proposed lots are for detached single family residential lots.~~

~~(2) Any proposed street may not exceed one thousand three hundred twenty (1,320) feet in total length and the new street shall directly connect to an existing public or privately maintained right-of-way.~~

~~(3) All lots being created shall have fee simple access on a public or privately maintained street.~~

- ~~(4) All lots shall meet the minimum lot frontage area and dimensional requirements for the zoning district in which they are located.~~
- ~~(5) The subdivision shall be all inclusive and shall not consist of more than one (1) phase of development.~~
- ~~(B) Re-plats or subdivisions that do not require the creation of new streets or right-of-way and are not located within a Special Flood Hazard Area may be reviewed under an application for final plat review and approval. A lot grading plan, drainage plan, and wetlands delineation, if applicable, shall be included with the final plat for review.~~
- ~~(C) Exemptions. The following are exempt from the subdivision platting process subject to conformance to all other land development regulations, including but not limited to, lot design and lot drainage requirements of the Land Development Code.~~
- ~~(1) The division of one (1) parcel or lot into no more than two (2) lots, where both of the proposed lots meet the minimum frontage requirements abutting a public or privately maintained road and there is no change in street lines or easements.~~
- ~~(D) Provision of water and sewer. A minor subdivision may be developed under the following parameters:~~
- ~~(1) Parcels with city water available to them, meaning existing water lines running along the parcel's frontage or across the street that the parcel has frontage upon, may be exempt from providing city sewer if existing sewer lines are not located within one quarter (¼) mile of the parcel. This distance shall be measured using existing road right-of-ways. For such a parcel of land, the lots in the minor subdivision shall be a minimum of one half (½) acre in size. The subdivision must connect to the city water system.~~
- ~~(2) Parcels with city water available to them, and existing sewer lines located within one quarter (¼) mile of the parcel, must provide sewer to each lot, regardless of the size of the lots in the subdivision. The subdivision must connect to the city water system.~~
- ~~(3) Parcels located within areas that do not have either water or sewer lines available to them shall be required to provide both water and sewer to the subdivision, unless each lot is a minimum of one (1) acre in size. If both water and sewer are brought to the site, then the minimum lot size shall be consistent with what is provided for in the applicable Zoning District.~~
- ~~(Ord. 2016-55, passed 8-16-16; Am. Ord. 2017-40, passed 6-1-17)~~

§ 172.059. SECTION 184.35 SIMPLE LOT SPLIT/ LOT RECONFIGURATION.

~~—A) Simple lot split.~~

- (A) The subdividing of a tract, lot or parcel into only two lots (one new lot and the remainder) is allowed if each lot abuts a publicly maintained street which has been duly dedicated and accepted by the city and/ or a privately maintained right-of-way, no new streets are created, and there is no change in the length or alignment of an existing street.
- (1) ~~1~~ Simple lot splits do not require the formal platting process but shall be reviewed and approved by the City Manager or designee~~Growth Management Director's >> City Manager's << designee~~; and
- (2) ~~2~~ Simple lot splits approved by the city manager's designee shall be recorded in public records; and

- ~~(3) 3~~ If required due to noncompliance or nonconforming conditions, the applicant shall provide the necessary right- of-way to bring the applicable roadway to standards; and
- ~~(4) 4~~ No property shall be subdivided pursuant to this section more than once per year; and
- ~~(5) 5~~ For purposes of this section, the ownership interest in the portion of the lot which abuts a publicly or privately maintained street must be fee simple ownership.

~~(B) B~~ *Lot reconfigurations.* Reconfigured lots shall adhere to the following:

- ~~(1) 1~~ Lot reconfigurations do not require a formal platting process but shall be reviewed by the city manager' s designee; and
- ~~(2) 2~~ Lot reconfigurations approved by the city manager' s designee shall be recorded in public records; and
- ~~(3) 3~~ The lot lines are reconfigured to be in compliance with current regulations; and
- ~~(4) 4~~ The number of reconfigured lots is less than or equal to the number of existing lots; and
- ~~(5) 5~~ No easements existing on the subject property would need to be modified, unless approval is granted by the city manager; and
- ~~(6) 6~~ The combined area of the new lots is equal to the combined area of the existing lots; and
- ~~(7) 7~~ Each new lot abuts a publicly maintained street which has been duly dedicated and accepted (-or a privately maintained right- of-way); and
- ~~(8) 8~~ No new streets are created and there is no change in the length or alignment of an existing street.

~~(C) C~~ *Lot split procedures.*

- ~~(1) 1~~ Application. Application for a lot split shall be in a form prescribed by the City. The application shall contain the following:
 - ~~(a) 1~~ A legal description and survey of the lot to be divided;
 - ~~(b) 2~~ A legal description of the two parcels to be created;
 - ~~(c) 3~~ A legal description and dedication of any easements for the new parcels;
 - ~~(d) 4~~ A unity of title, in a form approved by the city attorney, unifying adjacent parcels and lots if the division of the original lot results in a nonconforming parcel;
- ~~(2) 2~~ *Submittal.*
 - ~~(a) 1~~ A cover letter describing the project, identifying the project contact person(s) and any other information relevant for city staff review. If the applicant is other than the legal owner, the applicant's interest shall be indicated and the legal owner's authority to apply shall be included in a certified legal form the lot split application).
 - ~~(b) 2~~ Completed application form.
 - ~~(c) 3~~ All applicable fees per as outlined in the fee schedule.
 - ~~(d) 4~~ Owner authorization (if applicable).

(e) 5) Copies of a lot split survey (current property survey, the proposed lot reconfiguration and legal description, signed and sealed, not more than one year old, by a land surveyor registered and licensed in the state, each sheet of the lot split package shall be the same size shall be no larger than 24 inches by 36 inches).

(3) Review procedures. City staff shall review all applications for a lot split to ensure conformance with the comprehensive plan and the City Code of Ordinances. The lot split may not result in the creation of a nonconforming lot. All lots created by a lot split shall have area, frontage, width, and depth required by the zoning district in which said lots are located and shall be reviewed to assure that the lots continue to conform to the requirements of this Chapter.

(4) Approval. Upon determination that the request for a lot split is consistent with the comprehensive plan and the code of ordinances, the City Manager or designee shall approve the application.

(5) Recording. Upon approval of the lot split, the applicant shall record the legal description of the lots created, any unity of title, and any dedication of easement with the clerk of the circuit court.

(D) Exemptions.

(1) The following activities shall be exempt from the provisions of this chapter.

(a) Lot creation. Creation of equal or larger building sites from lots of record.

1. The combination or recombination of all or a portion of previously created parcels of record where the newly created or residual parcels comply with all applicable zoning district dimensional criteria or, where applicable, the regulations governing nonconformities.
2. The combination or recombination of all or a portion of previously platted parcels of record are exempt where none of the newly created or residual parcels contain less area, width, or depth than the smallest of the original parcels of record being combined and no streets of any kind or public easements are created, changed or extinguished.

(b) Boundary settlements. Any conveyance between adjoining landowners if:

1. The purpose of the conveyance is to adjust or settle the common boundary line between adjoining landowners;
2. The deed of conveyance or other legal instrument states such purpose and is recorded in the Official Records of Brevard County; and
3. The resulting parcel(s) conform to the applicable zoning district dimensional criteria.

(2) Any division of land for the purpose of conveying land to any federal, state, or local government entity or agency or public utility, provided such conveyance is accepted by the grantee by an instrument recorded in the Public Records of Brevard County.

(3) Any division of land by order of a court of competent jurisdiction.

(4) Any conveyance for the purpose of correcting an error made in the language used in an original conveyance.

§ 172.060. § 184.36-ENFORCEMENT AND PENALTIES.

(A) ~~(A)~~—It shall be the duty of the ~~Director of Growth Management~~City Manager or designee to enforce the provisions of this chapter and to bring to the attention of the City Code Enforcement Board any violations or lack of compliance.

(B) ~~(B)~~—The Code Enforcement Board shall have recourse to such remedies in law and equity as may be necessary to ensure compliance with the provisions of these regulations.

(Ord. 96-05, passed 2-15-96; Am. Ord. 2016-32, passed 5-19-16; Am. Ord. 2016-55, passed 8-16-16)

§ 172.061. ~~§ 184.30 RESUBDIVISION REPLATTING~~ OF LAND.

For any change in a map of an approved or recorded subdivision plat, if such change affects any street layout shown on such plat or map, or any lot line, or if it affects any map or plan legally reached prior to the adoption of any regulations controlling subdivisions, such parcel shall be approved by the City Council by the same procedure, rules and regulations as for a subdivision.

(Ord. 96-05, passed 2-15-96)

§ 172.062. RESERVED

§ 172.063. RESERVED

§ 172.064. RESERVED

§ 172.065. RESERVED

§ 172.066. RESERVED

§ 172.067. RESERVED

§ 172.068. RESERVED

§ 172.069. RESERVED

PART 7. VACATING PLATS AND RIGHTS-OF-WAY

§ 172.070. ~~§ 184.31~~ VACATING OF PLAT.

(A) ~~(A)~~—Any plat or part of any plat may be vacated by the owner of the premises, at any time before the sale of any lot therein, by a written instrument, to which a copy of such plat shall be attached, declaring the same to be vacated. Such an instrument shall be approved by the City Council in accordance with the procedures established in ~~Fla. Stat.~~ Chapter 177, Part I, F.S., as may be amended from time to time, if the Council finds the vacation of the plat is in the public interest. Such instrument shall then be recorded with the County Clerk of Records.

(B) ~~(B)~~—When lots have been sold, the plat may be vacated in the manner herein provided by all the owners of lots in such plat joining in the execution of such writing.

(Ord. 96-05, passed 2-15-96)

§ 172.071. ~~CREATING, IMPROVING, ALTERING AND VACATING STREETS~~ RIGHT-OF-WAY

~~—§ 179.015 Power of council.~~

(A) The City Council may, upon its own motion, upon the request of any agency of the city, the state or the federal government, or upon the written petition of any person or persons owning property abutting any street located within the city limits, cause any street right-of-way to be ~~closed, created, improved, widened, straightened, diverted, narrowed or~~ vacated. All Council actions that would create new or change existing right-of-way lines, under this chapter, require public hearings.

('74 Code, § 20-13) (Ord. 83-23, passed 4-7-83; Am. Ord. 2007-94, passed 10-18-07; Am. Ord. 2008-17, passed 4-3-08; Am. Ord. 2016-30, passed 5-19-16)

~~—Section 179.016 Conditions governing application;~~

(B) procedures.

(1) ~~A~~ All requests for creating, improving, altering, and vacating City rights-of-way shall be made by verified written petition, in an application filed with City, including, but not limited to the following:

(a) ~~1~~ A boundary survey and description of the property to be vacated (Subject Property). The boundary survey needs to show the location of any improvements and encroachments within the property to be vacated. The boundary survey and description must be prepared by a professional surveyor and mapper licensed in the state of Florida.

(b) ~~2~~ A legal sketch of description.

(c) ~~3~~ All property owners within five hundred (500) feet of the Subject Property shall be transmitted a courtesy notice by U. S. Mail which shall provide the following: date, time, and location of public hearing; type of petition considered at the public hearing; and location where the petition may be reviewed. Petitioner must request a radius map package from Brevard County.

(d) ~~4~~ A certification from the petitioner that the proposed change will not deprive other property owners of access to and from their property.

(e) ~~5~~ Letters or certificates from all public utilities that the vacation of right- of-way will not interfere with services being provided nor encroach on any utility easements.

(f) ~~6~~ A statement of justification for approval of petition.

(g) ~~7~~ A letter of authorization when the applicant is not the property owner.

(h) ~~8~~ All fees have been paid for the application, mailing, and sign cost associated with said request.

(2) ~~B~~ Once a complete application request has been received by City Staff, a review of the petition will be administered verifying that the following steps have been taken prior to being placed on a City Council agenda:

(a) ~~1~~ The requested creation, improvement, alteration, or vacation is consistent with the Transportation Element of the City's Comprehensive Plan.

(b) ~~2~~ The right- of-way does not provide the sole access to any property. Remaining access shall not be by easement unless otherwise permitted in a planned unit development.

(c) ~~3~~ The proposed creation, improvement, alteration, or vacation would not jeopardize the current or future location of any utility.

~~(d) 4)~~ The proposed creation, improvement, alteration, or vacation is not detrimental to the public interest.

~~(C) § 179.017~~ Notice of hearing.

~~(1) (A)~~ Before vacating a street ~~taking any action on creating, improving, publicly dedicating or vacating a right-of-way~~, the city shall first hold a public hearing and fifteen (15) days written notice shall be given ~~as follows~~: to all property owners within five hundred (500) feet of the subject property.

~~(2) (B)~~ Notice shall also be by publication once in a newspaper of general circulation in the city, and if there be no newspaper of general circulation published in the city, the City Council shall cause the notice to be published in a like manner in a newspaper of general circulation published in the county. Publication shall be at least ten (10) days prior to the date of the hearing, and service by publication shall be verified by affidavit of the publisher and filed with the City Clerk.

~~(3) (C)~~ For all requests, the City shall post a sign at the approximate location of the ~~closure~~ street vacation at least fifteen (15) days prior to the public hearing.

~~(4) (D)~~ The costs of providing notice of the public hearing shall be the responsibility of the applicant.

('74 Code, § 20-14) (Ord. 83-23, passed 4-7-83; Am. Ord. 2007-94, passed 10-18-07; Am. Ord. 2008-17, passed 4-3-08; Am. Ord. 2016-30, passed 5-19-16)

~~—§ 179.018~~ Council action.

~~(D)~~ The City Council, in its sole discretion, shall make a final determination on the application for ~~closure or~~ vacation subsequent to the public hearing. ~~In the case of a vacation, t~~he action shall be quasi-legislative in nature. ~~In the case of a closure, the action shall be quasi-executive in nature.~~

~~(1) (A)~~ After the public hearing, the City Council may, by appropriate ordinances, take such action for which notice was previously given.

~~(B) After the public hearing for a closure request, the City Council may, by resolution, take such action for which notice was previously given.~~

~~(C) When the City Council is acting upon a request for creation or widening or improvement of a street, whether public or private, the proposed ordinance shall require a dedication of such street to the appropriate persons, depending upon its proposed use as a public or private street. However, nothing herein shall be construed as creating an obligation upon the city to perform any act of construction or maintenance within such dedicated areas, except when such obligation is voluntarily assumed by the city.~~

~~(2) (D)~~ When the City Council is acting upon a request for vacation ~~or narrowing~~ of a public ~~street~~ right-of-way, to the extent to which the street-right-of-way is vacated ~~or narrowed~~, such action shall operate as revocation of acceptance thereof by the City Council. However, the right-of-way and easement therein of any lot owner shall not be impaired by such action.

('74 Code, §20-15) (Ord. 83-23, passed 4-7-83; Am. Ord. 2007-94, passed 10-18-07; Am. Ord. 2008-17, passed 4-3-08; Am. Ord. 2016-30, passed 5-19-16)

~~(E) § 179.019~~ Notice of passage.

(1) ~~(A)~~—Notice of the adoption of such ordinance by the City Council shall be published one (1) time, within thirty (30) days following its adoption in one (1) issue of a newspaper of general circulation published in the city, and if there be no newspaper published in the city, the City Council shall cause the notice to be published in a newspaper of general circulation published in the county.

(2) ~~(B)~~—A certified copy of an ordinance that changes right-of-way lines shall be sent by the City Clerk to the Clerk of the Circuit Court of the county for recordation within thirty (30) days from the date of adoption of the ordinance.

('74 Code, § 20-16) (Ord. 83-23, passed 4-7-83; Am. Ord. 2007-94, passed 10-18-07; Am. Ord. 2008-17, passed 4-3-08)

(F) ~~§ 179.020~~ *Approval by city engineer emergency and temporary closure.*

(1) ~~(A)~~—Approval by City Engineer: After approval by City Council and before any construction of any street is commenced, written approval of the City Engineer shall be obtained certifying that the city's design standards have been met.

(2) ~~(B)~~—Approval by City Manager: The City Manager may authorize emergency and temporary closures.

(Ord. 2016-30, passed 5-9-16)

~~Section 179.021~~ *Administrative extensions.*

(G) When vacating is subject to compliance with conditions, such conditions must be met within two (2) years of the enactment of the ordinance. Failure to meet the conditions within two (-2) years from the date of approval for the request shall render the ordinance null and void. The applicant may, under good cause request an extension of the time frames through a formal request to the Office of the City Clerk, no less than sixty (-60) days prior to the expiration date.

~~§ 179.021~~ *Effect on utility easements.*

(H) Any action by Council under this chapter shall not in any manner affect utility equipment or services already installed in the affected or proposed street or the right to maintain and operate the equipment and services in the affected or proposed street or portion thereof. The requestor or petitioner shall notify the applicable utility and service companies of the proposed action regarding the street add shall obtain a notarized letter from the appropriate utility and service companies stating such companies have no objection to the proposed action.

('74 Code, § 20-18) (Ord. 83-23, passed 4-7-83)

~~§ 179.022~~ *Fee.*

(I) Every application or petition filed with the city under this chapter, except those developments that follow the subdivision or PUD fee schedule, shall be in writing and accompanied by a filing fee as established by resolution pursuant to § 172.011 ~~§ 169.004~~.

('74 Code, § 20-19) (Ord. 83-23, passed 4-7-83; Am. Ord. 2006-07, passed 2-2-06) ~~Penalty, see § 179.999~~

§ 172.072. ~~§ 184.33~~ **FEES.**

(A) ~~(A)~~—*Preliminary plat fee.* A filing fee as established by resolution pursuant to ~~§ 172.011-169.004~~ shall accompany the submission of the preliminary plat.

(B) ~~(B)~~—*Final plat fee.* A filing fee as established by resolution pursuant to ~~§ 172.011-169.004~~ shall accompany the submission of the final plat.

(C) ~~(C)~~—*Vacating of plat fee.* A filing fee as established by resolution pursuant to ~~§ 172.011-169.004~~ shall accompany the submission of a vacating of plat application.

(Ord. 96-05, passed 2-15-96; Am. Ord. 2003-47, passed 11-20-03; Am. Ord. 2006-09, passed 2-2-06)

§ 172.073. RESERVED

§ 172.074. RESERVED

§ 172.075. RESERVED

§ 172.076. RESERVED

§ 172.077. RESERVED

§ 172.078. RESERVED

§ 172.079. RESERVED

PART 8. CONCURRENCY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

§ 172.080. § 183.20-PURPOSE AND INTENT.

The concurrency evaluation system shall measure the potential impact of any development permit proposal upon the established minimum acceptable level of service for transportation, solid waste, potable water, drainage, sanitary sewer, public schools, or park facility or service. The most current available information and data regarding the operating levels of service of such public facilities or services shall be utilized for concurrency evaluations. Any party pursuing approval of a site plan, subdivision plat, or building permit shall submit a valid concurrency evaluation, approved by the City Manager or designee, along with the application for development permit approval. No final development permit shall be approved unless adequate facilities are available as determined by the concurrency evaluation. A preliminary concurrency evaluation shall be performed on zoning actions.~~The concurrency management system shall implement established minimum acceptable level of service standards for roads, potable water, sanitary sewer, solid waste, drainage and parks. This system is designed to utilize the most current and available data regarding the above public facilities or services to measure the impact of any development permit proposal upon the facilities for which levels of service have been adopted. No final development permit can be issued unless adequate facilities or services are available as determined by the concurrency evaluation.~~

('74 Code, § 18½-71) (Ord. 89-09, passed 4-27-89)

§ 172.081. § 183.21-EVALUATION CRITERIA.

The city shall utilize the following criteria to determine whether levels of service are adequate to support the specific impacts of a proposed development:

(A) ~~(A)~~ *Roadways.*

- (1) ~~(1)~~ ~~(1)~~ Capacity for transportation facilities shall be evaluated using the 2002 Quality/Level of Service Handbook, Florida Department of Transportation.
- (2) ~~(2)~~ Projected impacts on the transportation system shall be determined by utilizing the trip generation standards set forth in the Trip Generation Manual, 7th Edition, Institute of Transportation Engineers, and evaluating their impact at points of ingress and egress to roadways in the city.
- (3) ~~(3)~~ ~~(a)~~ The calculation of total traffic generated by a proposed nonresidential project will assume one hundred percent (100%) buildout and occupancy of the project. Credit against the trip generation rates may be taken utilizing the percentages below:

Percent of Captured Trips from Passing Traffic	
Use	Percentage (%)
Supermarkets	25
Hardware stores	5
Convenience stores	40
Fast food restaurants	35
Restaurants	15
Banks	46
Day care centers	10
Service stations/carwashes	58
Offices	0
Industrial uses	0

- (4) ~~(b)~~ Any capture of trips from passing traffic for uses not specified above or in excess of those percentages must be justified by the applicant.
- (5) ~~(4)~~ Current operating level of service shall be based upon the most recent traffic counts available plus projected traffic counts from previously committed developments.

(B) ~~(B)~~ *Sanitary sewer and potable water.*

- (1) ~~(1)~~ ~~City system.~~ Capacity shall be determined by capacity reservation for the project by the **Public Works**~~Utilities~~ Department of the city.
- ~~(2) General development utilities system. Adequate capacity shall be determined by capacity reservation for the project by general development utilities.~~
- (2) ~~(3)~~ ~~Brevard Consumer Health Services.~~ Issuance of a septic tank permit and approval of potable water well if city utilities are not readily available and connection to city utilities is not required by the Code of Ordinances.

(C) ~~(C)~~ *Solid waste.* County Utilities Department shall certify that capacity exists prior to development approval.

(D) ~~(D)~~—Parks.

(1) ~~(1)~~—Adequacy of public parks shall be based on Palm Bay's level of service standards of ~~five-four~~ (45) acres per one thousand (1,000) population by planning area.

(2) ~~(2)~~—The impact of a proposed development will be determined by utilizing the official household-size multiplier, from the University of Florida, Bureau of Economic and Business Research for Palm Bay, times the number of units projected for a project.

(E) ~~(E)~~—*Drainage*. Certification that a project meets all applicable standards of the stormwater management regulations set forth in Chapter ~~174-177~~ of this code ~~of ordinances~~ shall be made by the city engineering division prior to permit approval.

('74 Code, § 18½-72) (Ord. 88-09, passed 4-27-89; Am. Ord. 2006-128, passed 11-14-06)

§ 172.082. ~~§ 183.22~~ **CONCURRENCY EVALUATION FINDINGS.**

The applicant shall request ~~city shall issue~~ a concurrency evaluation during the PUD Final Development Plan, Site Plan, Final Plat, or building permit process, ~~and t~~his evaluation shall certify either a non-deficiency finding or a deficiency finding:

(A) ~~(A)~~—*Non-deficiency finding*. A finding of non-deficiency by the concurrency evaluation shall remain valid for 180 days ~~provided a building permit has been issued within sixty (60) days of~~ from the issuance of the finding concurrency evaluation. ~~Once a building permit has been issued, the finding shall remain valid until construction has been completed and a certificate of occupancy issued; or for the life of the permit until it is revoked or suspended for failure to proceed in a timely manner as prescribed. If a building permit is not requested within that time, or the approved building permit expires, the non-deficiency finding expires and a new one will need to be requested.~~

(B) ~~(B)~~—*Deficiency finding*. A finding of deficiency by the concurrency evaluation shall negate approval of the ~~building permit~~ application or force deferral of this approval.

('74 Code, § 18½-73) (Ord. 89-09, passed 4-27-89)

§ 172.083. ~~§ 183.23~~ **CUMULATIVE RECORDS OF LEVEL OF SERVICE.**

The concurrency management system shall maintain a cumulative record of the level of service allocations permitted by the approval of building permits relative to the operating levels of service for the referenced public facilities.

('74 Code, § 18½-74) (Ord. 89-09, passed 4-27-89)

§ 172.084. ~~§ 183.24~~ **ADMINISTRATION.**

The ~~Planning Division~~ City Manager or designee shall administer the provisions of this ~~subchapter~~ Part and may develop such administrative rules, forms, applications and fees as may be required to implement the concurrency management system.

('74 Code, § 18½-75) (Ord. 89-09, passed 4-27-89)

§ 172.085. RESERVED

§ 172.086. RESERVED

§ 172.087. RESERVED

§ 172.088. RESERVED

§ 172.089. RESERVED

PART 9. DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENTS

§ 172.090. ~~SECTION 183.40~~ SHORT TITLE, AUTHORITY, APPLICABILITY.

(A) ~~(A)~~ This subchapter is adopted pursuant to ~~Fla. Stat.~~ §163.3220(4), F.S.

(B) ~~(B)~~ The provisions of this subchapter shall apply to all developments within the City that impacts public facilities, such as road, stormwater, utilities, parks, and public safety infrastructure, for which the applicant~~developer~~ shall be required to improve as a result.

§ 172.091. ~~SECTION 183.41~~ PURPOSE AND INTENT.

The purpose and intent of this subchapter is to establish a process whereby the impacts of development on City infrastructure can be mitigated by the cooperative efforts of the public and private sectors.

~~Section 183.42 DEFINITIONS.~~ [MOVED TO DEFINITIONS CHAPTER]

~~For the purpose of this subchapter, the definitions set forth in Section 163.3221, Florida Statutes, as may be amended, shall be applicable to this subchapter.~~

§ 172.092. ~~SECTION 183.43~~ APPLICATION PROCESS.

(A) ~~(A)~~ An applicant~~developer~~ seeking to commence land development activity requiring public improvements shall make application to the City to establish a Development Agreement with the City.

(B) ~~(B)~~ The application can be for the entire ~~developer~~ project or any phase thereof.

(C) ~~(C)~~ The application shall be on a form prescribed by the City and shall be submitted with the required non-refundable application fee.

(D) ~~(D)~~ Once the application is determined to be sufficient, ~~the Growth Management Department~~City staff shall forward the ~~developer's~~ application to the City Attorney who shall draft a development agreement or review the draft development agreement put forth by the ~~developer's~~applicant's attorney, for consideration by City Council.

§ 172.093. ~~SECTION 183.44~~ DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.

(A) ~~(A)~~ The development agreement shall include all required components in accordance with §section 163.3227, ~~Florida Statutes~~F.S.

(B) ~~(B)~~ A development agreement may include:

- (1) ~~(1)~~ Any relocation of public or other utilities that is anticipated and an agreement as to which party shall bear the cost of the relocation.

- (2) ~~(2)~~-An agreement as to the type and amount of surety agreements that will guarantee performance, payment or maintenance, as applicable; provided, that all bonds or letters of credit, for any purpose, shall be on forms acceptable to the city and be issued by an entity acceptable to the city.
- (3) ~~(3)~~-An agreement as to buffers and visual screens for transition between land uses.
- (4) ~~(4)~~-An agreement as to which party shall maintain stormwater drainage systems and open spaces.
- (5) ~~(5)~~-A description of any conditions, terms, restrictions or other requirements or third-party agreements such as agreements with ~~home owner~~homeowner associations or community development districts.
- (6) ~~(6)~~-A statement regarding how the development will be phased including dates when phases may be commenced or completed.
- (C) ~~(C)~~-No development agreement shall be effective until approved by the City Council following two public hearings in accordance with ~~§section-163.3225, Florida Statutes~~F.S.
- (D) ~~(D)~~-In determining whether to approve the development agreement, City Council shall consider the following:
- (1) ~~(1)~~-The findings required to be made pursuant to ~~§Section-163.3225, Florida Statutes~~F.S., as may be amended; and
- (2) ~~(2)~~-Whether the provisions of the development agreement are beneficial to the public health, safety, and general welfare.
- (E) ~~(E)~~-Upon execution of the development agreement by both parties, the City shall record the agreement in accordance with ~~§section-163.3239, Florida Statutes~~F.S.
- (F) ~~(F)~~-Any changes in federal or state law subsequent to the effective date of the development agreement which may affect the rights of either the city or the developer shall be fully applicable as to the development notwithstanding the provisions of the development agreement; provided, however, that such changes in law do not preclude the ability of the parties to the development agreement to comply with the terms of the development agreement.
- (G) ~~(G)~~-The ~~Growth Management Director,~~City Manager or designee, shall periodically review each development agreement in compliance with ~~§Section-163.3225, Florida Statutes~~F.S., as may be amended. The City may inspect the land subject to the development agreement to determine compliance with the terms of the development agreement. The development agreement may be revoked or modified in compliance with ~~§section-163.3235, Florida Statutes~~F.S., as may be amended.
- (H) ~~(H)~~-A request to amend or cancel a development agreement shall be submitted to the City Council for consideration. The request shall contain the following information:
- (1) ~~(1)~~-An explanation of the reason for seeking cancellation or amendment of the development agreement shall be attached to the request as Exhibit A.
- (2) ~~(2)~~-A description of the actual amount of development completed, the size and scope of the resulting plan of development (after cancellation or amendment), and
- (3) ~~(3)~~-A description of development that has occurred on site, including the amount of existing vertical development by land use in gross square feet, dwelling units, or other applicable units of measure; the

amount of infrastructure completed at the site; etc. A copy of the approved site development plan, if applicable, shall be attached to the request as Exhibit B.

(4) ~~(4)~~ An identification of the amount of development that is planned (after cancellation or amendment), including the amount of vertical development by land use in gross square feet, dwelling units, or other applicable units of measure; the amount of infrastructure to be completed at the site; etc. A copy of the site development plan, if applicable, for the development as proposed after cancellation or amendment shall be attached to the request as Exhibit C.